Mitotic Cell Division in Caenorhabditis elegans

Lionel Pintard*,1 and Bruce Bowerman^{1,1}

*Equipe labellisée Ligue contre le Cancer, Institut Jacques Monod, Team Cell Cycle and Development UMR7592, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique – Université Paris Diderot, Sorbonne Paris Cité, 75013 Paris, France, +Institute of Molecular Biology, University of Oregon, Eugene, OR 97403

ORCID IDs: 0000-0003-0286-4630 (L.P.); 0000-0002-6479-8707 (B.B.)

ABSTRACT Mitotic cell divisions increase cell number while faithfully distributing the replicated genome at each division. The *Caenorhabditis elegans* embryo is a powerful model for eukaryotic cell division. Nearly all of the genes that regulate cell division in *C. elegans* are conserved across metazoan species, including humans. The *C. elegans* pathways tend to be streamlined, facilitating dissection of the more redundant human pathways. Here, we summarize the virtues of *C. elegans* as a model system and review our current understanding of centriole duplication, the acquisition of pericentriolar material by centrioles to form centrosomes, the assembly of kinetochores and the mitotic spindle, chromosome segregation, and cytokinesis.

KEYWORDS Cell division; Centrosome; Cytokinesis; Kinetochore; Mitosis; Spindle assembly; WormBook

TABLE OF CONTENTS	
Abstract	35
Centriole Duplication and Centrosome Maturation: Ensuring Fidelity in Bipolar Mitotic Spindle Assembly	37
Centriole disengagement and the initiation of centriole duplication	39
The centriole assembly pathway	39
Centriole assembly: a higher resolution view	42
Limiting centriole duplication by controlling the levels of centriole components	43
PCM assembly dynamics and structure	43
In vitro reconstitution of PCM assembly	45
Kinetochore Assembly, Function, and Regulation	45
Molecular architecture of the C. elegans kinetochore	47
Inner kinetochore proteins: connecting with chromosomal DNA	47
Outer kinetochore proteins: connecting with microtubules	47
From lateral to end-on microtubule attachment: cross-talk between RZZ-Spindly and the Ndc80 complex	49
Microtubule attachments and the SAC	49
The SAC	49
Hierarchy of SAC assembly during checkpoint activation	50
Checkpoint inactivation	51
Kinetochores direct CDC-20 to the mitotic accelerator (APC/C) or brake (SAC)	51
	Continued

Copyright © 2019 by the Genetics Society of America

doi: https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.118.301367

Manuscript received July 16, 2018; accepted for publication October 24, 2018

¹Corresponding authors: Institut Jacques Monod, 15 rue helene Brion, 75013 Paris, France. E-mail: lionel.pintard@ijm.fr; and 1229 University of Oregon, 1318 Franklin Blvd., Room 273 Onyx Bridge, Eugene, OR 97403. E-mail: bowerman@uoregon.edu

CONTENTS, continued

Mitotic Spindle Assembly and Chromosome Segregation	52
Centrosome-based spindle assembly in the early embryo	52
Centrosome-localized factors regulating mitotic spindle assembly	53
Kinetochore proteins and central spindle assembly	54
Chromosome segregation	54
Cytokinesis: The Last Chapter in Cell Division	55
Contractile ring components	55
Contractile ring assembly and dynamics	57
Two mitotic spindle signals influence contractile ring assembly	59
Molecular pathways that mediate furrow signaling from the spindle poles	60
NOP-1: a nematode-specific regulator of cytokinesis contributes to spindle pole signaling	60
Centralspindlin and cytokinesis: the role of the CYK-4 GAP domain	61
Further contributions from the spindle midzone to the regulation of cytokinesis	62
Cell polarity and cytokinesis	63
Abscission: the last chapter in cytokinesis	63
Concluding remarks and perspectives	64

ELL division in the early Caenorhabditis elegans embryo alternates between rapid S phases and mitosis without intervening gap phases, a common feature during early animal embryogenesis; most studies of cell division in C. elegans have focused on the one-cell zygote (Figure 1). During fertilization, the sperm brings not only a haploid genome, but also a pair of centrioles into the oocyte, which lacks centrioles. Subsequently, the two sperm-derived centrioles recruit pericentriolar material (PCM) from the oocyte cytoplasm to form centrosomes that can nucleate microtubules and separate to be positioned on either side of the paternal pronucleus. The oocyte and sperm-derived pronuclei are initially located at opposite ends of the embryo, but then migrate toward each other as chromosomes condense, meeting near the posterior pole. After the pronuclei meet, the nuclear-centrosome complex moves to the center while rotating to align with the embryo's long axis (Figure 1). The nuclear envelope then breaks down as the mitotic spindle assembles, with asymmetric elongation during anaphase contributing to a posterior displacement of the spindle. Thus, when the cleavage furrow bisects the mitotic spindle during cytokinesis, an asymmetric division results (Figure 1).

C. elegans offers compelling advantages for dissecting the molecular mechanisms governing mitotic cell division. It is easy to cultivate, its short life cycle (only 3 days at 25°) makes for fast genetics, and its transparency and the large size ($50 \times 20 \mu$ m) and rapid division ($\sim 20 \min$) of the one-cell stage embryo make it amenable to live (Gönczy *et al.* 1999) and fixed imaging, as well as correlative light microscopy and electron tomography (O'Toole *et al.* 2003; Pelletier *et al.* 2006; Srayko *et al.* 2006; Schlaitz *et al.* 2007; Laband *et al.* 2017; Redemann *et al.* 2017). Moreover, cell divisions in

C. elegans are highly stereotyped, providing a rich context for quantitative analysis.

A powerful molecular genetic toolkit facilitates investigation of cell division in C. elegans. The syncytial germline contains an array of meiotic nuclei that are transcriptionally active and produce the gene products that are loaded into oocytes, and RNA interference (RNAi) efficiently and selectively depletes them. One can then quantitatively monitor defects in the stereotyped sequence of events that normally occur during the first cell division (Fraser et al. 2000; Gönczy et al. 2000; Piano et al. 2000; Kamath et al. 2001; Maeda et al. 2001; Kamath et al. 2003; Gunsalus et al. 2005; Sönnichsen et al. 2005; Green et al. 2011). Genome-wide RNAi screens have shown that \sim 2500 protein-coding genes, out of the \sim 20,000 that comprise the *C. elegans* genome, are essential for embryo production or viability (Kamath et al. 2003; Sönnichsen et al. 2005). Phenotypic profiling by videomicroscopy has identified ~600 genes essential for early embryonic cell divisions (Sönnichsen et al. 2005). Importantly, temperature-sensitive (TS) alleles isolated by forward genetic screens (O'Connell et al. 1998; Encalada et al. 2000; O'Rourke et al. 2011) have been found for \sim 200 of these essential cell division genes. With TS alleles, gene requirements can be assessed at temperatures that only partially compromise gene function. Furthermore, many TS alleles are fast-acting, such that gene products can be inactivated within a few minutes to define multiple requirements and TS periods (Severson et al. 2000; O'Rourke et al. 2011; Davies et al. 2014; Davies et al. 2017). Yeast two-hybrid screens have identified interactome networks that facilitate the identification and analysis of genetic pathways (Li et al. 2004; Boxem et al. 2008), and the application of auxin to rapidly degrade





Figure 1 Mitotic cell division in the early C. elegans embryo. (A) Differential interference contrast (DIC) image of an adult worm. The positions of the two most mature oocytes relative to the spermatheca are indicated by white arrows and labeled -1 and -2; embryos within the uterus are also indicated. Bar, 100 μ m. (B) Live image of embryos in the uterus of an adult worm expressing GFP-tagged β-tubulin (green) and mCherrytagged H2B (red) to visualize oocyte meiotic and embryonic mitotic spindles. (C) Frames from in vivo live imaging of mitotic embryos expressing GFP-tagged β-tubulin (green) and mCherry-tagged H2B (red), or (D) GFP::NPP19 (green) and mCherry::H2B (red), to mark microtubules, chromosomes, and the nuclear envelope, respectively. In these and other figures, anterior (A) is to the left and posterior (P) is to the right. Bar, 10 µm. (E) Accompanying schematics (microtubules in green, paternal and maternal chromosomes in blue and pink, respectively). Time in minutes relative to Nuclear Envelope Breakdown NEBD at time = 0.

degron-tagged proteins in transgenic animals has expanded conditional loss-of-function approaches (Zhang *et al.* 2015). Finally, genome editing approaches including MosSCI (Frøkjaer-Jensen *et al.* 2008) and CRISPR/Cas9 (Dickinson and Goldstein 2016; Paix *et al.* 2016), in conjunction with RNAi- or degron-mediated depletion of endogenous wild-type gene products, have enabled powerful gene replacement strategies that facilitate functional probing of specific domains and residues within evolutionarily conserved proteins. All of this information about genome sequence, gene structure and function, RNAi phenotypes, the availability of TS alleles, and more are available at the WormBase database (www.wormbase.org) (R. Y. N. Lee *et al.* 2018).

Some cell division traits in *C. elegans* are unusual compared to other model systems. In particular, *C. elegans* has holocentric chromosomes. Rather than being restricted to a limited region of the chromosome (the centromere), the kinetochores that mediate attachment to spindle microtubules run along the entire length of each sister chromatid (Dernburg 2001; Melters *et al.* 2012). Other distinctive properties include relatively small and simple centrioles that nucleate the microtubule-organizing centers called centrosomes, incomplete nuclear envelope breakdown during mitosis, and a nearly exclusive reliance on centrosome-mediated nucleation of microtubules during mitotic spindle assembly. Nevertheless, work in *C. elegans* continues to inform our general understanding of animal cell division.

Centriole Duplication and Centrosome Maturation: Ensuring Fidelity in Bipolar Mitotic Spindle Assembly

Mitotic spindle assembly requires a collaboration between two spindle poles and the chromosomes that are ultimately segregated into daughter cells. The spindle poles are organized by two centrosomes, microtubule-organizing centers that each have a pair of orthogonally oriented centrioles at their core (Figure 2). Centrioles direct the assembly of an attached matrix of PCM that nucleates and anchors microtubules. Across species, centrioles are cylindrical structures roughly 100–400 nm long and 100–250 nm wide (Figure 2A). Their distinguishing feature is a ninefold symmetric



Figure 2 Centriole architecture. (A) Schematic illustration of C. elegans and human centriole architecture. (B) Spatial localization of PCM components. For C. elegans, results from immunogold electron microscopy staining data are shown. Most of the SPD-2 signal accumulated within a 200 nm diameter range (Pelletier et al. 2004). Human data are based on 3D-SIM images (Sonnen et al. 2012). SPD-2 and its human homolog Cep192 localize at the interface between centriole and PCM, and SPD-2 is potentially a component of the paddlewheel in C. elegans (loss of SPD-2 from centriole in sas-7 mutants coincides with the loss of paddlewheel structure). Modified from Sugioka et al. (2017). (C) Cross-section and lateral view of wild-type and sas-7 mutant centrioles. Overlay indicates an interpretation of structures. Arrows indicate wild-type and defective sas-7 mutant paddlewheel structures. Bars, 50 nm. Modified from Sugioka et al. (2017). (D) Schematics showing the steps in the assembly and maturation of the daughter centriole along with the factors required for each step. Assembly of the daughter centriole begins when a cartwheel (red) forms at a right angle to the mother centriole. In the second step, an inner tube forms and subsequently mediates the peripheral assembly of nine symmetrically arranged microtubules (light blue) forms around the cartwheel. Assembly of the paddlewheel and acquisition of the ability to duplicate again (centriole maturation: daughter to mother centriole transition) requires SAS-7. (E) Early steps of cartwheel assembly with the ninefold symmetry dictated by the structure of SAS-6. SAS-6 contains an N-terminal globular

domain, a long coiled-coil, and an unstructured C-terminal region. *C. elegans* SAS-6 alone forms an antiparallel tetramer, whereas binding of SAS-5 (green) disrupts the tetrameric association of SAS-6. The N-terminal globular domains of SAS-6 form the hub of the cartwheel with the coiled-coil dimerized spokes projecting outward.

array of stabilized microtubules. Depending on the species and tissue, the microtubule blades that make up the centriole outer wall can contain singlet, doublet, or triplet microtubules [reviewed in Carvalho-Santos *et al.* (2011), Bornens (2012), Gönczy (2012), Fırat-Karalar and Stearns (2014), Conduit *et al.* (2015), Fu *et al.* (2015)]. During interphase, centrioles are surrounded by a thin highly ordered layer of PCM. Upon entry to mitosis, centrosomes undergo a mitotic maturation that prepares them for spindle assembly. During this process, the amount of PCM and its microtubule nucleation capacity increases 5- to 10-fold. In addition to being larger, the mitotic PCM matrix also appears less organized than its interphase counterpart [reviewed in Mennella *et al.* (2014), Woodruff *et al.* (2014)].

C. elegans centrioles are relatively small and simple compared to those in other model systems, being roughly 200 nm long and 100 nm wide (Figure 2A). Rather than doublets or triplets, centrioles in the C. elegans embryo have singlet microtubules and lack the appendages that decorate the distal ends of mature mother centrioles in vertebrate cells. C. elegans centrioles are similar in size and structure to those in the early Drosophila embryo (Moritz et al. 1995), which has a similarly short cell-cycle time, and to the early intermediates observed during centriole assembly in mammalian cultured cells (Vorobjev and Nadezhdina 1987), suggesting that they represent a minimal form of the centriole that can assemble quickly to provide centrosome function in a rapidly developing embryo. Nevertheless, centrioles in later-stage embryos appear to be even smaller, roughly 100 nm in both length and width (Feldman and Priess 2012).

Centriole disengagement and the initiation of centriole duplication

Centriole duplication begins after the two centrioles at each spindle pole disengage during anaphase, a step that licenses their subsequent duplication (Fırat-Karalar and Stearns 2014; Lu and Roy 2014). Intriguingly, chromatin factors required for the cohesion of duplicated chromosomes during meiosis and mitosis also regulate centriole disengagement, although their requirements vary among species and at different developmental times. In C. elegans, these cohesion factor requirements are most apparent during spermatogenesis, when the two centrioles at each spindle pole remain associated throughout sperm maturation after the completion of meiosis II (Schvarzstein et al. 2013). Before disengagement, HORMA domain proteins that initially form axial elements to promote homologous chromosome pairing and cohesion, and the meiosis-specific cohesin REC-8, prevent centriole disengagement, until cell-cycle regulation leads to activation of the cysteine protease SEP-1/separase, cleavage of REC-8, and centriole disengagement. Loss of the HORMA domain proteins or REC-8 leads to premature disengagement and overduplication during spermatogenesis (Schvarzstein et al. 2013).

After fertilization of the oocyte and the completion of meiosis I and II, the two centrioles contributed by the sperm normally disengage and separate, and then each assembles a daughter centriole. Analysis of separase-depleted embryos revealed that the centrioles disengage but fail to separate further or duplicate. The defects in centriole separation and duplication resulting from lack of separase could both be rescued by perturbations that enhance PCM or microtubule assembly (Cabral et al. 2013). These results suggest that at the meiosis-to-mitosis transition physical proximity of centrioles, rather than engagement per se, is sufficient to suppress duplication; that separase promotes separation of the sperm centrioles, rather than their disengagement; and that enhanced microtubule-dependent forces acting on centrosomes can substitute for the role of separase in promoting centriole separation.

In contrast to their critical role in controlling centriole cohesion and separation during the meiosis to mitosis transition, cohesion and separase do not seem to control centriole dynamics during subsequent mitotic divisions. However, premature disruption of the PCM in these later divisions, by upshifting a fast-acting TS allele of the PCM component SPD-5, resulted in premature centriole separation and overduplication (Cabral *et al.* 2013), suggesting that the mother and daughter centrioles may be held together by the PCM matrix that forms around the mother. Disassembly of this matrix would then release the daughter and allow the two centrioles to separate and duplicate.

The centriole assembly pathway

After disengagement, a daughter centriole grows out from a single spot near the proximal end of each mother centriole, initially forming an electron-dense central tube that subsequently becomes decorated with a ninefold symmetric array of singlet microtubules (the outer centriole wall) (Pelletier *et al.* 2006) (Figure 2C). The core components required for centriole assembly were discovered in *C. elegans* and are widely conserved. Indeed, identification of the centriole assembly pathway is a premier *C. elegans* contribution to our understanding of fundamental biological processes.

Six C. elegans centriole assembly genes have been identified through chemical mutagenesis and genome-wide RNAi knockdown screens: sas-4, -5, -6, and -7, spd-2, and zyg-1 (sas for spindle assembly abnormal, spd for spindle defective, and zyg for zygote-defective; Figure 2D) (O'Connell et al. 2001; Kirkham et al. 2003; Leidel and Gönczy 2003; Dammermann et al. 2004; Delattre et al. 2004; Kemp et al. 2004; Pelletier et al. 2004; Leidel et al. 2005; Sugioka et al. 2017). Four of these genes encode the conserved coiled-coil proteins SAS-4/ CPAP, SAS-5/STIL, SAS-6/SAS6, and SPD-2/Cep192, while zyg-1 encodes the C. elegans ortholog of mammalian Plk4 (Table 1). When any one of these genes is reduced in function in the oocyte, the sperm still brings a pair of centrioles into the egg during fertilization to support mitotic spindle assembly. However, the mutant oocyte cytoplasm fails to support duplication of the sperm-derived centrioles, and the two daughters each inherit a single centriole and form monopolar spindles (Figure 3A). Thus, inhibition of the four genes that are specifically required for centrille assembly (zyg-1, sas-4, sas-5, and sas-6) leads to a signature phenotype in which the first division is normal and monopolar spindles are observed in both daughters at the second division (O'Connell et al. 2001; Kirkham et al. 2003; Leidel and Gönczy 2003; Delattre et al. 2004; Dammermann et al. 2004). In contrast, SPD-2 is a bifunctional protein required for centriole duplication and PCM assembly, and its inhibition results in a more severe defect in which centrosome formation and spindle assembly are compromised during the first division, in addition to a failure in centriole duplication (Kemp et al. 2004; Pelletier et al. 2004). SAS-7 is uniquely required for daughter centrioles to acquire the ability to reproduce (Sugioka et al. 2017). Thus, in sas-7 mutant oocytes fertilized by wild-type

Table 1 Centrosomes and spindle assembly proteins

C. elegans protein	C. elegans gene	Vertebrate ortholog	Brief description of localization and function	TS alleles (* indicates fast acting)
REC-8	rec-8(W02A2.6)	Rec8	Meiosis specific cohesin: prevents centriole	
			disengagement during spermatogenesis	
SEP-1/Separase	sep-1(Y47G6A.12)	Separase	Cysteine protease: cleaves REC-8 and promotes centriole separation after fertilization	
SAS-1	sas-1(Y111B2A.24)	C2CD3, RPH3A, DOC2A	Centriole protein required for centriole stability	
SAS-4	sas-4(F10E9.8)	CPAP	Centriole protein required for centriole assembly	
SAS-5	sas-5(F35B12.5)	Not identified	Centriole protein required for centriole assembly	
SAS-6	sas-6(Y45F10D.9)	SAS-6	Centriole protein required for centriole assembly	or1167
SAS-7	sas-7(T07C4.10)	Not identified	Centriole protein required for centriole assembly	or452
ZYG-1	<i>zyg-1</i> (F59E12.2)	Polo-like kinase 4 (Plk4)	Centriole protein required for centriole assembly	it25, or278, or297*, or409*, or1018
SPD-2	<i>spd-2</i> (F32H2.3)	Cep192	Bifunctional protein required for new centriole formation and for the assembly of the PCM	or655, or493, or454, or183, or188, or293*, or1089
SPD-5	spd-5(F56A3.4)	Not identified	PCM component required for PCM assembly	or213*
PLK-1	<i>plk-1</i> (C14B9.4)	Polo-like kinase 1 (Plk1)	Localizes to the centrosomes regulates PCM assembly; binds SPD-2	or683
AIR-1	<i>air-1</i> (K07C11.2)	Aurora A kinase	PCM component required for PCM assembly	
TBG-1	tbg-1(F58A4.8)	γ-tubulin	Provides caps and anchors microtubule ends	
TBA-1	tba-1(F26E4.8)	α-tubulin	<i>tba-1</i> encodes one of the nine <i>C. elegans</i> α-tubulins; acts redundantly with TBA-2 in the early embryo	or346, or594*
TBB-2	tbb-2(C36E8.5)	β-tubulin	<i>tbb-2</i> encodes a <i>C. elegans</i> β-tubulin; acts redundantly with TBB-1 in the early embryo	or600
ZYG-9	<i>zyg-9</i> (F22B5.7)	XMAP-215	PCM component	or634, or628, or593, or635, or623*
TAC-1	tac-1(Y54E2A.3)	TACC-1, 2, 3	PCM component	or369, or402, or455
SZY-2	<i>szy-2</i> (Y32H12A.4)	Phosphatase 1 inhibitor 2 - I2	Localizes to centrosomes; negatively regulates centrosome size	
SZY-20	<i>szy-20</i> (C18E9.3)	Not identified	Localizes to centrosomes; negatively regulates centrosome size	
SDS-22	sds-22(T09A5.9)	PPP1R7	Localizes to centrosomes; negatively regulates centrosome size	
GSP-1	gsp-1(F29F11.6)	PPP1CB (protein phosphatase 1 catalytic subunit β)	Downregulates ZYG-1 levels	
GSP-2	gsp-2(F56C9.1)	PPP1CA (protein phosphatase 1 catalytic subunit α)	Downregulates ZYG-1 levels	
FZR-1	<i>fzr-1</i> (ZK1307.6)	Cdh1	Substrate recognition subunit of the APC/C E3- ligase	
LIN-23	<i>lin-23</i> (K10B2.1)	βTrcp	F-box protein: substrate recognition subunit of Cullin 1-RING E3-ligases (CRL1)	
SEL-10	sel-10(F55B12.3)	Fbw7	F-box protein: substrate recognition subunit of Cullin 1-RING E3-ligases (CRL1)	
CYE-1	<i>cye-1</i> (C37A2.4)	Cyclin E	Promotes PCM assembly during embryo polarization	
CDK-2	<i>cdk-2</i> (K03E5.3)	Cdk2	Promotes PCM assembly during embryo polarization	
KLP-7	<i>klp-7</i> (K11D9.1)	МСАК	Kinesin-13 microtubule depolymerase; localizes to the kinetochores, the centrosomes.	or1092, or1292
TPXL-1	<i>tpxl-1</i> (Y39G10AR.12)	TPX2	Targets Aurora A to microtubules, activates Aurora A; colocalizes with Aurora A at the centrosomes	
RSA-1	rsa-1(C25A1.9)	Protein phosphatase 2A	Localization to centrosomes, required for PP2A	or598*
LET-92	<i>let-92</i> (F38H4.9)	Protein phosphatase 2A catalytic subunit	Localizes to centrosomes	
PAA-1	<i>paa-1</i> (F48E8.5)	Protein phosphatase 2A structural subunit	Localizes to centrosomes	
RSA-2	rsa-2(Y48A6B.11)	Not identified	Localizes to centrosomes; binds SPD-5 and RSA-1, targets PP2A to centrosomes	



Figure 3 Pathways regulating *C. elegans* centriole duplication and assembly. (A) Phenotypes observed when a sperm cell containing a wild-type pair of centrioles fertilizes a wild-type oocyte (left column) or an oocyte lacking a component essential for daughter centriole formation (*e.g., zyg-1* or *sas-4* mutants; right column). Defects in centriole duplication lead to the assembly of monopolar spindles during mitosis in two-cell stage embryos. (B) Different inputs involving E3-ligases, the cullin 1-RING E3-ligases CRL1^{LIN-23} and CRL1^{SEL-10}, and the APC/C^{FZR-1} that regulate ZYG-1 and SAS-5 protein levels to limit centriole duplication. Red blunt arrows represent negative regulation. SZY-20 also inhibits the pathway controlling centriole duplication (blue oval), but the underlying mechanism is not known.

sperm, new daughter centrioles can recruit mitotic PCM and assemble bipolar spindles during the first and second mitotic divisions. However, the new daughter centrioles cannot reproduce, resulting in cells with monopolar spindles during the third cell division.

Investigation of these six genes has identified a conserved centriole assembly pathway (Figure 2D) (Hodges *et al.* 2010; Carvalho-Santos *et al.* 2011). The order in which they act has been determined by taking advantage of the initial contribution of centrioles to the one-cell stage zygote by the sperm, with oocytes lacking centrioles due to their earlier elimination during oogenesis (Albertson and Thomson 1993; Mikeladze-Dvali *et al.* 2012). Maternally expressed centriolar

proteins present in the oocyte are required to assemble the new daughter centrioles adjacent to each of the sperm-provided parent centrioles. A sequence of centriolar protein assembly has been established using immunofluorescence in fixed embryos to detect native sperm-donated centriolar proteins and maternal centriolar proteins, marked by translational fusions to green fluorescent protein (GFP) (Dammer mann *et al.* 2004; Delattre *et al.* 2006; Pelletier *et al.* 2006).

In brief, such studies have shown that SPD-2 is recruited to the sperm centrioles early in meiosis I and is the centriolar receptor for ZYG-1/Plk4, the master regulatory kinase that controls centriole assembly (Delattre *et al.* 2006; Pelletier *et al.* 2006). ZYG-1/Plk4 is in turn required for the recruitment of SAS-5 and SAS-6, which, together with ZYG-1/Plk4, direct formation of the first intermediate in centriole assembly, called the central tube or cartwheel (Figure 2E) (Dammermann *et al.* 2004; Delattre *et al.* 2004; Leidel *et al.* 2005; Delattre *et al.* 2006; Pelletier *et al.* 2006)

Downstream of cartwheel assembly, SAS-4 controls formation of the microtubule-containing centriole outer wall (Figure 2D) (Kirkham et al. 2003; Leidel and Gönczy 2003; Pelletier et al. 2006). Live imaging of SAS-4 recruitment following fertilization indicates that it is recruited to daughter centrioles at the same time as SAS-6. Based on recovery after photobleaching, centriolar SAS-4 initially exists in a form that can rapidly exchange with SAS-4 in the cytoplasm, and subsequently converts to a more stable form that does not undergo rapid exchange. The conversion of SAS-4 to a stably associated form requires γ -tubulin and microtubule assembly (Dammermann et al. 2008). These results suggest that SAS-4 is stably incorporated into the centriole outer wall as the centriolar microtubules are formed. After assembly of the microtubule-containing outer wall, the coiled-coil protein SAS-7 directs assembly of an additional ninefold symmetric structure, termed the paddlewheel, that runs along the length of the centriolar microtubules (Figure 2D) (Sugioka et al. 2017). The paddlewheel forms concurrent with centriole maturation, the acquisition by the daughter centriole of the ability to reproduce, and SAS-7 is the first C. elegans protein known to be required for centriole maturation. Consistent with a role in maturation, SAS-7 binds to SPD-2 in yeast two-hybrid assays (Boxem et al. 2008; Sugioka et al. 2017), localizes to daughter centrioles independently of SPD-2, and is at least partially required for SPD-2 to localize to centrioles (Sugioka et al. 2017). Thus, in addition to being required for addition of the paddlewheel to the outer wall that completes formation of the daughter centriole, SAS-7 is also the earliest acting protein in centriole assembly through its role in recruiting SPD-2. SAS-7 shows some weak homology to the centriole-localized Chibby family of proteins, but thus far these potential homologs have not been found to have roles in centriole duplication.

Finally, SAS-1 (a C2 domain protein that binds to and stabilizes microtubules *in vitro*) is a centriole-localized protein that appears to promote normal centriole structure and stability, but may not be required for centriole duplication

(Table 1) (von Tobel *et al.* 2014). Centriole proteins themselves in *C. elegans* are remarkably stable: when introduced by fertilization into wild-type hermaphrodites expressing unmarked centriolar proteins, GFP fusions to some sperm centriole proteins persist throughout embryogenesis (Balestra *et al.* 2015).

Centriole assembly: a higher resolution view

From a structural perspective, the best-understood centriole component is SAS-6 [reviewed in Gönczy (2012), Hirono (2014), Dong (2015)]. This widely conserved protein includes an unstructured C-terminal region, a long central coiled-coil domain that mediates homodimerization, and a globular N-terminal domain (Figure 2E). Interactions between the globular head domains of SAS-6 dimers oligomerizes them to form a remarkable ring-shaped structure called the cartwheel, with ninefold radial symmetry that beautifully explains the ninefold symmetric organization of the microtubules that assemble along the length of each centriole (Figure 2E) (Kitagawa et al. 2011b; van Breugel et al. 2011). The N-terminal globular domains form the hub of this cartwheel, with the coiled-coil dimerized spokes projecting outward (Figure 2E). In other organisms, the SAS-6 cartwheels appear to be stacked upon each other with aligned spokes, forming an electron-dense central tube and spoke structure visible in electron micrographs (Figure 2). In C. elegans, it has been suggested that SAS-6 may instead form a spiral in which the spokes are not fully aligned (Hilbert et al. 2013), which could explain the lack of prominent electron-dense spokes in electron micrographs (Figure 2) (Pelletier et al. 2006; Sugioka et al. 2017). How the termini of the coiled-coil spokes promote centriole microtubule assembly is not known, but the process requires SAS-4 (Pelletier et al. 2006), which resides at the centrille perimeter near the spoke termini (Kirkham et al. 2003).

Mechanisms that promote assembly of the SAS-6containing cartwheel have begun to emerge. Across species, ZYG-1/Plk4 forms a homodimer through the antiparallel association of its cryptic polo box domain (Park et al. 2014; Shimanovskaya et al. 2014). Dimerization of the cryptic polo box domain of ZYG-1/Plk4 generates a basic patch that interacts with an acidic region at the N-terminus of SPD-2, to recruit Plk4/ZYG-1 to the mother centriole (Shimanovskaya et al. 2014). The recruitment of SAS-6 to the assembly site on the mother centriole requires ZYG-1 and SAS-5, which interact with adjacent regions on the SAS-6 coiled-coil (Qiao et al. 2012; Lettman et al. 2013). The kinase activity of ZYG-1/Plk4 is not required to recruit SAS-6 to the vicinity of the mother centriole, but is required for its subsequent oligomerization to form the cartwheel (Lettman et al. 2013). The critical function of the kinase activity of ZYG-1/Plk4 in promoting SAS-6 oligomerization is not known, although the phosphorylated target is unlikely to be SAS-6 (Kitagawa et al. 2009; Lettman et al. 2013). SAS-5 forms homo-oligomers through two distinct domains, and mutations that disrupt oligomerization prevent centriole duplication (Qiao et al. 2012; Rogala

et al. 2015), although the function of SAS-5 oligomerization in centriole assembly remains unclear.

The PCM also has a role in centriole assembly. While not absolutely required for centriole duplication, RNAi knockdown of the coiled-coil PCM scaffolding protein SPD-5 prevents centriole duplication in roughly half of the mutant embryos based on both light microscopy (Dammermann et al. 2008) and electron tomography studies (O'Toole et al. 2012). This requirement reflects a role for the SPD-5 dependent accumulation of PCM-associated y-tubulin in centriole duplication, as y-tubulin knockdown also partially compromises centriole duplication but does not affect SPD-5 accumulation. As noted earlier, at least one role for γ -tubulin appears to involve conversion of the initially exchangeable centriolar SAS-4 into a form that cannot rapidly exchange with cytoplasmic pools, likely by promoting assembly of the microtubules that make up the outer centriole wall (Dammermann et al. 2008).

Further evidence for a link between PCM assembly and centriole duplication has come from the identification of SZY-20, a conserved protein with RNA binding domains that negatively regulates centrosome maturation (Song et al. 2008). The szy-20 gene was identified in a mutagenesis screen for suppressors of a conditional zyg-1 allele (Kemp et al. 2007), and reducing SZY-20 function can restore centriole duplication in both zyg-1 and spd-2 mutants. Normally, SZY-20 limits the accumulation of ZYG-1, SPD-2, and other PCM components to centrosomes, and loss of SZY-20 results in abnormally large centrosomes and ensuing defects in spindle position and function that can be suppressed by reducing ZYG-1 levels. Thus, reducing SZY-20 function might restore centriole duplication in zyg-1 and spd-2 mutants by increasing the accumulation of partially functional ZYG-1 and SPD-2 mutant proteins, or alternatively by increasing the PCM levels of γ -tubulin (Dammermann et al. 2004; Song et al. 2008).

In addition to limiting centriole assembly such that each mother produces only a single daughter, centriole length also is tightly controlled to produce a structure that is about 200 nanometers long. How centriole length is determined remains poorly understood, but some of the genes required for centriole duplication also are required for daughter centrioles to achieve their normal length. Intriguingly, the coiled-coil protein SAS-7, which acts at both the earliest and last steps in centriole duplication, is required for daughter centrioles to grow to their full length (Sugioka et al. 2017). Partial depletion of SAS-4 leads to the assembly of centrioles with less microtubule-containing outer wall that recruit PCM in proportion to the amount of SAS-4 that they contain (Kirkham et al. 2003). Partial depletion of ZYG-1 or SAS-5, which control assembly of the cartwheel, can also lead to the production of short centrioles (Delattre et al. 2004). Knockdown of the PCM components SPD-5 or γ -tubulin, which both result in a partially penetrant failure in centriole duplication, also result in the production of daughter centrioles with abnormally low levels of SAS-4 incorporation (Dammermann et al. 2004). Together these results suggest that the amount of SAS-4–containing outer wall that forms may depend on the size of the cartwheel and its ability to nucleate outer wall microtubules.

Intriguingly, electron tomography has shown that in the absence of either γ -tubulin or SPD-5, both of which result in the production of daughter centrioles with abnormally low levels of SAS-4 (Dammermann *et al.* 2004), centriolar micro-tubules often extend well beyond the ends of both the mother and daughter central tubes (O'Toole *et al.* 2012). It is surprising that lower levels of SAS-4, which is required for centriolar microtubule assembly, and of γ -tubulin, which can nucleate microtubule assembly, result in abnormally long centriolar microtubules. However, it is possible that reducing the number of PCM-associated microtubule polymers might increase local tubulin levels and thereby promote centriolar microtubule growth. Alternatively, PCM disruption in these mutants might interfere with factors that normally limit centriolar microtubule length.

Limiting centriole duplication by controlling the levels of centriole components

How does a mother produce only a single daughter? Studies in multiple systems indicate that tight regulation of Plk4 levels is critical (Nigg and Stearns 2011). Indeed, Plk4 is a suicide kinase regulated by autophosphorylation on an internal phosphodegron; disruption of the phophodegron increases Plk4 levels and produces centriolar rosettes with multiple daughters per mother centriole (Guderian *et al.* 2010; Holland *et al.* 2010; Cunha-Ferreira *et al.* 2013; Klebba *et al.* 2013). Furthermore, superresolution microscopy has shown that Plk4 initially forms a ring around one end of the mother centriole that subsequently resolves into a single spot to establish the site of daughter centriole assembly (Mennella *et al.* 2014). Presumably, tight regulation of Plk4 levels is important for resolving its localization to a single spot.

While genetic studies in C. elegans have focused on positive regulation of centriole duplication, a screen for suppressors of a TS zyg-1 mutant (Kemp et al. 2007) has identified negative regulators of centriole duplication that provide insight into how ZYG-1/Plk4 levels are regulated (Figure 3B). Two suppressors of TS zyg-1 embryonic lethality and centriole duplication, szy-2/I-2 and sds-22, reduce the function of the protein phosphatase PP1 (Peel et al. 2017). Reducing PP1 function, or its positive regulators SZY-2/I-2 and SDS-22, increases early embryo ZYG-1 levels and results in the production of extra centrioles, and ZYG-1 overexpression in larval neuroectodermal stem cell lineages also results in centriole amplification (Wolf et al. 2018). Live-cell and superresolution imaging suggest that the extra centrioles in early embryos result from the simultaneous assembly of two or more daughters from one mother centriole (Peel et al. 2017). Thus, increased ZYG-1 levels may interfere with resolution of the ZYG-1/Plk4 ring into a single focus to produce only one daughter centriole, although whether ZYG-1 initially forms a ring at one end of the mother centriole has yet to be determined.

Additional inputs serve to further limit ZYG-1 levels during centriole duplication (Figure 3B). In addition to PP1 negatively regulating ZYG-1 levels, ubiquitin-dependent proteasome degradation, mediated by the Cullin 1 family member CUL-1 as an E3 ligase scaffold and two F-box substrate adaptor proteins LIN-23/ β Trcp and SEL-10/Fbw7/ Cdc4, also negatively regulates ZYG-1 levels, although loss of this regulation has not been shown to result in centriole overduplication (Peel *et al.* 2012). More recently, Casein kinase II also has been shown to negatively regulate ZYG-1 levels (Medley *et al.* 2017b). While it remains unclear how these different negative regulators cooperate, precise regulation of ZYG-1 levels appears to be critical for limiting centriole duplication to produce a single daughter.

Other factors also influence centriole assembly by regulating the levels of centriole components. The phosphatase PP2A influences the SAS-5-SAS-6 complex by inhibiting both ZYG-1 and SAS-5 degradation (Kitagawa et al. 2011a; Song et al. 2011), while the transcriptional regulator E2F/DP1 negatively regulates SAS-6 expression and positively regulates ZYG-1 and other centriole duplication factors. Reducing E2F/DP1 can rescue reduced ZYG-1 function through the resulting increased SAS-6 levels (Miller et al. 2016). Finally, negative regulation of SAS-5 levels also is important for the control of centriole duplication. The same screen that led to the identification of a role for PP1 in limiting ZYG-1 levels also recovered two loss-of-function alleles of the FZR-1/Cdh1 subunit of the anaphase promoting complex/cyclosome (APC/C) E3 ligase as suppressors of a TS zyg-1 centriole duplication defect (Medley et al. 2017a). Further investigation showed that FZR-1/Cdh1 and other APC/C subunits are required to limit SAS-5 levels (Figure 3B). The higher SAS-5 levels are at least partially responsible for restoring centriole duplication in the zyg-1 mutant background, although reducing APC/C function was not found to result in overduplication.

PCM assembly dynamics and structure

Centrioles recruit PCM to form centrosomes that can nucleate and anchor microtubules (Figure 4). Studies of PCM assembly in C. elegans first identified two coiled-coil proteins required for this process, SPD-2/Cep192 and SPD-5 (O'Connell et al. 2000; Hamill et al. 2002; Kemp et al. 2004). PCM assembly occurs in three different phases. First, after they enter the embryo, the sperm-donated centrioles acquire a shell of PCM as the maternal pronucleus completes its meiotic divisions (meiotic PCM assembly). The PCM component SPD-2 is detected in association with centrioles in mature sperm, but is not detectable shortly after fertilization following RNAi knockdown of maternal SPD-2, suggesting that this pool of SPD-2 is not stably associated (Pelletier et al. 2004). A more recent study indicates that SPD-2 is present both at the centrioles and in a shell that surrounds the sperm DNA and centrioles after fertilization (McNally et al. 2012). While SPD-5 has not been detected postfertilization at the sperm pronucleus-associated centrosome until after SPD-2



is detectable (Pelletier *et al.* 2004), and γ -tubulin is detectable soon after fertilization (Hannak *et al.* 2001), the order of appearance of these different PCM components and their limits of detection using available reagents remain unclear.

The amount of PCM surrounding the centrioles subsequently increases coincident with the onset of polarity establishment via a process that depends on Cyclin E/CYE-1 and its partner CDK-2 (Cowan and Hyman 2006). We refer to this process as interphase PCM assembly, to distinguish it from the mitotic maturation of the PCM described below. Interphase PCM assembly is required for the proper temporal specification of the anterior-posterior axis of zygote polarity, which depends on signal(s) from the maturing centrosome (O'Connell et al. 2000; Wallenfang and Seydoux 2000; Cowan and Hyman 2006). In the absence of Cyclin E/CDK-2, PCM assembly is delayed but ultimately recovers and reaches wild-type levels during mitosis (Cowan and Hyman 2006). Assembly of the interphase PCM also has recently been shown to require SAS-7, which interacts with SPD-2 and is required for assembly of the paddlewheel that runs along the length of centriolar microtubules (Sugioka et al. 2017), raising the possibility that interphase PCM assembly involves recruitment of SPD-2 to the paddlewheel.

As the embryo enters mitosis, the amount of PCM surrounding the centrioles dramatically increases. During the first cell division in the *C. elegans* embryo, both the volume of the centrosome and the amount of γ -tubulin increase 5- to 10-fold during this mitotic PCM assembly process (Hannak *et al.* 2001; Decker *et al.* 2011). The amount of PCM that the centrosomes acquire during mitotic maturation depends on the size of the cell and presumably the amount of maternally loaded centrosome components that it contains. This proportionality is thought to contribute to the scaling process that reduces the size of the spindles as cell size decreases during development (Greenan *et al.* 2010; Decker *et al.* 2011). InFigure 4 Centrosomes and mitotic spindle assembly in the one-cell C. elegans embryo. (A) Frames from in vivo live imaging of mitotic embryos expressing GFP-tagged β-tubulin (green) and mCherry-tagged H2B (magenta) to mark microtubules and chromosomes, respectively, from nuclear envelope breakdown to anaphase. (B) Schematic of the C. elegans centrosome containing a pair of centrioles surrounded by pericentriolar material (green) and microtubules anchored at their minus ends. (C) Schematic of the mitotic spindle in the one-cell C. elegans embryo. (D) Centrosome localized factors regulating centriole duplication (yellow) and PCM assembly (green).

terestingly, SAS-7 is required for the recruitment of interphase PCM and polarity establishment but may not be required for assembly of the mitotic PCM, suggesting that these two processes are distinct (Sugioka *et al.* 2017). However, complete loss of *sas-7* results in adult sterility due to failed germline proliferation, and the reduction of SAS-7 function in mutant zygotes is likely incomplete. Thus it remains possible that a complete loss of SAS-7 might result in more severe mitotic PCM assembly defects.

SPD-2 and SPD-5 are required for all PCM assembly in the embryo including mitotic PCM maturation (O'Connell et al. 2000; Hamill et al. 2002; Kemp et al. 2004), which is controlled by the mitotic kinases PLK-1 and Aurora A (Hannak et al. 2001; Woodruff et al. 2015). SPD-2 and SPD-5 have each been shown to exist primarily as monomers within the cytoplasm, and thus any interactions between them appear to occur only within the PCM (Wueseke et al. 2014). The pololike kinase PLK-1 docks onto SPD-2 via an interaction that is essential for mitotic PCM assembly (Decker et al. 2011), and like the interaction between SPD-2 and SPD-5, their interaction is thought to occur only on the PCM and not in the cvtoplasm (Wueseke et al. 2014). These studies have established that in C. elegans, SPD-2, SPD-5, PLK-1, and Aurora A/AIR-1 are key players required for assembly of the PCM that serves as a docking site for other centrosomal proteins, including the microtubule nucleating and anchoring protein γ -tubulin and the microtubule polymerase ZYG-9/XMAP215 (O'Connell et al. 2001; Hamill et al. 2002; Brouhard et al. 2008). How SPD-2 and SPD-5 interact during the mitotic maturation of the PCM and how they recruit other PCM components remain important areas for further investigation.

Superresolution light microscopy studies of mammalian centrosomes have revealed a substantial degree of organization within the interphase PCM, with both ninefold symmetry and an ordered molecular layering. In contrast, the mitotic PCM is much less ordered (Mennella et al. 2014; Woodruff et al. 2014). In contrast to prior work examining PCM incorporation of centrosomin in Drosophila embryos (Conduit et al. 2010), where it was suggested that new PCM is added near the centriole and then moves outward, Fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP) experiments examining the C. elegans PCM matrix component SPD-5 suggest it is incorporated uniformly throughout the PCM during mitotic maturation (Laos et al. 2015). Nevertheless, light microscopy and electron tomography have suggested that the C. elegans PCM at metaphase may also have substantial internal structure, with microtubule density forming a ring around a core of γ -tubulin density and microtubule ends embedded at this interface (O'Toole et al. 2012). Knockdown of γ -tubulin results in loss of this internal structure and a more random distribution of microtubule ends throughout the PCM. Moreover, most of the microtubule ends within the PCM no longer appear capped and blunt, but frayed, suggesting that centrosomal microtubules in wild-type embryos are oriented with minus ends capped by γ -tubulin complexes anchored within the PCM at the γ -tubulin/microtubule interface. Knockdown of SPD-5 also results in a more random distribution of microtubule ends within the PCM and a loss of blunt ends, perhaps due not only to the loss of γ -tubulin, but also to a disorganization of other factors that normally regulate microtubule nucleation and organization. Superresolution imaging of multiple PCM components, together with electron tomography studies, both during polarity establishment and mitosis, promise to further improve our understanding of PCM organization in C. elegans.

In vitro reconstitution of PCM assembly

Reconstitution of PCM assembly in vitro has recently shed new light on the mitotic maturation of the centrosomes and highlights the central roles played by SPD-2, SPD-5, and the polo-like kinase PLK-1. First, purified SPD-5 was shown to assemble into large scaffolds in vitro, with both SPD-2 and PLK-1 accelerating this process (Woodruff et al. 2015). Mutant SPD-5 protein that cannot be phosphorylated by PLK-1 can still form scaffolds, but at a reduced rate (Wueseke et al. 2016). Most recently, SPD-5 was shown to form liquid droplets, in a phase separation process, when the crowding reagent glycol was added to the in vitro assays (Woodruff et al. 2017). Addition of PLK-1 and the tubulin dimer-binding TOG domain protein ZYG-9/XMAP215 to these assembly reactions led to the assembly of liquid droplets that concentrate tubulin dimers and promote microtubule nucleation in the absence of γ -tubulin. Moreover, computational modeling indicates that phase separation can account for the scaling of cell size and centrosome size, and for PCM defects in centriole-defective mutants (Zwicker et al. 2014). Thus phase separation may play a role in PCM assembly, with locally increased tubulin dimer concentration promoting microtubule nucleation and assembly. These results, and electron tomography analysis (O'Toole et al. 2012), raise the possibility that microtubule nucleation may be, at least in part, γ -tubulin-independent,

and that γ -tubulin ring complexes may play more of a capping and anchoring role, in addition to or instead of a nucleation role. How AIR-1 might interface with such a phase separation process is not clear, and it remains to be shown that PCM *in vivo* exhibits liquid droplet-like properties. Furthermore, recent studies in *Xenopus* extracts and in fission yeast indicate that XMAP215/ZYG-9 family members and γ -tubulin cooperate to promote microtubule nucleation (Flor-Parra *et al.* 2018; Thawani *et al.* 2018). Future work on phase separation, both *in vivo* and *in vitro* and with *C. elegans* and mammalian proteins, may provide further insight into PCM assembly and function.

The past 20 years have witnessed remarkable advances in our understanding of centriole duplication and centrosome maturation, with studies in *C. elegans* being of particular importance for identifying a widely conserved pathway of centriole assembly. Future research promises to further advance our understanding of the initiation of centriole duplication, the link between central tube formation and centriolar microtubule assembly, centriole length control, and the role of the PCM in nucleating and organizing mitotic spindle microtubules.

Kinetochore Assembly, Function, and Regulation

Mitosis equally partitions a replicated genome between two daughter cells. Essential to this process is a large, multi-subunit protein complex called the kinetochore that connects chromosomes to spindle microtubules (Cheeseman 2014; Musacchio and Desai 2017). The kinetochore is composed of numerous polypeptides (Table 2) that assemble on chromosomes in a cell-cycle–dependent manner and coordinate multiple functions. The most apparent functions are to mediate microtubule/chromosome attachment and to generate force and tension required for chromosome movement. Kinetochores also must sense microtubule attachments, correct any errors, and signal the cell-cycle machinery to delay anaphase onset until all chromosomes achieve proper bipolar attachments.

The early C. elegans embryo offers relatively simple functional assays for investigating kinetochore assembly and function (Figure 5) (Oegema et al. 2001; Gassmann et al. 2007). Cortical pulling forces on astral microtubules asymmetrically position the one-cell stage mitotic spindle before cytokinesis (Grill et al. 2001), with sister chromatid cohesion and stable kinetochore attachments resisting these forces. In the absence of kinetochores, no forces counteract the astral pulling forces (Oegema et al. 2001), resulting in a failure to align chromosomes at the metaphase plate, an absence of chromosome segregation, and premature and excessive pole separation (the "Kinetochore-null" or KNL phenotype; see Figure 5A). As chromosome and spindle pole dynamics are highly reproducible from embryo to embryo, one can detect and quantify even subtle defects after RNAi knockdown of kinetochore components and regulators (Figure 5B) (Cheerambathur et al. 2017).

Table 2 Kinetochore proteins

C. elegans protein	C. elegans gene	Vertebrate ortholog	Brief description of localization and function	TS alleles
HCP-3/CENP-A	hcp-3;cenp-a (F58A4.3)	CENP-A	Histone H3-variant CeCENP-A epigenetically marks functional centromere, required for localization of all kinetochore	
HCP-4/CENP-C	<i>hcp-4;cenp-c</i> (T03F1.9)	CENP-C	components except KNL-2 Kinetochore localization (prophase to telophase); required for localization of all kinetochore components except CENP-A	
LIN-53	<i>lin-53</i> (K07A1.12)	RbAp46/48	and KNL-2 Histone chaperone, localizes to the centromere in metaphase and disappears in anaphase, required for CENP-A localization to the centromere	
KNL-2	<i>knl-2</i> (K06A5.4)	Mis18BP1	Kinetochore localization (prophase to telophase): required for CENP-A localization at kinetochore	
KNL-1	<i>knl-1</i> (C02F5.1)	AF15q14	Scaffolding protein at the kinetochore localization (prophase to telophase)	
KNI-3	<i>knl</i> -3(T10B5 6)	Not identified	Mis 12 complex kinetochore localization (prophase to telophase)	
MIS-12	$mis-12(Y47G6\Delta 24)$	Mis12	Mis 12 complex, kinetochore localization (prophase to telophase)	
KRP_1	$kbn_{-1}(R13F6 1)$	Not identified	Mis 12 complex, kinetochore localization (prophase to telophase)	
ר סס <i>י</i>	kbp - 7(1(1510.1))	Not identified	Mis 12 complex, kinetochore localization (prophase to telophase)	
	rdc = 20(1/0.1P6 0.1)		Nds20 complex, kinetochore localization (prophase to telophase)	
	him 10(P12P2.4)	Nucou/ TILC	Ndc80 complex, kinetochore localization (prophase to telophase)	
	/////-/U(RIZBZ.4)	NUIZ	Ndc80 complex, kinetochore localization (propriase to telophase)	
KBP-3	KDD-3(F26H11.1)	Spc25	NdC80 complex, kinetochore localization (prophase to telophase)	
KBP-4	KDP-4(Y92C3B.1)	Spc24	Noceo complex, kinetocnore localization (prophase to telophase)	
KBP-5	KDD-2(C34B2.2)	Not identified	Kinetochore localization (prophase to telophase)	
НСР-1, НСР-2	hcp-1(2K1055.1) hcp-2(T06E4.1)	CENP-F	spindle and to kinetochores between late prometaphase and early anaphase	
CLS-2	<i>cls-2</i> (R107.6)	CLASP	Microtubule-associated protein that localizes to spindle poles, the miotic spindle and kinetochores, required for central spindle assembly	
CZW-1	<i>czw-1</i> (F20D12.4)	Zw10	RZZ complex, requires the other RZZ subunits for kinetochore localization	
ROD-1	rod-1(F55G1.4)	Rod	RZZ complex, requires the other RZZ subunits for kinetochore localization	
ZWILCH	<i>zwl-1</i> (Y39G10AR.2)	Zwilch	RZZ complex, requires the other RZZ subunits for kinetochore localization	
NUD-2	<i>nud-2</i> (R11A5.2)	NudE/NudL	Dynein receptor at the kinetochore	
SPDL-1	spdl-1(C06A8.5)	Spindly	Acts downstream of RZZ; kinetochore-specific adaptor for dynein	
BUB-1	bub-1(R06C7.8)	Bub1	Mitotic checkpoint serine/threonine kinase, kinetochore localiza- tion (prophase to telophase)	
BUB-3	bub-3(Y54G9A.6)	Bub3	Mitotic checkpoint pathway	
MDF-1/MAD-1	mdf-1(C50F4.11)	Mad1	Mitotic checkpoint pathway, localizes to unattached kinetochores	
MDF-2/MAD-2	<i>mdf-2</i> (Y69A2AR. 30)	Mad2	Mitotic checkpoint pathway, protein with similar functions as MAD-1, localizes to unattached kinetochores	
SAN-1/MAD-3	san-1(ZC328.4)	BubR1	Mitotic checkpoint pathway, localizes to kinetochores after nuclear envelope breakdown	
FZY-1/CDC-20	cdc-20(zk177.6)	Cdc20	Substrate recognition subunit of the APC/C E3-ligase and part of the Mitotic checkpoint complex (MCC)	
PLK-1	<i>plk-1</i> (C14B9.4)	Polo-like kinase 1 (Plk1)	Localizes to the kinetochores: regulates the mitotic checkpoint pathway; phosphorylates KNL-1 to promote BUB-1 recruit- ment to KNL-1	or683

C. elegans chromosomes are unusual in being holocentric, with diffuse kinetochores that form along their entire length, but their kinetochore structure and molecular composition are similar to those in other metazoans (Maddox *et al.* 2004; Musacchio and Desai 2017). The first *C. elegans* kinetochore proteins were identified by homology and their uniform localization along chromosomes, leading to the term *hcp* for *holocentric* proteins (Moore *et al.* 1999; Moore and Roth 2001; Kitagawa 2009). Later, essential kinetochore proteins were identified through RNAi-based genome-wide

screens for the KNL phenotype (Desai *et al.* 2003; P. S. Maddox *et al.* 2007; Gassmann *et al.* 2008), and by tandem mass spectrometry interrogation of affinity purified KNL complexes (Cheeseman *et al.* 2004). Immunofluorescence combined with RNAi-mediated depletion revealed a hierarchy of kinetochore protein assembly (Cheeseman *et al.* 2004; Oegema and Hyman 2006). Subsequent *in vitro* reconstitution using purified components identified various subcomplexes and microtubule-binding activities within the kinetochore, and regulatory mechanisms controlling



Figure 5 Functional analysis of kinetochore assembly and function in one-cell C. elegans embryos. (A) Schematics illustrating the kinetochore null (KNL) phenotype, characterized by a failure to assemble kinetochores competent for spindle microtubule attachment. Consequently, DNA segregation is severely defective and spindle poles separate prematurely and excessively in response to the astral pulling forces mediated by the $G\alpha$ pathway, as schematized in the inset. This pathway, which comprises a complex of $G\alpha$, GPR-1/2, and LIN-5, anchors dynein to the cell cortex to generate pulling forces when dynein walks toward microtubule minus ends anchored at the spindle poles. These force generators are enriched posteriorly in response to cell polarity factors such that the spindle becomes posteriorly displaced and the division is asymmetric. (B) Spindle pole tracking detects defective kinetochore-microtubule attachments. Frames from in vivo live imaging videomicrographs of control and ndc-80(RNAi) one-cell embryos expressing GFP::H2b and GFP::y-tubulin to label chromosomes (green arrow) and spindle poles (orange arrowheads), respectively, from NEBD to anaphase. Yellow arrowheads highlight premature spindle pole separation in ndc-80-(RNAi) embryos as compared to wild-type. Bar, 5 µm. Modified from Cheerambathur et al. (2017).

kinetochore-microtubule attachments (Cheeseman *et al.* 2006). Kinetochore proteins coordinate multiple functions, and the generation and analysis of "separation-of-function" mutants via genome editing has led to an impressive understanding of kinetochore protein functions.

Molecular architecture of the C. elegans kinetochore

Inner kinetochore proteins: connecting with chromosomal DNA: The kinetochore assembles on a specific chromosomal region called the centromere (Figure 5), which includes specialized nucleosomes containing the histone H3 variant HCP-3/ CENP-A (Buchwitz et al. 1999) that epigenetically marks functional centromeres (Musacchio and Desai 2017). The histone chaperone LIN-53/RbAp46/48 is required for HCP-3/CENP-A localization to holocentric C. elegans centromeres and for accurate chromosome segregation, suggesting that LIN-53/RbAp46/48 mediates HCP-3/CENP-A deposition (Lee et al. 2016). To date, one other factor modulates HCP-3/ CENP-A deposition at holocentromeres: the myb/SANTdomain protein KNL-2 (P. S. Maddox et al. 2007). Downstream of KNL-2 and HCP-3/CENP-A is HCP-4/CENP-C (Moore and Roth 2001; Oegema et al. 2001). These three inner kinetochore proteins connect chromosomal DNA to the outer kinetochore in C. elegans (Figure 6). In humans, the inner kinetochores are built by additional CENP subunits. which form the constitutive centromere-associated network (CCAN). With the notable exception of HCP-4/CENP-C,

CCAN subunits have not been found to date in some species, including *C. elegans* and *Drosophila* [for review see Musacchio and Desai (2017), van Hooff *et al.* (2017)].

Outer kinetochore proteins: connecting with microtubules: RNAi screens for KNL phenotypes initially identified KNL-1 and KNL-3, in addition to the inner kinetochore proteins HCP-3/CENP-A, HCP-4/CENP-C, and KNL-2 (Desai et al. 2003; P. S. Maddox et al. 2007) (Figure 6A). Subsequent mass spectrometry analysis of KNL-1- and KNL-3-interacting proteins identified a network of 10 proteins: KNL-1, MIS-12, KNL-3, KBP-1, KBP-2, NDC-80, HIM-10/Nuf2, KBP-3/Spc24, KBP-4, and KBP-5 (Cheeseman et al. 2004). Analysis of their assembly hierarchy revealed that KNL-1, which acts downstream of KNL-3, is required for the localization of all known outer kinetochore proteins (Cheeseman et al. 2006) (Figure 6A). Biochemical reconstitution and characterization of this network from purified components identified three interacting and conserved units: KNL-1 and the Mis12 and Ndc80 complexes (together known as KMN), bearing distinct microtubulebinding activities in the Ndc80 complex and KNL-1 (Cheeseman et al. 2006). The Ndc80 complex forms load-bearing attachments to dynamic microtubules (Cheeseman et al. 2006), while the KNL-1 microtubule-binding domain is required for checkpoint signaling, but dispensable for chromosome segregation (Espeut et al. 2012).

The Ndc80 complex is a 50–60 nm long heterotetrameric and evolutionarily conserved complex consisting of two



Figure 6 C. elegans kinetochore assembly: building spindle microtubule attachment sites. (A) Schematic of C. elegans kinetochore assembly. Proteins directly interacting with microtubules are highlighted in light green. Arrows indicate dependencies. (B) Schematics of kinetochore proteins and activities that interact with microtubules. (C) Domain organization of the scaffolding protein KNL-1 (red), a large multidomain and multifunctional scaffold protein required for kinetochore targeting of several other outer-domain kinetochore proteins, including, the SAC proteins BUB-1 and BUB-3, NDC-80, MIS-12, and the RZZ complex. KNL-1 also contains a docking site (RRVSF) for the PP1 phosphatase, which dephosphorylates KNL-1 on the MELT repeats and thereby eliminates the interaction between BUB-1 and KNL-1.

heterodimers—NDC-80 and HIM-10/Nuf2, and KBP-3/ Spc25 and KBP-4/Spc24—joined by overlapping α -helical coiled-coiled domains located at the C and N termini of the NDC-80-HIM-10/Nuf2 and KBP-3/Spc25-KBP-4/Spc24 heterodimers, respectively (Figure 6B) (Cheeseman *et al.* 2006; DeLuca *et al.* 2006; Wei *et al.* 2007; Ciferri *et al.* 2008). Therefore MT-binding, mediated by the N-terminal globular domain of NDC-80 and HIM-10 subunits, and kinetochoretargeting, mediated by the C-terminal regions of KBP-3 and KBP-4 subunits, are located at opposite ends of the complex. The microtubule-binding region of the Ndc80 complex consists of a basic, unstructured N-terminal tail of the NDC-80 subunit and a pair of calponin-homology (CH) domains in the NDC-80 and HIM-10 subunits (Cheeseman *et al.* 2006). The microtubule-binding region is subject to extensive phosphorylation by Aurora kinases that regulate kinetochore-microtubule attachments (Cheerambathur *et al.* 2017) (see below).

Beyond these subunits, a number of additional proteins, notably factors linking kinetochores to microtubules (HCP-1/ 2/CENP-F, CLS-2/CLASP, Dynein, and SKA complex) dynamically associate with kinetochores during chromosome congression and segregation to regulate microtubule attachment and coordinate attachment with anaphase onset (Figure 6). For instance, downstream of KNL-1, the checkpoint kinase BUB-1 lies at the top of a hierarchy that comprises the CENP-F-like proteins HCP-1/2 and the microtubule-binding protein CLS-2/CLASP (Figure 6A). In turn, CLS-2/CLASP controls kinetochore-bound microtubule dynamics to promote chromosome biorientation (Cheeseman *et al.* 2005).

From lateral to end-on microtubule attachment: cross-talk between RZZ-Spindly and the Ndc80 complex

Chromosomes are initially captured along microtubule sides (lateral attachments) and then tethered to microtubule ends, with end-on attachments that can resist the forces that pull on chromosomes during anaphase (Cheerambathur and Desai 2014). Furthermore, the two sister chromatids must attach to spindle microtubules emanating from opposite spindle poles to become bioriented. A lack of chromosome attachment, or incorrect ones such as merotelic attachments (a single sister kinetochore is simultaneously attached to microtubules from both spindle poles), must be corrected before anaphase onset. Proper orientation of sister kinetochores before stable microtubule attachment is of critical importance in C. elegans, with large holocentric kinetochores prone to merotely. The nonkinetochore motor protein KLP-19 discourages merotelic attachments by providing a polar ejection force that favors an orientation in which sister chromatid kinetochores face opposite spindle poles (Powers et al. 2004). The spindle assembly checkpoint (SAC) also promotes proper segregation by delaying sister chromatid separation until all chromosomes are bioriented and under tension (Musacchio and Salmon 2007) (discussed below).

In addition, regulatory mechanisms ensure that robust end-on microtubule attachments are achieved after transient, lateral kinetochore-microtubule attachments (Gassmann et al. 2008; Cheerambathur et al. 2013; Cheerambathur et al. 2017; Gama et al. 2017; Simões et al. 2018). spdl-1, the C. elegans ortholog of the conserved dynein adaptor Spindly, also results in a kinetochore null phenotype when inactivated. Removal of SPDL-1 is nearly equivalent to removal of NDC-80 (Gassmann et al. 2008). SPDL-1 interacts with ROD-1/rough deal, CZW-1/Zeste-white, and ZWL-1/Zwilch, which form the evolutionarily conserved RZZ complex, itself recruited to the kinetochore by KNL-1 (Figure 6A) (Gassmann et al. 2008). Paradoxically, although RZZ recruits SPDL-1 to kinetochores, *spdl-1* inactivation results in a much more severe phenotype than depletion of upstream RZZ complex subunits (Gassmann et al. 2008). The reason is that in the absence of SPDL-1, RZZ binds to and inhibits the Ndc80 complex, preventing end-on microtubule attachments (Cheerambathur et al. 2013). Codepleting RZZ relieves this inhibition and ameliorates the more severe defect resulting from *spdl-1* depletion alone.

SPDL-1 recruits dynein-dynactin to kinetochores (Griffis *et al.* 2007; Gassmann *et al.* 2008; Yamamoto *et al.* 2008; Chan *et al.* 2009), which contributes to initial lateral micro-tubule capture, accelerates stable end-on attachment by the Ndc80 complex, and relieves the inhibition of RZZ on Ndc80 by an as yet unknown mechanism (Cheerambathur *et al.* 2013). Cross-talk between Ndc80 and dynein-dynactin thus ensures accurate chromosome segregation. SPDL-1 recruits

dynein-dynactin to kinetochores via two conserved motifs, the N-terminally located CC1 box and the spindly motif, through which SPDL-1 binds dynein light-intermediate chains and the dynactin pointed complex, respectively (Gama *et al.* 2017). Specific SPDL-1 point mutations, or deletion of the dynactin-pointed complex subunit DNC-6/p27, abrogate the interaction between SPDL-1 and the dyneindynactin complex and phenocopy loss of *spdl-1* function, demonstrating the importance of dynein recruitment to kinetochores for chromosome segregation (Cheerambathur *et al.* 2013; Gama *et al.* 2017).

The recruitment of dynein at kinetochores also depends on the dynein cofactor NUD-2/NudE/NudL, which is recruited to kinetochores by HCP-1/2 (Figure 6A) (Simões *et al.* 2018). Loss of NUD-2 delays the formation of load-bearing microtubule attachments and causes chromatin bridges during anaphase. This phenotype is identical to that resulting from inactivation of RZZ complex subunits. However, loss of NUD-2 reduces dynein levels at kinetochores by only 50%, whereas RZZ depletion completely removes dynein from kinetochores, indicating that high levels of dynein at kinetochores are required for proper kinetochore function (Simões *et al.* 2018). To summarize, SPDL-1 and NUD-2 function as dynein receptors at unattached kinetochores to promote initial lateral microtubule capture and facilitate their maturation into end-on Ndc80 complex attachments.

Once proper end-on kinetochore-microtubule attachments are achieved, they must be stabilized to dampen chromosome motion before segregation. Dephosphorylation of the NDC-80 N-tail and/or tension on the attachments generated by GPR-1/2–dependent cortical pulling forces, promotes a microtubule-bound conformation of NDC-80 that is recognized by the conserved microtubule-binding SKA complex that stabilizes kinetochore-MT attachments and dampens chromosome motions (Cheerambathur *et al.* 2017).

Together, these sophisticated regulatory events ensure that chromosomes are bioriented and under tension before chromosome segregation begins. In addition, these steps are monitored by the SAC, which prevents anaphase onset until all sister chromatid pairs have attached to spindle microtubules emanating from opposite spindle poles (Musacchio and Salmon 2007).

Microtubule attachments and the SAC

The SAC: The spindle checkpoint is conserved from yeast to human, with subtle variations, and has been extensively studied in the early *C. elegans* embryo (Kitagawa and Rose 1999; Nystul *et al.* 2003; Encalada *et al.* 2005; Stein *et al.* 2007; Essex *et al.* 2009). In response to improper kinetochore-microtubule attachments, the SAC generates a diffusible "wait anaphase" inhibitor that delays sister chromatid separation and mitotic exit by preventing securin and Cyclin B proteosomal degradation (Barford 2011). This inhibitor, called the mitotic checkpoint complex (MCC), inhibits the APC/C(Cdc20) E3-ligase that polyubiquitinates securin and Cyclin B (Figure 7) (Liu and Zhang 2016; Lara-Gonzalez *et al.* 2017).



Figure 7 Kinetochores direct FZY-1/CDC-20 to the mitotic accelerator (APC/C) or brake (SAC) in response to microtubule attachment status: Schematics showing the two fates of CDC-20. CDC-20 is dynamically recruited to kinetochores where it interacts with BUB-1, via the ABBA motif. In the presence of unattached kinetochores (top panel) phosphorylated CDC-20 binds MAD-2 in the closed conformation and together with MAD-3 and BUB-3 assembles the mitotic checkpoint complex (MCC) that prevents APC/C activation. The MCC binds to a CDC-20 subunit physically associated with the APC/C and prevents it from binding substrates. It is known in mammalian cells that the MCC is continuously degraded as it binds the APC/C. When all kinetochores are properly attached to spindle microtubules and chromosomes are aligned at the metaphase plate (bottom panel), the generation of new MCC complexes is stopped. CDC-20 is dephosphorylated at the kinetochore by PP1 (and unknown cytosolic phosphatases) and then binds the APC/C after the previously bound MCC has been degraded [for review see Alfieri et al. (2017)].

The early C. elegans embryo mounts a checkpoint response that delays mitotic entry upon exposure to microtubule depolymerizing drugs such as nocodazole (Encalada et al. 2005), and robust genetic assays have been developed to monitor spindle checkpoint signaling (Essex et al. 2009). One assay uses two-cell stage embryos with monopolar spindles caused by inactivation of centriolar duplication proteins (Essex et al. 2009). Monopolar spindles, which contain unattached kinetochores and attached kinetochores that are not under tension, elicit a robust and quantifiable checkpoint-mediated cell-cycle delay that is suppressed by inactivation of checkpoint components (Essex et al. 2009). Another assay uses genetic interactions with a TS mutation in the essential APC/C subunit MAT-3/Apc8, mat-3(or344ts) (Rappleye et al. 2002; Kim et al. 2017). As the checkpoint prevents cell-cycle progression by inhibiting the APC/C, compromising the APC/C enhances a checkpoint defect (Bezler and Gönczy 2010; Kim et al. 2017).

Most SAC components, including MDF-1/MAD-1, MDF-2/ MAD-2, BUB-1/Bub1, BUB-3/Bub3, and SAN-1/MAD-3/ Mad3 (known as BubR1 in vertebrates and *Drosophila*), are conserved in *C. elegans* (Table 2), with the noticeable exception of the Mps1 kinase (Kitagawa and Rose 1999; Essex *et al.* 2009; Vleugel *et al.* 2012; Espeut *et al.* 2015). Depleting these proteins does not affect cell-cycle timing in basal conditions, except for BUB-1/BUB-3 (Kim *et al.* 2015), but all are required to delay cell-cycle progression by roughly 60% in the presence of monopolar spindles (Essex *et al.* 2009). In this section, for clarity and consistency with the cell-cycle field, we use the gene names *mad-1*, *mad-2*, and *mad-3* instead of *mdf-1*, *mdf-2*, and *san-1*.

Hierarchy of SAC assembly during checkpoint activation: How checkpoint proteins are recruited to kinetochores to generate the MCC is an important focus of SAC research. A key pathway component is the MAD-1–MAD-2 complex, which accumulates at unattached kinetochores (Kitagawa and Rose 1999; Essex *et al.*, 2009). Kinetochore recruitment of MAD-2 is observed only when the checkpoint is activated (Essex *et al.* 2009). The MAD-1–MAD-2 complex catalyzes a conformational transition of free cytoplasmic MAD-2 that promotes its association with FZY-1/CDC-20/Cdc20 (henceforth called CDC-20 for clarity and consistency with the cellcycle field) to generate the MCC that inhibits the APC/C (Figure 7). In vertebrates, the BubR1 subunit of the MCC binds to a Cdc20 subunit physically associated with the APC/C and prevents it from binding substrates (Izawa and Pines 2015; Alfieri *et al.* 2016); this inhibitory mechanism likely is conserved in *C. elegans* (Figure 7).

The mechanism by which the MAD-1–MAD-2 complex is recruited to kinetochores is emerging. MAD-1 physically interacts with the BUB-1 kinase (Moyle *et al.* 2014), which is at the top of the checkpoint protein kinetochore localization hierarchy from yeast to human (Musacchio and Salmon 2007). BUB-1 acts in a complex with its binding partner, the WD40-fold protein BUB-3 (Kim *et al.* 2015), to recruit MAD-1–MAD-2 to unattached kinetochores (Moyle *et al.* 2014). MAD-1 mutants defective in binding to BUB-1 do not localize to unattached kinetochores and are defective in checkpoint signaling (Moyle *et al.* 2014).

BUB-1 itself is recruited to kinetochores by KNL-1, an interaction regulated by phosphorylation (Figure 6B, bottom panel). In most organisms, the Mps1 kinase phosphorylates KNL-1 MELT repeats (Met-Glu-Leu-Thr) to create phospho-docking sites for Bub1/Bub3 and initiate checkpoint signaling. However, Mps1 is absent in *C. elegans* and instead, the polo-like kinase PLK-1 phosphorylates KNL-1 to direct BUB-1 recruitment to kinetochores (Espeut *et al.* 2015). How PLK-1 gets recruited to kinetochores in *C. elegans* is not understood (Cheerambathur and Desai 2014). Other kinetochore components are also required for the localization of MAD-1–MAD-2 at unattached kinetochores, in particular the RZZ complex, SPDL-1, and NDC-80 (Gassmann *et al.* 2008; Yamamoto *et al.* 2008; Essex *et al.* 2009), but the molecular mechanisms are unclear.

Checkpoint inactivation: Once all kinetochores are properly attached to microtubules and all chromosomes are bi-oriented, the SAC must be inactivated. The RZZ-spindly-Dynein pathway plays a prominent role in checkpoint inactivation by shedding MAD-1—MAD-2 from kinetochores to the spindle poles (Howell *et al.* 2001; Wojcik *et al.* 2001). The N-terminus of KNL-1 also senses microtubules attachment to kinetochores and recruits the PP1 phosphatase that contributes to checkpoint silencing (Espeut *et al.* 2012). In particular, PP1 dephosphorylates KNL-1 on the MELT repeats to disrupt the KNL-1—BUB-1 interaction (Espeut *et al.* 2012), with higher levels of BUB-1 at kinetochores in a KNL-1 PP1-binding mutant (Maton *et al.* 2015; Kim *et al.* 2017).

Kinetochores direct CDC-20 to the mitotic accelerator (*APC/C*) *or brake* (*SAC*)

While the spindle checkpoint pathway is conserved in *C. ele*gans and delays mitosis in the presence of unattached kinetochores, its inhibition in unperturbed one-cell embryos does not lead to significant defects in chromosome segregation nor accelerated mitotic progression (Essex *et al.* 2009). Moreover, in embryos depleted of MAD-2, cyclin B degradation occurs with normal kinetics (Kim *et al.* 2017), indicating the existence of additional mechanisms restraining APC/ C^{Cdc20} activity. A key factor that controls the timing of mitosis in one-cell embryos is BUB-1, which not only directs the SAC proteins to inhibit the APC/C in the presence of unattached kinetochores, but also promotes APC/C activation. BUB-1 thus plays a dual role, inhibiting and activating anaphase onset, with the balance between these potentially being modulated by microtubule attachment status (Figure 7). A role for BUB-1 in promoting anaphase onset emerged from the observation that inactivation of BUB-1, or its binding partner BUB-3, increased the time between NEBD and anaphase onset independently of the SAC, as this delay is still observed in BUB-1; MAD-2 or BUB-1; MAD-3 double depletions (Kim et al. 2015; Kim et al. 2017). A similar delay in anaphase onset is observed when BUB-1 recruitment to the kinetochores is prevented, indicating that BUB-1 is required at kinetochores for the normal timing of anaphase onset.

How might BUB-1 influence anaphase onset? In other systems, Bub1 and BubR1, which share a common Cdc20 interaction motif known as the ABBA motif (Di Fiore et al. 2015) or the Phe box (Diaz-Martinez et al. 2015), recruit Cdc20 via these motifs to kinetochores. However, the functional significance of Cdc20 recruitment to the kinetochore for its role in APC/C activation and anaphase onset has remained unclear. In C. elegans, BUB-1 similarly recruits CDC-20 to kinetochores through an ABBA motif (Kim et al. 2017). Mutation of the ABBA motif prevents CDC-20 recruitment to kinetochores and delays anaphase onset, demonstrating that CDC-20 recruitment to kinetochores is required for BUB-1 to promote anaphase onset. FRAP experiments showed that the residence time of CDC-20 at the kinetochores is only 1.2 sec, suggesting that it is dynamically fluxing through kinetochores (Figure 7).

How does BUB-1 influence CDC-20 activation? In human cells, the APC/C and Cdc20 are both regulated by Cdk1 phosphorylation. APC/C subunit phosphorylation enhances the affinity of Cdc20 for the APC/C (Fujimitsu et al. 2016; Qiao et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2016), while Cdc20 phosphorylation inhibits its binding to the APC/C (Kramer et al. 2000; Labit et al. 2012; Hein and Nilsson 2016). Therefore, Cdc20 must be dephosphorylated to interact with, and activate the APC/C. C. elegans CDC-20 contains three evolutionarily conserved N-terminal Cdk1 sites (Kim et al. 2017). Remarkably, one-cell embryos expressing nonphosphorylatable alanine CDC-20 3A variants as the sole source of CDC-20 transit more rapidly through mitosis and enter anaphase before full chromosome congression (Kim et al. 2017). Of these three phosphorylation sites, Thr32 is the most important. Notably, the CDC-20 3A and T32A mutations bypass the anaphase-onset delay observed in the BUB-1 ABBA mutant, suggesting that BUB-1 promotes anaphase onset by promoting CDC-20 dephosphorylation. The PP1c phosphatase, which docks on KNL-1, likely fulfills this role at kinetochores. Accordingly, a PP1-binding mutant of KNL-1, which drastically impairs PP1 recruitment (Espeut et al. 2012) delays anaphase onset to an extent similar to that observed when CDC-20 recruitment to the kinetochores is prevented by mutating the ABBA motif of BUB-1, and this delay is suppressed in the presence of CDC-20 nonphosphorylatable mutants (Kim *et al.* 2017). Overall, these data suggest that in embryos, CDC-20 is inhibited by Cdk-mediated phosphorylation and upon mitotic entry, CDC-20 recruitment to kinetochores through BUB-1 promotes its dephosphorylation by PP1c docked onto KNL-1 and its subsequent activation of the APC/C. Preventing CDC-20 recruitment to kinetochores delays anaphase onset but does not block it, possibly because CDC-20 is also dephosphorylated in the cytoplasm (Kim *et al.* 2017).

Strikingly, in the presence of unattached kinetochores, the BUB-1 ABBA motif mutant is also defective in checkpoint signaling. Thus, in situations where kinetochore-microtubule attachments are defective, CDC-20 recruited to the kinetochores by the BUB-1 ABBA motif also has the ability to delay anaphase onset (Kim et al. 2017). Therefore, CDC-20 dynamically fluxing through kinetochores via the ABBA motif of BUB-1 is either incorporated into the inhibitory checkpoint complex with MAD-2 (MCC) to inhibit the APC/C, or is dephosphorylated by PP1 to promote APC/C activation and anaphase onset (Figure 7). Whether and how microtubule attachment status influences the two fates of CDC-20 remains an open and important question. In principle, microtubule attachments trigger dynein-dependent MAD-1/2 removal from the kinetochores, and dephosphorylation of the MELT repeats of KNL-1 also promote BUB-1/BUB-3 removal. However, microtubule attachments remove MAD-1-MAD-2 but leave behind a substantial pool of BUB-1/BUB-3 (Kim et al. 2015), such that CDC-20 at attached kinetochores is more likely to be dephosphorylated (Figure 7). Microtubule attachments may also modulate PP1 activity and/or localization to the kinetochores. Further work is required to determine the relationship between microtubule attachment at kinetochores and alterations in the balance between the two fates of CDC-20 fluxing through kinetochores.

Tremendous progress has been made in understanding kinetochore assembly and function in *C. elegans*. However, despite considerable progress, important issues still need to be addressed. In particular, how do tension and mechanical forces stabilize kinetochore-microtubule attachments (Akiyoshi *et al.* 2010), and how do kinetochores sense and signal microtubule attachments to dephosphorylate NDC-80 and recruit the SKA complex to trigger anaphase onset? Interestingly, we have seen that dephosphorylation events trigger both stabilization of kinetochore-microtubule attachments and anaphase onset, further highlighting the importance of protein phosphatases in mitotic progression.

Mitotic Spindle Assembly and Chromosome Segregation

Mitotic spindle microtubules are organized and regulated by microtubule-associated proteins (MAPs), microtubule motors, and other associated proteins to generate three distinct sets of microtubules: astral microtubules emanating from the centrosomes and contacting the cortex, kinetochore microtubules (KMTs) that connect centrosomes to kinetochores, and central spindle microtubules that assemble between segregating sister chromatids after anaphase onset. KMTs mediate chromosome dynamics during mitosis. The central spindle, an array of antiparallel microtubules with their plus-ends overlapping at the center, coordinates chromosome segregation with furrow ingression during cytokinesis. Astral microtubules influence spindle position, contribute to chromosome segregation, and promote contractile ring assembly during cytokinesis.

Depending on the organism, different microtubule nucleation pathways support spindle assembly (Heald and Khodjakov 2015; Prosser and Pelletier 2017). In Drosophila and vertebrates, spindle assembly depends on three complementary mechanisms: (i) Ran-GTP produced in the vicinity of the chromatin binds to import β and thereby releases spindle assembly factors, (ii) centrosome-nucleated microtubules search and capture chromosomes, and (iii) Augmin-dependent recruitment of the microtubule nucleator yTuRC for branched microtubule nucleation. In the early C. elegans embryo, the Augmin pathway is absent and mitotic spindle assembly depends largely, if not exclusively on centrosomes. In this section, we review mitotic spindle assembly in C. elegans and discuss recent data highlighting the role of a subset of kinetochore proteins in the initial stages of central spindle assembly. Finally, we consider the mechanisms that mediate chromosome segregation, including a possible contribution from the central spindle via an inside-out pushing mechanism.

Centrosome-based spindle assembly in the early embryo

The one-cell stage mitotic spindle is large ($14 \mu m$ from pole to pole), with prominent centrosomal spindle poles that nucleate microtubules (Figure 4A). Spindles fail to form in *C. elegans* embryos that lack functional centrosomes (Hamill *et al.* 2002; Kemp *et al.* 2004; Pelletier *et al.* 2004; Nahaboo *et al.* 2015), whereas half-spindles assemble in embryos that have one centrosome instead of two (O'Connell *et al.* 2001). Whether this strict requirement for centrosomes in spindle assembly is also true in later-stage embryos or larvae awaits further investigation. Fast-acting TS alleles of core centrosome components (*e.g., spd-5* ts) can address this issue.

The centrosome-based mitotic spindle assembles rapidly. Early on, both cortical and sperm pronuclear envelope localized dynein promote centrosome separation in the one-cell zygote (De Simone *et al.* 2016). Subsequently, concomitant with nuclear envelope break down, centrosomal microtubules penetrate the nuclear space to capture chromosomes (Figure 4A), with further assembly also requiring functional kinetochores (Oegema *et al.* 2001). Spindle assembly is completed in the subsequent 2–3 min between nuclear envelope breakdown and anaphase onset, with astral microtubules attached to the cortex subject to pulling forces that position the spindle and promote chromosome segregation (Figure 4A) [for review see Kotak and Gönczy 2013, McNally 2013)].

Ultrastructural analysis of the mitotic spindle has provided important insights into spindle assembly and function (O'Toole *et al.* 2003; Ozlü *et al.* 2005; Schlaitz *et al.* 2007; Redemann *et al.* 2017; Müller-Reichert *et al.* 2018). Tomographic reconstruction of metaphase and anaphase mitotic spindles in early embryos from electron micrographs combined with live-imaging confirmed that *C. elegans* mitotic spindles consist exclusively of microtubules radiating from the centrosomes (Figure 4, B and C) (O'Toole *et al.* 2003; Redemann *et al.* 2017). At metaphase, the mitotic spindle is composed of roughly 20,000 individual microtubules among which only 500 (2.5%) are KMTs, with only 6–50 KMTs attaching to each of the 12 chromosomes per pole-facing side (Redemann *et al.* 2017). These KMTs do not form bundles that resemble the kinetochore fibers observed in vertebrate and *Drosophila* cells, probably due to the holocentric nature of *C. elegans* chromosomes.

Do 6-50 KMTs directly connecting centrosomes to kinetochores provide a sufficiently strong mechanical connection between chromosomes and centrosomes? One possibility is that the number of microtubules directly connecting centrosomes to chromosomes might be underestimated, owing to the difficulty in tomography reconstructions and the density of microtubules emanating from the poles in all directions. Alternatively, one or two KMTs might be sufficient for chromosome segregation, as in budding yeast (Winey et al. 1995). Or, as supported by tomography reconstructions, chromosomes might be indirectly connected to centrosomes by anchoring into a spindle network, which raises questions about how KMTs form. Mathematical modeling of KMTs formation suggests that microtubules grow out from centrosomes and eventually either depolymerize or become KMTs upon attachment to a kinetochore. These KMTs might then selectively detach from the centrosomes and shrink from their minus ends. This model, supported by FRAP experiments, suggests that KMTs are short-lived relative to the timescale of mitosis (Redemann et al. 2017).

Because of the transient nature of KMTs, astral microtubules must rapidly find kinetochores. Given that chromosomes are holocentric, microtubules can bind at any point of the surface, and mitosis is semiclosed in the early embryo. The nuclear envelope breaks down in close proximity to the centrosomes, but remnants persist around the mitotic spindle until the metaphase-to-anaphase transition (Lee et al. 2000). The persistence of the nuclear envelope limits the space through which centrosome-based microtubules search and capture the chromosomes. Finally, a spindle matrix may concentrate free tubulin and other factors to favor assembly in a way that promotes kinetochore capture (Figure 4C) (Hayashi et al. 2012). Accordingly, during early spindle assembly, the density of EBP-2 foci, which decorate polymerizing microtubule plus-ends, is higher within the spindle (Srayko et al. 2005), suggesting that microtubules preferentially grow toward chromatin. The GTPase RAN-1, which is essential for nuclear import and spindle assembly (Askjaer et al. 2002; Bamba et al. 2002), contributes to this bias in microtubule outgrowth toward chromosomes, a function that is independent of kinetochores (Srayko et al. 2005). However, the mechanism by which RAN influences the direction of microtubule outgrowth toward chromatin is unclear (Srayko *et al.* 2005). Altogether, these traits likely contribute to the efficient capture of the chromosomes by astral microtubules, facilitating rapid spindle assembly.

Centrosome-localized factors regulating mitotic spindle assembly

Several centrosome-localized factors are required for mitotic spindle assembly (Figure 4D) (Sönnichsen et al. 2005; Srayko et al. 2005; Oegema and Hyman 2006; Müller-Reichert et al. 2010). Microtubule nucleation requires core centrosomal components, including the microtubule nucleator γ -tubulin and the AIR-1/Aurora A kinase, as discussed in the centrosome section. Other centrosome-localized factors further regulate microtubule dynamics (Srayko et al. 2005). Microtubule plus-end growth requires the evolutionarily conserved microtubule polymerase ZYG-9/XMAP215 and its activator TAC-1/TACC1 (Transforming and acidic coiled-coiled protein) (Srayko et al. 2005; Bellanger et al. 2007; Brouhard et al. 2008). The number of microtubules that grow out from centrosomes is controlled and limited by the microtubule depolymerizing kinesin KLP-7 (Srayko et al. 2005). Regulation of KMT length depends on the AIR-1/Aurora A kinase and its binding partner TPXL-1, the worm ortholog of the well-characterized microtubule-stabilizing protein TPX2 (Gruss et al. 2001; Schatz et al. 2003). In tpxl-1(RNAi) embryos, just after nuclear envelope breakdown, the assembling spindle collapses and centrosomes are pulled toward the chromatin (Ozlü et al. 2005); the rate of microtubule assembly is not affected (Srayko et al. 2005), but the microtubules are unstable. TPX-2 activates and targets AIR-1 to microtubules (Ozlü et al. 2005), which likely facilitates Aurora A-dependent phosphorylation of downstream substrates required for microtubule stability. For example, the tpxl-1(RNAi) phenotype might result at least in part from a defect in NDC-80 phosphorylation. As discussed in the kinetochore section, phosphorylation of the N-terminal NDC-80 tail prevents premature recruitment of the SKA complex to kinetochores such that microtubule attachments remain dynamic, allowing for tension-coupled polymerization. This phosphorylation is likely mediated by Aurora A (Cheerambathur et al. 2017), and preventing N-tail phosphorylation gives a short spindle phenotype that, although not as severe, is reminiscent of the *tpxl-1* phenotype.

The protein phosphatase PP2A complex, called regulator of spindle assembly (RSA), is also important for centrosomebased microtubule functions (Schlaitz *et al.* 2007). In particular, this complex is required for microtubule outgrowth from centrosomes and for microtubule stability during spindle assembly. This PP2A phosphatase complex is composed of RSA-1, (a regulatory subunit of PP2A), LET-92, (a catalytic subunit), and PAA-1, (a structural subunit). The complex localizes to the centrosomes via interaction with RSA-2, a coiledcoil–containing protein with no obvious homology in other organisms. RSA-2 recruits the PP2A complex to the centrosomes by interacting with SPD-5 and RSA-1 (Figure 4D) (Schlaitz *et al.* 2007; Boxem *et al.* 2008). RSA influences spindle assembly both by inhibiting the microtubule depolymerase KLP-7 and by upregulating the microtubule-stabilizing protein TPXL-1. However, the phosphorylated substrates targeted by this phosphatase are not known. In summary, kinases and phosphatases are recruited to the centrosomes, where they coordinate the activities of different microtubule regulators to promote spindle assembly (Figure 4D).

Kinetochore proteins and central spindle assembly

After anaphase onset, antiparallel microtubules with overlapping plus-ends form the central spindle between segregating sister chromatids, which coordinates chromosome segregation with furrow ingression during cytokinesis. After anaphase onset, the central spindle bridges the two mitotic spindle halves and opposes cortical forces that pull on astral microtubules. When the mechanical integrity of the central spindle is compromised, the cortical pulling forces promote abnormally rapid and extensive sister chromatid separation during anaphase (Figure 8).

The central spindle comprises a network of interacting proteins that are essential for cytokinesis. At the top of this network are the microtubule-bundling factors SPD-1/PRC1 and centralspindlin, the latter being a 2:2 heterotetramer of the kinesin-6 motor ZEN-4/MKLP-1 and the nonmotor subunit CYK-4/MgcRacGAP/RACGAP1, with a GTPase-activating domain for Rho family GTPases (Mishima et al. 2002; White and Glotzer 2012). SPD-1/PRC1 and the centralspindlin complex physically interact at the central spindle and both are essential for its mechanical integrity (Lee et al. 2015; Maton et al. 2015; Nahaboo et al. 2015). Consistently, SPD-1/PRC1 or ZEN-4/MKLP-1 depletion, or specific CYK-4 mutations preventing its interaction with SPD-1, result in rupture of the central spindle such that two half-spindles, each connected to segregating sister chromatids, rapidly move apart (Figure 8C). Reducing the cortical pulling forces suppresses this phenotype and rescues central spindle integrity in spd-1, zen-4, and cyk-4 mutant embryos (Figure 8, C and D) (Lee et al. 2015; Maton et al. 2015). These observations indicate that SPD-1/PRC1 and centralspindlin are required for mechanical integrity of the central spindle during its elongation, owing to their role in microtubule cross-linking, but are not absolutely required for central spindle assembly and function (Figure 8, C and D).

A subset of kinetochore proteins, including the multifaceted protein BUB-1, controls the initiation of central spindle assembly. More specifically, the BUB-1 kinetochore branch containing HCP-1/2/CENP-F and CLS-2/CLASP moves to the central spindle during anaphase and is required for its initial assembly. As mentioned earlier this pathway also is required for chromosome biorientation (Cheeseman *et al.* 2005). However, the defect in central spindle assembly in *hcp-1/2* or *cls-2(RNAi)* embryos is not an indirect consequence of defective chromosome biorientation because specific partial RNAi conditions that do not alter biorientation still cause a severe defect in central spindle mechanical integrity. Importantly, this defect is not rescued by dampening cortical pulling forces (Figure 8C), demonstrating an essential role for this central spindle assembly pathway.

How does the BUB-1 kinetochore branch promote central spindle assembly? CLS-2 is a microtubule polymerase that promotes de novo microtubule nucleation in the central spindle (Maton et al. 2015). CLS-2 recruitment to the central spindle after anaphase is accompanied by an accumulation of GFP::EBP-2 at polymerizing microtubule plus-ends (Srayko et al. 2005). This microtubule polymerization precedes the recruitment of SPD-1/PRC1 to the central spindle, indicating that SPD-1/PRC1 is not required for the initial stage of central spindle assembly. How kinetochore proteins, initially localized on the poleward face of the chromosomes, translocate to the central spindle during anaphase is unclear. As mentioned, BUB-1 is recruited to the kinetochores by the MELT repeats of KNL-1 phosphorylated by PLK-1. Upon dephosphorylation of the KNL-1 MELT repeats by the PP1 phosphatase, BUB-1 is released from KNL-1. Preventing KNL-1 dephosphorylation leads to the hyper-recruitment of BUB-1 to the kinetochores, which results in the assembly of a stronger central spindle, capable of resisting stronger astral pulling forces. This work echoes several observations in other systems where CLASP has been implicated in central spindle integrity (Inoue et al. 2004; Liu et al. 2009).

Chromosome segregation

Chromosome segregation typically involves both anaphase A and anaphase B chromosome movements. During anaphase A, the chromosomes move toward the spindle poles, whereas during anaphase B, the poles move away from each other, dragging sister chromatids with them. In *C. elegans*, the majority of chromosome movement is due to anaphase B via cortical pulling forces on astral microtubules that drive chromosome segregation (Oegema *et al.* 2001). Other factors influence the strength of the pulling forces, including KLP-7, as mentioned earlier, and EFA-6, which promotes microtubule catastrophe at the cell cortex. Cortical microtubules are more stable in *efa-6* mutant embryos, leading to an increase in astral pulling forces (O'Rourke *et al.* 2010; Lee *et al.* 2015).

Reducing cortical pulling forces by inactivating dynein regulators does not fully prevent chromatid separation in the early embryo (Colombo *et al.* 2003; Gotta *et al.* 2003), suggesting that some segregation can occur in absence of astral pulling forces on the centrosomes. Consistently, laser ablation of both centrosomes during anaphase does not prevent sister chromatid separation. RNAi-mediated depletion experiments in embryos with laser-ablated centrosomes provided evidence that CLS-2 and the RAN pathway contribute to sister chromatid separation in anaphase. A lack of RanGTP reduces the extent of chromatid segregation, whereas an excess of RAN GTP leads to increased chromatid separation in the absence of centrosomes (Nahaboo *et al.* 2015). These observations suggest that continuous microtubule polymerization in the central spindle provides an inside-out pushing



Figure 8 A subset of kinetochore components drive central spindle assembly. (A) Schematics of the assay used to assess the mechanical integrity of the central spindle. When the mechanical integrity of the central spindle is compromised ("weak central spindle"), spindle poles separate prematurely and excessively in response to the astral pulling forces (red arrows) as compared to control embryos. Downregulation of the astral pulling forces via gpr-1/2 RNAi suppresses this phenotype. (B and C) Kymographs assessing rates of chromosome segregation due to central spindle and cortical pulling force defects in embryos of the indicated genotypes. Note that gpr-1/2 inactivation rescues the excessive and premature spindle pole separation phenotype observed in cls-2(RNAi) and spd-1(RNAi). However, in contrast to spd-1+grp-1/2(RNAi) embryos, the central spindle fails to assemble in cls-2 + grp-1/2(RNAi) embryos in these conditions, indicated by the absence of the central spindle marker GFP::AIR-2 (white arrow). (D) Schematic of the $G\alpha$ pathway. *gpr-1/2* inactivation (red cross) suppresses the astral pulling forces. (E) A subset of kinetochore components acting downstream of KNL-1 regulate central spindle assembly.

force that contributes to sister chromatid segregation during anaphase. Such a mechanism is reminiscent of chromosome segregation during oocyte meiosis (Dumont *et al.* 2010; Laband *et al.* 2017). Ultrastructural analysis of the central spindle will be required to fully decipher how polymerizing microtubules between the sister chromatids contribute to chromosome segregation.

Cytokinesis: The Last Chapter in Cell Division

Mitotic cell division ends with cytokinesis, the partitioning of a dividing cell into two fully separated daughter cells (Green *et al.* 2012; White and Glotzer 2012; Glotzer 2017). This partitioning requires the actomyosin-based contractile ring, a differentiated region of cortex enriched in actin and myosin II that assembles around the cell equator beneath the plasma membrane (Figure 9 and Figure 10). Constriction of the contractile ring pulls the adjacent cortex and membrane inward to generate a cleavage furrow that ingresses toward the cell center with the contractile ring at its leading edge. The assembly and positioning of the cleavage furrow is specified by the mitotic spindle, ensuring that cytokinesis properly partitions the duplicated genome (Figure 8 and Figure 9). Constriction of the cell

to generate two adjacent daughter cells connected by an intercellular bridge. This channel is closed by a separate process called abscission that remodels the membrane to generate two separate membrane-bound daughters. Experimental manipulations of wild-type and mutant embryos, fixed- and live-cell fluorescent image analysis, and electron tomography have identified requirements for contractile ring assembly, the positioning and rate of furrowing during cytokinesis, and the final step of abscission.

Contractile ring components

The contractile ring comprises a set of filamentous proteins that provide the structural framework for cytokinesis (Figure 10 and Table 3): (i) polarized actin polymers called microfilaments (Strome 1986), (ii) short bipolar filaments of the nonmuscle myosin NMY-2 (Munro *et al.* 2004), and (iii) the nonpolar filamentous septins UNC-59 and UNC-69 (Nguyen *et al.* 2000). The contractile ring also contains the scaffolding protein anillin/ANI-1 that binds and cross-links these filamentous ring components (Maddox *et al.* 2005).

Cortical microfilaments include long linear and short branched actin filaments that depend respectively on formin proteins and the Arp2/3 complex for their assembly. In the early *C. elegans* embryo, linear cortical microfilaments





Figure 9 Contractile ring components and assembly at the cell equator during mitosis. (A) Kymographs of the equatorial region of one-cell stage embryos expressing GFP::PH to mark the plasma membrane and show furrow ingression during cytokinesis in wild type (Control) and upon mild, moderate, or severe depletion of *rho-1/*RhoA by RNA interference. Modified from Loria *et al.* (2012). (B) Schematics illustrating the role of astral microtubules and the midzone in furrow positioning. During anaphase, astral microtubules clear contractile ring proteins (orange) from the polar cortex at the anterior pole. Data supporting a role for astral microtubules in clearing contractile ring proteins at the posterior poles are less compelling. During anaphase, the spindle midzone, through centralspindlin, promotes the cortical accumulation of contractile ring proteins at the site of furrowing. In response to polar and centralspindlin signaling, the contractile ring assembles and ingresses during cytokinesis.

require the actin monomer binding protein PFN-1/profilin and the formin CYK-1 (Swan *et al.* 1998; Severson *et al.* 2002; Davies *et al.* 2014; Ding *et al.* 2017). CYK-1 also is enriched in the contractile ring (Swan *et al.* 1998), and strong reduction of CYK-1 function results in the loss of long linear cortical actin and of furrow ingression (Severson *et al.* 2002; Davies *et al.* 2014), but not of widely distributed punctate cortical actin foci that presumably represent branched Arp2/ 3-nucleated actin (Davies *et al.* 2014; Ding *et al.* 2017). Profilin in fission yeast has been shown to inhibit the Arp2/3dependent assembly of branched microfilaments while promoting formin-dependent linear microfilament assembly (Suarez *et al.* 2015). Whether only linear and not branched microfilaments in *C. elegans* require PFN-1/profilin has not been addressed.

Other contractile ring components and regulators also localize to the assembling and ingressing cleavage furrow. The myosin motor NMY-2 exhibits a dynamic cortical localization pattern that undergoes extensive reorganization as the cell-cycle progresses (Munro et al. 2004), ultimately enriching in the cleavage furrow just before and during ingression (Nguyen et al. 2000; Maddox et al. 2005). Cortical NMY-2 localization depends on PFN-1 (Severson et al. 2002), although its dependence on actin filaments has not been reported. The widely conserved actin cross-linking protein PLST-1/Plastin colocalizes with cortical microfilaments in the early C. elegans embryo and contributes to cortical stiffness and cortical actomyosin dynamics (Ding et al. 2017). While cytokinesis fails in only about 15% of *plst-1* null mutant embryos, the initiation of furrow ingression is delayed and the initial rate of ingression is decreased in mutant embryos that complete cytokinesis.

The small GTPase RHO-1/RhoA is the central signaling molecule that controls contractile ring assembly. Signaling by the anaphase spindle activates RhoA at the cell equator, and active RhoA is in turn required for recruitment of all of the other components of the contractile ring (Jantsch-Plunger *et al.* 2000; Dechant and Glotzer 2003; Motegi *et al.* 2006; Loria *et al.* 2012). RhoA is activated by the guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) ECT-2 (Somers and Saint 2003; Yüce *et al.* 2005; Burkard *et al.* 2009; Wolfe *et al.* 2009; Loria *et al.* 2012; Zhang and Glotzer 2015; Basant and Glotzer 2017), and is inactivated by the RhoA GAP RGA-3/4 (Schmutz *et al.* 2007; Schonegg *et al.* 2007). Active RHO-1/RhoA localizes to the furrow, while ECT-2 appears uniformly distributed over the cortex but is presumably activated only at the furrow (Motegi *et al.* 2006).

The septins UNC-59 and UNC-61 coassemble to form nonpolar membrane-associated filaments (John et al. 2007) that localize to cleavage furrows in early embryonic cells and are required for cytokinesis postembryonically. In early embryos, the septins are not essential for cytokinesis, but increase its fidelity, as septin knockdown results in low-level cytokinesis failure (Nguyen et al. 2000; Maddox et al. 2005; A. S. Maddox et al. 2007). The contractile ring component anillin/ANI-1 is required to recruit the septins but not NMY-2 or actin to localize at the cleavage furrow. Consistent with its role in targeting the septins, anillin inhibition also results in low-level cytokinesis failure (Nguyen et al. 2000; Maddox et al. 2005; A. S. Maddox et al. 2007; Tse et al. 2011). More recently, another contractile ring component, the BTB domain protein CYK-7, has been shown to be required for cytokinesis (Green et al. 2011), but how it contributes to contractile ring assembly or function has not been reported.



Figure 10 Signaling pathways that control cortical activity during cytokinesis. Summary of the genetic pathways that influence contractile ring assembly and ingression during cytokinesis in the early *C. elegans* embryo.

Contractile ring assembly and dynamics

Contractile ring assembly initiates during anaphase with the recruitment of contractile ring proteins to an ${\sim}10\text{-}\mu\text{m}\text{-}\text{wide}$ equatorial band that encircles the cell equator. Recruitment of contractile ring components causes the cortex within the ring to compress (Lewellyn et al. 2011; Reymann et al. 2016; Khaliullin et al. 2018), concentrating contractile ring components within the ring, aligning formin-nucleated actin filaments around the ring, and generating long-range cortical flows toward the ring (Reymann et al. 2016; Ding et al. 2017; Khaliullin et al. 2018). As the ring constricts, it pulls the adjacent cortex behind it to generate the division plane. Because of the geometry change that accompanies constriction, the surface area of the cell increases \sim 1.4-fold as the ring closes. Generation of a three-dimensional map of cortical flow during cytokinesis suggest that this additional surface is gained at the cell poles through a process that includes expansion of the polar cell cortex. Laser-cutting experiments combined with the flow map indicate that, in response to tension generated by the constricting ring, the cortex at the cell poles expands to generate the additional cortical surface area required to cover the daughter cells. During this process, myosin foci at the poles are inferred to move more rapidly, in contrast to more centrally located foci that were found to move at a constant rate, flowing toward the ring without expanding when pulled by the ring. These results suggest that the mechanical properties of the polar cortex are distinct from those of the intervening cortex, although the molecular mechanism underlying polar cortical expansion remains unknown (Khaliullin et al. 2018).

During each of the first three divisions of the *C. elegans* embryo, there is a substantial period following the onset of ring constriction when the overall rate of ring closure remains approximately constant despite the fact that the ring is progressively decreasing in size (Zumdieck *et al.* 2007; Carvalho

et al. 2009; Bourdages et al. 2014). Thus the per-unit-length rate of closure increases as the circumference decreases. A recent study has shown that per unit length, the rate of ring closure, the amount of ring components, and the rate of cortical compression all increase with parallel exponential kinetics as the ring closes. The exponential kinetics suggest control by positive feedback. Mathematical modeling indicates that a positive feedback loop can explain the observed contractile ring dynamics: ring myosin compresses the cortex within the ring, which pulls additional cortex loaded with myosin into the ring, thereby increasing the amount of ring myosin (Khaliullin et al. 2018). Thus, it has been proposed that positive feedback between ring myosin and compression-driven cortical flow drives an exponential increase in the per-unit-length constriction rate that balances the reduction in ring size during constriction to allow the ring to maintain a high overall constriction rate. This proposed feedback-based mechanism for contractile ring component accumulation may render ring constriction robust to mechanical challenges including internal obstructions and cell-cell contacts. During the first three embryonic divisions, this approximately constant overall constriction rate is maintained until the ring comes into contact with the spindle midzone at a circumference of \sim 20 μ m. After this transition point, the constriction rate progressively slows, likely due to the mechanical influence of the midzone as well as the signaling-based mechanisms that prepare the intercellular bridge for abscission (Carvalho et al. 2009).

Another recent study suggests that contractile ring constriction may also drive rotation of cell division axes during both *C. elegans* and mouse embryogenesis. In response to adhesive cell contact, cortical flow near the site of contact is inhibited. As the entire cell surface and cortex are an integrated mechanical unit that moves in a coordinated fashion during cytokinesis (Hird and White 1993; Reymann *et al.*

C. elegans protein	C. elegans gene	Vertebrate ortholog	Brief description of localization and function	TS alleles (* indicates fast acting)
NMY-2	nmy-2(F20G4.3)	nonmuscle myosin II	Localizes to the contractile ring during cytokinesis as well as the other cortical contractile structure	ne3409*, ne1490*
MLC-4	mlc-4(C56G7.1)	nonmuscle myosin II regulatory light chain	Regulates the ability of myosin II to form filaments and interact with actin; localizes to the contractile ring during cytokinesis as well as the other cortical contractile structure	
LET-502	<i>let-502</i> (C10H11.9)	Rho-binding kinase (ROK)	Rho-binding serine/threonine kinase; promotes myosin Il contractility by increasing the phosphorylation of MLC-4; localizes to the contractile ring	
MEL-11	mel-11(C06C3.1)	Myosin phosphatase targeting subunit (MYPT)	Regulatory subunit of myosin phosphatase; inhibits cortical contraction by de-phosphorylating the regulatory light chain of myosin II; LET-502 and MEL- 11 colocalize in cleavage furrows	
RHO-1	rho-1(Y51H4A.3)	RhoA	Small GTPase that connects signaling by the ana- phase spindle to assembly and ingression of a cortical contractile ring; localizes to the furrow	
RGA-3/4	rga-3(K09H11.3); rga-4(Y75B7AL.4)	Not identified	Rho GTPase activating proteins regulating RHO-1 in the early embryo	
ECT-2	<i>let-21</i> (T19E10.1)	Ect2	Guanine nucleotide exchange factor; activates RHO-1; uniformly distributed over the cortex but presumably activated at the furrow	
СҮК-1	<i>cyk-1</i> (F11H8.4)	formins	A member of the formin family of proteins, promotes actin assembly in response to activation of Rho family GTPases; localizes to the cleavage furrow and is required to initiate furrow ingression	or596*
PFN-1	<i>pfn-1</i> (Y18D10A. 20)	profillin	One of three <i>C. elegans</i> homologs of the actin binding protein profilin	
ANI-1	<i>ani-1</i> (Y49E10.19)	Anillin	One of the three C. <i>elegans</i> anillins; required for contractile events in the early embryo	
UNC-59;UNC-61	unc-59(W09C5.2); unc-61(Y50E8A.4)	septins	C. elegans homologs of the septins form nonpolar membrane-associated filaments	
NOP-1	nop-1(F25B5.2)	Not identified	Contributes to RHO-1 activation	
UNC-60A	unc-60(C38C3.5)	cofilin	Regulates actin filament dynamics	
ZEN-4	<i>zen-4</i> (M03D4.1)	kinesin-6 family member MKLP1	Interacts with CYK-4 to form the centralspindlin complex; localizes microtubule bundles in the spindle midzone and midbody	or153*
СҮК-4	<i>cyk-4</i> (K08E3.6)	MgcRacGAP	Interacts with ZEN-4 to form the centralspindlin complex; localizes microtubule bundles in the spindle midzone and midbody	or749*
AIR-2	<i>air-2</i> (B0207.4)	Aurora B	Mitotic serine threonine kinase part of the chromosome passenger complex (CPC)	or207*
ICP-1CeINCENP	<i>icp-1</i> (Y39G10AR. 13)	INCENP	Part of the chromosome passenger complex (CPC)	or663*
BIR-1	bir-1(T27F2.3)	Survivin	Part of the chromosome passenger complex (CPC)	
CSC-1	csc-1(Y48E1B.12)	Borealin, Dasra A/B	Part of the chromosome passenger complex (CPC)	
SPD-1	spd-1(Y34D9A.4)	PRC1	Microtubule bundling factor; localizes to microtubule bundles in the spindle midzone	

2016; Khaliullin *et al.* 2018; Sugioka and Bowerman 2018), the contact-induced reduction in cortical flow likely arises because cell contact generates a drag that prevents the cortex in that region from flowing in response to ring generated tension. This contact-induced cessation of flow leads to an anisotropy in cortical flow that is proposed to generate a cell-surface torque that rotates the cell division axis (Sugioka and Bowerman 2018). In addition, cortical flows perpendicular to the long axis of the cell have also been observed. In the one-cell stage embryo, this causes the cortex in the anterior and posterior halves of the embryo to counter-rotate relative to

each other. Counter-rotating cortical flows also are observed in subsequent divisions (Naganathan *et al.* 2014; Sugioka and Bowerman 2018), and recent theoretical work has provided a potential explanation for how force and torque generation at the molecular scale could give rise to these larger-scale rotational flows (Naganathan *et al.* 2014).

A study analyzing contractile ring constriction during the first four embryonic divisions revealed that the initial rate of ring constriction depends on cell size. The per-unit-length constriction rate is the same for all of these divisions (the mechanistic basis for this is not understood), so larger cells have a proportionally higher overall initial ingression rate than smaller cells (Carvalho et al. 2009). Because the initial constriction rate is proportional to cell size, all early embryonic cells are able to complete cytokinesis in roughly the same amount of time, which may be important for the spatial organization of cell fates during embryogenesis. Photobleaching experiments have shown that once myosin, anillin, and the septins are in the ring, they do not exchange with components in the cytoplasm. Instead, components are lost due to disassembly in proportion to the reduction in ring perimeter (Carvalho et al. 2009; Khaliullin et al. 2018). Addition of latrunculin A after ingression initiates, to prevent further actin assembly, does not prevent or slow down constriction, suggesting that continuous actin assembly is not needed (Carvalho et al. 2009). This result is consistent with upshift experiments utilizing a fast-acting TS allele of the formin CYK-1, which have shown that it is required only during ring assembly and not during constriction (Davies et al. 2014). A possible caveat to these experiments is that the latrunculin A experiments were performed before the development of robust methods for eggshell permeabilization, and even fastacting TS mutant proteins might in some contexts resist inactivation depending on their molecular environment. In contrast to CYK-1 activity, upshift experiments utilizing a fast-acting NMY-2 allele indicate that myosin II is required throughout ingression (Liu et al. 2010; Davies et al. 2014). Understanding exactly how myosin II drives ring constriction is currently an important challenge.

While most studies of contractile ring dynamics have focused on factors that promote furrow ingression, a recent study identified an inhibitory role for HMR-1, a transmembrane protein and the sole classical cadherin in C. elegans (Padmanabhan et al. 2017). HMR-1 mediates cell-cell adhesion and has essential roles in gastrulation, cell polarity, and epidermal morphogenesis. However, it also has cell-cell adhesion-independent roles during early embryogenesis. Clusters of HMR-1 localize to the cell cortex in the one-cell zygote and other early blastomeres, where they impede actomyosin flow and limit NMY-2 levels. During cytokinesis, HMR-1 is excluded from the ingressing contractile ring, and HMR-1 knockdown results in faster ingression. Conversely, HMR-1 overexpression slows ingression, independently of NMY-2 and the HMR-1 extracellular domain. The cytoplasmic catenin-binding domain in HMR-1 is required for this inhibitory influence on furrow ingression, and knockdown of the C. elegans β -catenin HMP-2 also leads to more rapid ingression. These results suggest that HMR-1 interacts through HMP-2 with actin filaments, independently of microfilament assembly, to somehow reduce the rate of contractile ring constriction.

A final intriguing characteristic of contractile ring dynamics in the early embryo is the pronounced asymmetry of ingression, which occurs first and more extensively from one side. This phenomenon has been observed in other settings, but in *C. elegans*, it requires the ring components anillin and septin (A. S. Maddox *et al.* 2007). During asymmetric constriction,

the ring components NMY-2, anillin, septin, and microfilaments are all more concentrated on the side that has ingressed the farthest, suggesting that component accumulation may represent a record of how far that side of the ring has ingressed (A. S. Maddox et al. 2007; Khaliullin et al. 2018). Ingression and the accumulation of contractile ring components is symmetric in embryos depleted of the septins or anillin (A. S. Maddox et al. 2007), which is required to recruit the septins to the ring (Maddox et al. 2005). In septininhibited embryos, the contractile ring is more sensitive to loss of the Rho kinase LET-502, with double mutants exhibiting synthetic decreases in both furrowing rate and the completion of cytokinesis. Thus asymmetric furrowing may serve to make cytokinesis more resilient during perturbations that might otherwise prevent successful development (A. S. Maddox et al. 2007), although the synthetic defect could reflect contributions made by these factors to other processes. Finally, codepletion of both anillin and the nematode specific RhoA regulator NOP-1 (see below) restores contractile ring asymmetry, indicating that other factors can also contribute to this process (Tse et al. 2012).

Two mitotic spindle signals influence contractile ring assembly

Signals from the anaphase mitotic spindle control contractile ring assembly, coordinating chromosome segregation with cytokinesis to ensure proper inheritance of the genome (von Dassow 2009). Two signals from the spindle appear to mediate ring assembly in a partially redundant fashion, one signal emanating from the spindle poles and another from the central spindle (Figure 9). The existence of two signals was first noted when a late cytokinesis defect, caused by mutational loss of the central spindle (see below), and simultaneous loss of other gene functions that promote spindle elongation but, by themselves, do not prevent cytokinesis, led to a synthetic loss of ingression (Dechant and Glotzer 2003). Experimental manipulation of the mitotic spindle in wild-type one-cell stage embryos subsequently provided a more explicit documentation of two spindle signals (Bringmann and Hyman 2005). Asymmetric laser severing of the spindle at anaphase onset, between one pole and the two sets of separating chromosomes attached to the other pole, led to excessive pole separation and the appearance of two furrows, one positioned midway between the two poles and another positioned over the displaced central spindle, closer to the attached pole. Knockdown of contractile ring components led to loss of both furrows, while knockdown of factors required for central spindle assembly led to loss of only the midzone-positioned furrow. Further support for distinct pole and midzone spindle signals came from analysis of cytokinetic furrowing in mutant one-cell stage embryos with destabilized astral microtubules and posteriorly displaced and transversely oriented mitotic spindles (Werner et al., 2007). In these mutants, two furrows also form: one from the posterior pole that bisects the transversely oriented spindle and depends on the spindle midzone, and a second circumferential furrow positioned toward the anterior pole, distal to the displaced spindle, that forms independently of the midzone. Finally, delayed spindle elongation and pole separation, resulting from knockdown of the TPX2 ortholog TPXL-1, only delays furrowing, while knockdown of TPXL-1 combined with spindle midzone disruption results in its complete absence (Lewellyn *et al.* 2010). These studies all indicate that signals from both the spindle poles and the central spindle influence contractile ring assembly and position.

Molecular pathways that mediate furrow signaling from the spindle poles

Genetic approaches have identified factors that mediate the influence of spindle poles on contractile ring assembly (Figure 9). The cortically localized $G\alpha$ proteins GOA-1 and GPA-16 and their regulators GPR-1/2 and LET-99, which influence mitotic spindle positioning, were shown to be required for furrowing in a spindle midzone-defective mutant, or after laser ablation of the spindle midzone (Bringmann et al. 2007). The spindle poles position a band of LET-99 at the future site of furrowing, and LET-99 prevents the accumulation of GPR-1/2 at the furrowing site. GPR-1/2 localize to the cortex where they regulate pulling forces on astral microtubules that position the mitotic spindle and control its elongation (Rose and Gonczy 2014). GPR-1/2 could therefore exert their effects on cytokinesis via their influence on spindle structure or through direct effects on the cortex, or from a combination of the two. Further insight into the role of G protein-signaling comes from the simultaneous knockdown of GPR-1/2 and TPXL-1: in addition to the delay in furrowing, a broader more diffuse contractile ring assembles and multiple furrows form. This phenotype may arise due to the prolonged delay in pole separation resulting from the double inhibition combined with the loss of a TPXL-1-dependent mechanism that clears contractile ring proteins from the poles (see below), suggesting that G protein-mediated signaling from the poles restricts furrowing to a single site (Lewellyn et al. 2010).

The contractile ring scaffolding protein anillin/ANI-1 also has been implicated in spindle pole control of furrow formation (Tse et al. 2011). ANI-1 knockdown in one-cell stage zyg-9(-) mutants—with a posteriorly displaced and transversely oriented mitotic spindle-eliminates the anterior pole-dependent furrow that forms, but not the posterior furrow induced by the displaced spindle midzone. Anillin is required for the formation of large cortical NMY-2 foci, with astral MTs inhibiting the cortical localization of anillin, thereby positioning anillin, large NMY-2 foci and a contractile ring toward the anterior pole once cortical microtubule density is sufficiently low. These results are to some extent consistent with the findings that simultaneous GPR-1/2 and TPXL-1 knockdown results in a broader distribution of anillin and the formation of multiple furrows (Lewellyn et al. 2010), and that G protein-mediated signaling by GOA-1 and GPA-16, and their regulators GPR-1/2, contribute to pole signaling (Bringmann et al. 2007).

Observations from different model systems indicate that mitotic spindle poles and their astral microtubules inhibit the cortical accumulation of contractile ring components at the two poles of a dividing cell, thereby limiting their circumferential enrichment to the cortical region encircling the central spindle (von Dassow 2009). In C. elegans, reducing astral microtubule contact with the cortex via nocodazole treatment, combined with knocking down a ubiquitin ligase that targets the microtubule-severing complex katanin for proteasomal degradation after the completion of oocyte meiosis, results in dramatic furrowing throughout the entire cell cortex, consistent with such an inhibitory role for astral microtubules (Kurz et al. 2002; Pintard et al. 2003). The mechanism underlying this inhibition of cortical actomyosin contractility by astral microtubules has recently been shown involve both the TPX2 ortholog TPXL-1 and the Aurora A kinase AIR-1 (Mangal et al. 2018). Knockdown of TPXL-1 results in a failure to clear contractile ring components from the anterior cortex, although clearing from the posterior cortex in wild-type embryos is less apparent. This loss of anterior cortical contractile ring components is not due to the delayed spindle elongation associated with TPXL-1 knockdown, as it also is observed after simultaneous kinetochore disruption that results in premature and excessive pole separation. AIR-1 has been previously implicated as part of the pole signaling that influences contractile ring assembly (Motegi et al. 2006), and expression of a TPXL-1 mutant predicted to be defective in activating AIR-1 fails to rescue anterior cortical clearing after knockdown of endogenous TPXL-1. Moreover, TPXL-1, like AIR-1, localizes to spindle poles and astral microtubules (Figure 9B), and the localization of AIR-1 to astral microtubules depends on TPXL-1. Thus astral microtubuleassociated TPXL-1 appears to act through AIR-1 to mediate the clearing of contractile ring components from the anterior cortex, presumably through the diffusion of active AIR-1 to the cortex, where it may phosphorylate unknown targets to promote removal of contractile ring components (Mangal et al. 2018).

In summary, these studies in *C. elegans* have identified mechanisms by which the spindle poles influence contractile ring assembly, but whether these influences constitute a single signaling pathway or the combined effects of multiple parallel pathways is not clear. Higher resolution imaging of contractile ring components in the different contexts that have been used to study pole signaling might advance our understanding of the different gene requirements identified thus far.

NOP-1: a nematode-specific regulator of cytokinesis contributes to spindle pole signaling

NOP-1, a protein that thus far appears to be nematode-specific, has a nonessential but important role during cytokinesis (Fievet *et al.* 2012; Morton *et al.* 2012; Tse *et al.* 2012; Zhang and Glotzer 2015). The *nop-1* gene (<u>no</u> <u>P</u>seudocleavage), which encodes a serine-rich protein with no conserved domains, was named for the absence of the pseudocleavage furrow during the first embryonic mitosis, a prominent but transient invagination of the cell membrane that accompanies polarization of the zygote along the anterior-posterior body axis (Rose et al. 1995). Although homozygous nop-1 mutants are viable, $\sim 20\%$ of *nop-1* mutant embryos fail to hatch (Rose et al. 1995), indicating that NOP-1 has important roles. NOP-1 contributes to the actomyosin-dependent establishment of anterior-posterior polarity in the one-cell stage embryo (Tse et al. 2012). Additionally, although cytokinesis is not defective in *nop-1* mutants, eliminating NOP-1 function in a hypomorphic ect-2 mutant that also completes cytokinesis leads to a synthetic loss of furrowing and cytokinesis (Zonies et al. 2010). These results suggest that NOP-1 contributes to RhoA activation, although it is not essential for it under normal conditions (Tse et al. 2012). Importantly, double mutants lacking both NOP-1 and CYK-4 are completely defective in furrowing and exhibit a synthetic loss of cortical NMY-2, microfilaments and active RhoA (detected using a fragment of anillin fused to GFP that serves as a biosensor for active RhoA) midway between the spindle poles during anaphase. Furthermore, in mutants with a posteriorly displaced and transversely oriented mitotic spindle in the onecell embryo, NOP-1 is fully required for the anterior spindle pole-dependent furrowing and partially required for the midzone-dependent posterior furrowing. Normally, exit from mitosis triggers RhoA activation and cortical contractility for cytokinesis (Green et al. 2012). NOP-1 may represent a nematode-specific adaptation that allows RhoA activation during a window of cortical contractility before mitosis to facilitate the establishment of polarity. To summarize, in the absence of NOP-1, cytokinesis depends entirely on signaling by the central spindle, indicating that NOP-1 plays a role in pole signaling during the first embryonic cytokinesis, although whether it has a similar role in subsequent cell divisions is not known.

Centralspindlin and cytokinesis: the role of the CYK-4 GAP domain

The signaling by the spindle midzone that specifies contractile ring assembly critically depends on a protein complex comprising the kinesin-6 ZEN-4 and the Rho family GTPaseactivating protein CYK-4 (Raich et al. 1998; Jantsch-Plunger et al. 2000; Severson et al. 2000; Powers et al. 2004). This widely conserved complex was dubbed centralspindlin due to its role in cross-linking antiparallel microtubules between the separating chromosomes to promote assembly of the central spindle during anaphase (Mishima et al. 2002). ZEN-4 and CYK-4 form parallel homodimers that associate to form a heterotetramer that can cross-link antiparallel microtubules (Mishima et al. 2002; Pavicic-Kaltenbrunner et al. 2007). ZEN-4 and CYK-4 are mutually dependent on each other for localization to the spindle midzone, and genetic suppression studies confirm the functional importance of their interaction (Jantsch-Plunger et al. 2000). Centralspindlin also requires the upstream-acting Aurora B kinase AIR-2 (Severson et al. 2000) and other members of the chromosomal passenger complex (CPC) (Kaitna et al. 2000; Hutterer *et al.* 2009; Lewellyn *et al.* 2011; Basant *et al.* 2015), to localize to the central spindle. A direct interaction between centralspindlin and the microtubule cross-linking protein SPD-1/PRC further promotes central spindle stability (Lee *et al.* 2015). Centralspindlin is also a target of cell-cycle regulation, with the cyclin-dependent kinase CDK-1 inhibiting centralspindlin assembly (Mishima *et al.* 2004). In the absence of either ZEN-4 or CYK-4, cytokinetic furrowing initiates in a NOP-1–dependent fashion (Tse *et al.* 2012), but only ingresses halfway and ultimately regresses. Temperature upshifts with conditional alleles indicate that both CYK-4 and ZEN-4 are also required late in cytokinesis (Severson *et al.* 2000; Davies *et al.* 2014).

Across systems, including C. elegans, there is good evidence that CYK-4 homologs play a role in the local activation of the small GTPase RhoA to promote contractile ring assembly (Motegi et al. 2006; Loria et al. 2012; Zhang and Glotzer 2015; Basant and Glotzer 2018). Consistent with a role in activating RhoA, CYK-4 orthologs have been shown to bind ECT-2 via a region in their N-terminal half, positioned between the coiled-coil and C1 domains, and this binding is proposed to relieve autoinhibition of ECT-2 to activate RhoA for contractile ring assembly (Somers and Saint 2003; Yüce et al. 2005; Burkard et al. 2009; Wolfe et al. 2009; Loria et al. 2012; Zhang and Glotzer 2015; Basant and Glotzer 2017). It is surprising that a GAP domain, expected to inactivate small GTPases by stimulating their GTP hydrolysis activity, acts to promote RhoA signaling (Basant and Glotzer 2017). Recent work has shown that mutations that specifically disrupt the Rho GTPase binding interface of the GAP domain compromise RhoA activation during cytokinesis (Zhang and Glotzer 2015). To explain this, it was proposed that the CYK-4 GAP interacts directly with the GEF domain to activate it, However, although pulldown experiments have suggested that the CYK-4 GAP domain can interact with the ECT-2 GEF domain, in vitro tests have so far failed to provide evidence that GAP domain binding can activate the ECT-2 GEF (Zhang and Glotzer 2015).

Centralspindlin also functions in the syncytial C. elegans germline (Zhou et al. 2013; K. Y. Lee et al. 2018), where it localizes to stable intercellular bridges. In the hermaphrodite germline, CYK-4 is required for a cytokinesis-like event that closes these intercellular bridges to cellularize oocytes (K. Y. Lee et al. 2018). As in cytokinesis, CYK-4 is required for RhoA activation in the germline. Interestingly, although ZEN-4 also is present in the germline, it is not essential for oocyte cellularization, which may reflect the fact that contractile signaling is not patterned by midzone-like microtubule-based structures in this context. In the germline, the Rho GTPase binding interface of the GAP domain plays an essential role in targeting CYK-4 to intercellular bridges, likely via binding to active membrane-associated RhoA (K. Y. Lee et al. 2018). The adjacent lipid-binding C1 domain is also independently required for targeting (Zhang and Glotzer 2015; K. Y. Lee et al. 2018). This has led to the proposal that the conserved C1-GAP region of CYK-4 constitutes a targeting module that functions in a fashion similar to the targeting mechanism recently identified for anillin, in which its C2, Rho-binding, and PH domains all form low-affinity interactions that collectively target anillin to the membrane (Sun *et al.* 2015). In the context of RhoA activation, positive feedback might promote RhoA activation, with activated RhoA generated by CYK-4 recruiting additional CYK-4 through its C1-GAP module. Whether the C1-GAP module has a similar role in targeting centralspindlin to the membrane during cytokinesis is not yet clear, as the prominent localization of CYK-4 to midzone microtubules makes the membrane-associated population difficult to assess.

In addition to the potential contributions of the CYK-4 GAP domain to RhoA activation, the CYK-4 GAP domain may also contribute to cytokinesis by inactivating Rac. Across systems, biochemical experiments have revealed that CYK-4 is a substantially better GAP for Rac and Cdc42 than RhoA (Touré et al. 1998; Jantsch-Plunger et al. 2000; Kawashima et al. 2000; Minoshima et al. 2003; Bastos et al. 2012). Work in Xenopus epithelia has also revealed a dramatic increase in active Rac when the CYK-4 ortholog is inhibited (Breznau et al. 2015), providing evidence that CYK-4 orthologs do inactivate Rac in vivo in some contexts. In C. elegans, inhibition of the Rac1 GTPase CED-10 can suppress cytokinesis defects resulting from cyk-4 inhibition (Canman et al. 2008; Zhuravlev et al. 2017). The idea that the GAP activity of CYK-4 could contribute to cytokinesis by inactivating Rac originated with the isolation of recessive, TS, separation-offunction mutations in cyk-4 that do not disrupt central spindle assembly or centralspindlin localization, but nevertheless result in the same compromised furrow ingression observed after more complete reduction of CYK-4 function. The cytokinesis defect caused by these special cyk-4 alleles can be partially rescued by reducing CED-10/Rac1 or the Rac1 target Arp2/3 (Canman et al. 2008; Zhuravlev et al. 2017). Because CED-10/Rac1 promotes the Arp2/3-dependent assembly of branched cortical microfilaments, downregulation of CED-10/Rac1 is proposed to decrease or prevent branched microfilament assembly such that the compromised cytokinesis furrow can ingress to completion. Notably, the rate of ring constriction is not rescued by CED-10/Rac1 inhibition, and a forward genetic screen for suppressors of a separation of function cyk-4 allele, which specifically interferes with furrowing and not with central spindle assembly, identified gainof-function alleles of the RhoA GEF ect-2. Together with the finding that CYK-4 GAP activity is required for furrowing even in the absence of CED-10/Rac1, these observations are more consistent with CYK-4 promoting RhoA activation (Zhang and Glotzer 2015; Basant and Glotzer 2018). Furthermore, knockdown of Arp2/3 does not affect the cortical compression that accompanies furrow ingression (Khaliullin et al. 2018), further supporting a primary role for CYK-4 as a RhoA activator. Thus, although inhibition of CED-10/Rac1 can rescue cytokinesis defects in cyk-4 mutant embryos, it is still unclear whether CED-10/Rac1 is inhibited by CYK-4 in the context of normal cytokinesis to facilitate furrowing.

In summary, there is good evidence that the CYK-4 GAP domain contributes to the role of CYK-4 in Rho activation either by promoting its targeting to the membrane or by directly interacting with the ECT-2 GEF domain to activate it. The CYK-4 GAP domain may also have a second nonmutually exclusive function in inactivating CED-10/Rac1 to facilitate furrowing (Figure 10). More work is needed to understand how CYK-4 activates RhoA, and to assess the functional importance of the ability of the CYK-4 GAP to inactivate Rac1.

Further contributions from the spindle midzone to the regulation of cytokinesis

Molecular genetic studies of cytokinesis in C. elegans have focused largely on identifying the mechanisms by which the spindle poles and centralspindlin signal to the cortex to regulate contractile ring assembly. However, other activities that are not as directly associated with these two cues from the anaphase mitotic spindle have also been identified. First, assembly of the spindle midzone in animal models depends on two other factors in addition to centralspindlin: the CPC and the microtubule cross-linking protein PRC1. Both of these spindle midzone factors also contribute to cytokinesis in C. elegans (von Dassow 2009; Green et al. 2012). The CPC consists of four proteins: the Aurora B kinase (AIR-2 in C. elegans) and INCENP, Survivin, and Borealin (ICP-1, BIR-2, and CSC-1 in C. elegans). Depletion of any one of the CPC components reduces the rate of furrow ingression, disrupts the spindle midzone and centralspindlin localization at the midzone, and results in chromosome segregation defects and a late failure in cytokinesis (Kaitna et al. 2000; Hutterer et al. 2009; Lewellyn et al. 2011; Basant et al. 2015). Furthermore, AIR-2 phosphorylates the ZEN-4 subunit of centralspindlin, and this phosphorylation event releases centralspindlin from a complex with the 14-3-3 protein PAR-5, allowing for centralspindlin to assemble into clusters at the spindle midzone that appear to mediate its influence on cytokinesis (Guse et al. 2005; Basant et al. 2015). Thus AIR-2 appears to act upstream of centralspindlin to influence its localization and function. Consistent with such a pathway relationship, TS alleles indicate that AIR-2 acts earlier in cytokinesis than CYK-4 and ZEN-4 (Severson et al. 2000; Davies et al. 2014). An analysis of contractile ring component dynamics and the genetic interactions of AIR-2 and centralspindlin with other ring components and regulators suggests that AIR-2 may have additional roles in cytokinesis beyond influencing the localization and function of centralspindlin (Lewellyn et al. 2011). However, the nature of these additional roles is not known. Because knockdown of PAR-5 bypasses AIR-2 requirements for furrowing (Basant et al. 2015), AIR-2 appears to promote cytokinesis primarily by dissociating centralspindlin from PAR-5 such that it can assemble into its active oligomeric form (Basant and Glotzer 2018).

While SPD-1/PRC1, like the CPC and centralspindlin, is required for assembly of the spindle midzone, loss of SPD-1 does not affect furrow ingression or the completion of cytokinesis, in contrast to PRC requirements in other animal models (Verbrugghe and White 2004). In the absence of SPD-1, the central spindle is disrupted such that the spindle poles separate prematurely and rapidly, as in centralspindlin mutants, but ZEN-4 is detected at the cortex early in furrow formation, suggesting that in the absence of SPD-1/PRC1, centralspindlin at the midzone cortex can still promote furrowing and the completion of cytokinesis. Indeed, the membrane localization of centralspindlin is likely important for RhoA activation even in cells with an intact central spindle (Basant and Glotzer 2018). Although SPD-1/PRC1 is not essential for cytokinesis during the first mitotic division of the embryo, penetrant cytokinesis defects do occur in some later stage embryonic cells (Verbrugghe and White 2004). Thus SPD-1/PRC1 is important for cytokinesis, but not during the initial embryonic cell divisions. Why the requirement for SPD-1 changes over time during early embryogenesis, and how extensively SPD-1/PRC1 is required for cytokinesis later in embryogenesis, are not clear.

Cell polarity and cytokinesis

The actomyosin cytoskeleton is important for both cytokinesis and cell polarity, and a recent study suggests that cell polarity may contribute to cytokinesis in the one-cell stage embryo (Jordan et al. 2016). This contribution was initially observed in double mutants with TS mutations in both the formin gene cyk-1 and the nonmuscle myosin gene nmy-2. When grown at a semipermissive temperature that does not prevent cytokinesis in either single mutant, a synthetic cytokinesis failure is observed in the double mutant. Surprisingly, this synthetic cytokinesis defect occurs only upon temperature-upshifts before cytokinesis, during the establishment of anterior-posterior polarity, and not after later upshifts immediately before or during cytokinesis. Furthermore, knockdown of the core polarity proteins PAR-2 or PAR-6 both lead to decreased levels of microfilaments in the contractile ring, and to a synthetic cytokinesis defect in TS cyk-1 mutants at the semi-permissive temperature. PAR-2 or PAR-6 knockdown also results in a loss of the anterior cortical enrichment of the contractile ring components anillin and septin, while knockdown of anillin or septin do not affect polarity but do lead to increased levels of microfilaments in the contractile ring. Finally, septin or anillin knockdown completely rescues the cytokinesis defect in par; cyk-1 double mutants. Together, the results suggest that anterior-posterior polarity sequesters anillin and the septins to the anterior cortex, limiting their levels at furrow to promote contractile ring assembly. Whether this contribution of the PAR proteins is important only during the division of polarized cells, and whether it contributes to polarized cell divisions later in embryogenesis and during larval development, are not known.

Abscission: the last chapter in cytokinesis

During furrow ingression, the contractile ring constricts around the central spindle. Observations across systems suggest that as constriction nears completion the central spindle and contractile ring respectively mature to form the microtubule-based midbody and the cortical midbody ring, which coordinately bring about abscission. Efforts have primarily focused on the role of the microtubule-based midbody in recruiting components, such as the ESCRT filament system that is proposed to bring about the final closure of the intercellular bridge (Fededa and Gerlich 2012; Green *et al.* 2012). However, recent work in *C. elegans* has challenged these ideas, and has highlighted the role of the cortical midbody ring (actin and the septins), rather than midbody microtubules, in abscission (Green *et al.* 2013; König *et al.* 2017)

A detailed analysis of abscission during the first division of the C. elegans embryo has been performed using both light and cryo-electron microscopy (Green et al. 2013; König et al. 2017). Structural views of the intercellular bridge revealed that the interval between the onset of furrow ingression and engulfment of a membrane-bound intercellular bridge remnant into the posterior cell, is $\sim 15 \text{ min}$ (König et al. 2017). Furrow ingression to reach the point where the contractile ring closes around the central spindle microtubules to form an intercellular bridge takes \sim 3 min. Over the next 4 min, the microtubules passing through the intercellular bridge disassemble. Notably, the microtubules completely disappear from the bridge well before abscission occurs, while the intercellular bridge is still open to the cytoplasm on both sides. Abscission, defined as sealing off of the plasma membrane between the bridge and one of the daughter cells, occurs \sim 5–6 min after the microtubules are lost from the bridge. Whether the junction between the anterior cell and the bridge or the posterior cell and the bridge closed first appears to be a random event. Completion of abscission by the second cell leaves a membrane bound intercellular bridge remnant that contains cortical midbody ring components (but no microtubules) in the extracellular space. This membrane bound remnant is ultimately engulfed into the posterior cell about 15 min after the onset of furrow ingression. The fact that midbody microtubules are lost well before abscission occurs suggests that these microtubules are not required for abscission. Consistent with this idea, abscission and internalization of the intercellular bridge remnant occur normally in embryos depleted of SPD-1, which is required for assembly of the microtubule bundles in the central spindle. In SPD-1-depleted embryos, microtubules are not observed to pass through the intercellular bridge even at early stages. In contrast to microtubules, actin filaments are important for abscission, as latrunculin A-treated cells fail to undergo abscission or to engulf the intercellular bridge remnant (König et al. 2017)

These studies also suggest that the ESCRT filament system is not required for abscission during embryonic cytokinesis. In ESCRT-inhibited embryos, abscission occurred with normal timing; however, the membrane-bound intercellular bridge remnant was not internalized and instead remained trapped in the extracellular space (Green *et al.* 2013; König *et al.* 2017). The intercellular bridge remnant also became swollen when ESCRT was inhibited, implicating the ESCRT complex in the removal of membrane from this structure before or during its subsequent engulfment by the posterior daughter. Finally, the membrane remodeling protein dynamin, known to be required late in cytokinesis in the one-cell stage embryo (Thompson *et al.* 2002), localizes to the intercellular bridge during abscission and its knockdown leads to a failure to clear excess membrane from the intercellular bridge before abscission and a subsequent failure in abscission (König *et al.* 2017). These studies have provided substantial insight into the steps by which abscission occurs, but the mechanisms that mediate this process, remain only partially understood. The fate of the engulfed intercellular bridge remnant and its possible roles in subsequent cell cycles also warrant further investigation (Skop *et al.* 2004; Singh and Pohl 2014).

Concluding remarks and perspectives

During the past two decades, tremendous advances have been made in our understanding of the molecular mechanisms that regulate and execute cell division in C. elegans. A powerful toolbox of molecular, genetic, and imaging approaches have greatly improved our mechanistic understanding of multiple processes-including kinetochore assembly and function, centrosome duplication and maturation, mitotic spindle assembly, chromosome segregation, and cytokinesis. Throughout this review, we have attempted to highlight topics that require or currently are the focus of further research. Such efforts should benefit from ongoing advances in the development of higher resolution light and electron microscopy methods, and from new technologies, such as optogenetics (Wagner and Glotzer 2016), that will enable higher spatiotemporal resolution in the manipulation of gene functions during cell division. Several other topics that we have not covered due to space limitations will also likely be the focus of future investigation. These include allometry: elucidating how cellular structures modulate and adapt their composition to ensure accurate cell division in differently sized cells (Hara and Kimura 2009; Ladouceur et al., 2017; Lacroix et al. 2018), and how cell division processes are coordinated with cell polarity, cell division axis orientation, and cell fate specification to generate appropriate numbers and architectural arrangements of different cell types during development. Importantly, a number of genes required for cell division, such as the polo-like kinase PLK-1, are emerging as important regulators of cell polarity (Noatynska et al. 2010; Dickinson et al. 2017) and cell fate (Nishi et al. 2008; Han et al. 2018). The experimental virtues of C. elegans ensure that this elegant animal model will occupy a prominent place in research that further advances our understanding of fundamental cell division processes and their relationship to animal development.

Acknowledgments

We thank N. Bhalla, D. Cheerambathur, J. Dumont, M. Glotzer, P. Gönczy, D. Libuda, F. McNally, K. Oegema, A. Desai, K. O'Connell, and K. Sugioka for critical reading of the manuscript; and D. Cheerambathur, C.-H. Chuang, G. Matton, J. Dumont, M. Glotzer, N. Joly, and K. Sugioka for providing figure materials. We apologize to our colleagues whose excellent work has not been discussed here owing to space limitation. Work in the laboratory of L.P. is supported by the French National Research Agency under grant no. ANR-17-CE13-0011-01, and by "La Ligue Contre le Cancer" (Equipe labellisée). L.P.'s team is also supported by the Labex "Who am I?" Laboratory of Excellence grant no. ANR-11-LABX-0071, and the French Government through its Investments for the Future program operated by the French National Research Agency under grant no. ANR-11-IDEX-0005-01. Work in the laboratory of B.B. is supported by grants GM049869 and GM114053 from the General Medical Sciences Institute of the National Institutes of Health.

Literature Cited

- Akiyoshi, B., K. K. Sarangapani, A. F. Powers, C. R. Nelson, S. L. Reichow et al., 2010 Tension directly stabilizes reconstituted kinetochore-microtubule attachments. Nature 468: 576–579. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09594
- Albertson, D. G., and J. N. Thomson, 1993 Segregation of holocentric chromosomes at meiosis in the nematode, Caenorhabditis elegans. Chromosome Res. 1: 15–26. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/BF00710603
- Alfieri, C., L. Chang, Z. Zhang, J. Yang, S. Maslen *et al.*, 2016 Molecular basis of APC/C regulation by the spindle assembly checkpoint. Nature 536: 431–436. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature19083
- Alfieri, C., S. Zhang, and D. Barford, 2017 Visualizing the complex functions and mechanisms of the anaphase promoting complex/cyclosome (APC/C). Open Biol. 7: 170204. https://doi. org/10.1098/rsob.170204
- Askjaer, P., V. Galy, E. Hannak, and I. W. Mattaj, 2002 Ran GTPase cycle and importins alpha and beta are essential for spindle formation and nuclear envelope assembly in living Caenorhabditis elegans embryos. Mol. Biol. Cell 13: 4355–4370. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e02-06-0346
- Balestra, F. R., L. Von Tobel, and P. Gönczy, 2015 Paternally contributed centrioles exhibit exceptional persistence in C. elegans embryos. Cell Res. 25: 642–644. https://doi.org/10.1038/ cr.2015.49
- Bamba, C., Y. Bobinnec, M. Fukuda, and E. Nishida, 2002 The GTPase Ran regulates chromosome positioning and nuclear envelope assembly in vivo. Curr. Biol. 12: 503–507. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0960-9822(02)00741-8
- Barford, D., 2011 Structure, function and mechanism of the anaphase promoting complex (APC/C). Q. Rev. Biophys. 44: 153– 190. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033583510000259
- Basant, A., and M. Glotzer, 2017 A GAP that divides. F1000 Res. 6: 1788. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.12064.1
- Basant, A., and M. Glotzer, 2018 Far from the madding crowd: RhoA activation during cytokinesis. Curr Biol. 7;28(9):R570– R580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.03.045. Review.
- Basant, A., S. Lekomtsev, Y. C. Tse, D. Zhang, K. M. Longhini et al., 2015 Aurora B kinase promotes cytokinesis by inducing centralspindlin oligomers that associate with the plasma membrane. Dev. Cell 33: 204–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. devcel.2015.03.015
- Bastos, R. N., X. Penate, M. Bates, D. Hammond, and F. A. Barr, 2012 CYK4 inhibits Rac1-dependent PAK1 and ARHGEF7 effector pathways during cytokinesis. J. Cell Biol. 198: 865–880. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201204107

- Bellanger, J. M., J. C. Carter, J. B. Phillips, C. Canard, B. Bowerman *et al.*, 2007 ZYG-9, TAC-1 and ZYG-8 together ensure correct microtubule function throughout the cell cycle of C. elegans embryos. J. Cell Sci. 120: 2963–2973. https://doi.org/ 10.1242/jcs.004812
- Bezler, A., and P. Gönczy, 2010 Mutual antagonism between the anaphase promoting complex and the spindle assembly checkpoint contributes to mitotic timing in Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics 186: 1271–1283. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.110.123133
- Bornens, M., 2012 The centrosome in cells and organisms. Science 335: 422–426. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1209037
- Bourdages, K. G., B. Lacroix, J. F. Dorn, C. P. Descovich, and A. S. Maddox, 2014 Quantitative analysis of cytokinesis in situ during C. elegans postembryonic development. PLoS One 9: e110689 (erratum: PLoS One 9: e116240). https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0110689
- Boxem, M., Z. Maliga, N. Klitgord, N. Li, I. Lemmens et al., 2008 A protein domain-based interactome network for C. elegans early embryogenesis. Cell 134: 534–545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2008.07.009
- Breznau, E. B., A. C. Semack, T. Higashi, and A. L. Miller, 2015 MgcRacGAP restricts active RhoA at the cytokinetic furrow and both RhoA and Rac1 at cell-cell junctions in epithelial cells. Mol. Biol. Cell 26: 2439–2455. https://doi.org/10.1091/ mbc.e14-11-1553
- Bringmann, H., and A. A. Hyman, 2005 A cytokinesis furrow is positioned by two consecutive signals. Nature 436: 731–734. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03823
- Bringmann, H., C. R. Cowan, J. Kong, and A. A. Hyman, 2007 LET-99, GOA-1/GPA-16, and GPR-1/2 are required for aster-positioned cytokinesis. Curr. Biol. 17: 185–191. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2006.11.070
- Brouhard, G. J., J. H. Stear, T. L. Noetzel, J. Al-Bassam, K. Kinoshita et al., 2008 XMAP215 is a processive microtubule polymerase. Cell 132: 79–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.043
- Buchwitz, B. J., K. Ahmad, L. L. Moore, M. B. Roth, and S. Henikoff, 1999 A histone-H3-like protein in C. elegans. Nature 401: 547–548. https://doi.org/10.1038/44062
- Burkard, M. E., J. Maciejowski, V. Rodriguez-Bravo, M. Repka, D. M. Lowery *et al.*, 2009 Plk1 self-organization and priming phosphorylation of HsCYK-4 at the spindle midzone regulate the onset of division in human cells. PLoS Biol. 7: e1000111. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1000111
- Cabral, G., S. S. Sans, C. R. Cowan, and A. Dammermann, 2013 Multiple mechanisms contribute to centriole separation in C. elegans. Curr. Biol. 23: 1380–1387. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cub.2013.06.043
- Canman, J. C., L. Lewellyn, K. Laband, S. J. Smerdon, A. Desai et al., 2008 Inhibition of Rac by the GAP activity of centralspindlin is essential for cytokinesis. Science 322: 1543–1546. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1163086
- Carvalho, A., A. Desai, and K. Oegema, 2009 Structural memory in the contractile ring makes the duration of cytokinesis independent of cell size. Cell 137: 926–937. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cell.2009.03.021
- Carvalho-Santos, Z., J. Azimzadeh, J. B. Pereira-Leal, and M. Bettencourt-Dias, 2011 Evolution: tracing the origins of centrioles, cilia, and flagella. J. Cell Biol. 194: 165–175 (erratum: J. Cell Biol. 195: 341). https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201011152
- Chan, Y. W., L. L. Fava, A. Uldschmid, M. H. Schmitz, D. W. Gerlich et al., 2009 Mitotic control of kinetochore-associated dynein and spindle orientation by human spindly. J. Cell Biol. 185: 859–874. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200812167
- Cheerambathur, D. K., and A. Desai, 2014 Linked in: formation and regulation of microtubule attachments during chromosome segregation. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 26: 113–122. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ceb.2013.12.005

- Cheerambathur, D. K., R. Gassmann, B. Cook, K. Oegema, and A. Desai, 2013 Crosstalk between microtubule attachment complexes ensures accurate chromosome segregation. Science 342: 1239–1242. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1246232
- Cheerambathur, D. K., B. Prevo, N. Hattersley, L. Lewellyn, K. D. Corbett *et al.*, 2017 Dephosphorylation of the Ndc80 tail stabilizes kinetochore-microtubule attachments via the ska complex. Dev. Cell 41: 424–437.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. devcel.2017.04.013
- Cheeseman, I. M., 2014 The kinetochore. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 6: a015826. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a015826
- Cheeseman, I. M., S. Niessen, S. Anderson, F. Hyndman, J. R. Yates *et al.*, 2004 A conserved protein network controls assembly of the outer kinetochore and its ability to sustain tension. Genes Dev. 18: 2255–2268. https://doi.org/10.1101/ gad.1234104
- Cheeseman, I. M., I. Macleod, J. R. Yates, K. Oegema, and A. Desai, 2005 The CENP-F-like proteins HCP-1 and HCP-2 target CLASP to kinetochores to mediate chromosome segregation. Curr. Biol. 15: 771–777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2005.03.018
- Cheeseman, I. M., J. S. Chappie, E. M. Wilson-Kubalek, and A. Desai, 2006 The conserved KMN network constitutes the core microtubule-binding site of the kinetochore. Cell 127: 983–997. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.09.039
- Ciferri, C., S. Pasqualato, E. Screpanti, G. Varetti, S. Santaguida *et al.*, 2008 Implications for kinetochore-microtubule attachment from the structure of an engineered Ndc80 complex. Cell 133: 427–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.03.020
- Colombo, K., S. W. Grill, R. J. Kimple, F. S. Willard, D. P. Siderovski *et al.*, 2003 Translation of polarity cues into asymmetric spindle positioning in Caenorhabditis elegans embryos. Science 300: 1957–1961. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1084146
- Conduit, P. T., K. Brunk, J. Dobbelaere, C. I. Dix, E. P. Lucas et al., 2010 Centrioles regulate centrosome size by controlling the rate of Cnn incorporation into the PCM. Curr. Biol. 20: 2178– 2186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2010.11.011
- Conduit, P. T., A. Wainman, and J. W. Raff, 2015 Centrosome function and assembly in animal cells. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 16: 611–624. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm4062
- Cowan, C. R., and A. A. Hyman, 2006 Cyclin E-Cdk2 temporally regulates centrosome assembly and establishment of polarity in Caenorhabditis elegans embryos. Nat. Cell Biol. 8: 1441–1447. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1511
- Cunha-Ferreira, I., I. Bento, A. Pimenta-Marques, S. C. Jana, M. Lince-Faria *et al.*, 2013 Regulation of autophosphorylation controls PLK4 self-destruction and centriole number. Curr. Biol. 23: 2245–2254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.09.037
- Dammermann, A., T. Müller-Reichert, L. Pelletier, B. Habermann, A. Desai *et al.*, 2004 Centriole assembly requires both centriolar and pericentriolar material proteins. Dev. Cell 7: 815–829. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2004.10.015
- Dammermann, A., P. S. Maddox, A. Desai, and K. Oegema, 2008 SAS-4 is recruited to a dynamic structure in newly forming centrioles that is stabilized by the gamma-tubulin-mediated addition of centriolar microtubules. J. Cell Biol. 180: 771–785. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200709102
- Davies, T., S. N. Jordan, V. Chand, J. A. Sees, K. Laband *et al.*, 2014 High-resolution temporal analysis reveals a functional timeline for the molecular regulation of cytokinesis. Dev. Cell 30: 209–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2014.05.009
- Davies, T., S. Sundaramoorthy, S. N. Jordan, M. Shirasu-Hiza, J. Dumont *et al.*, 2017 Using fast-acting temperature-sensitive mutants to study cell division in Caenorhabditis elegans. Methods Cell Biol. 137: 283–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs. mcb.2016.05.004
- Dechant, R., and M. Glotzer, 2003 Centrosome separation and central spindle assembly act in redundant pathways that

regulate microtubule density and trigger cleavage furrow formation. Dev. Cell 4: 333–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1534-5807(03)00057-1

- Decker, M., S. Jaensch, A. Pozniakovsky, A. Zinke, K. F. O'Connell *et al.*, 2011 Limiting amounts of centrosome material set centrosome size in C. elegans embryos. Curr. Biol. 21: 1259–1267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2011.06.002
- Delattre, M., S. Leidel, K. Wani, K. Baumer, J. Bamat *et al.*, 2004 Centriolar SAS-5 is required for centrosome duplication in C. elegans. Nat. Cell Biol. 6: 656–664. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ncb1146
- Delattre, M., C. Canard, and P. Gönczy, 2006 Sequential protein recruitment in C. elegans centriole formation. Curr. Biol. 16: 1844–1849. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2006.07.059
- DeLuca, J. G., W. E. Gall, C. Ciferri, D. Cimini, A. Musacchio *et al.*, 2006 Kinetochore microtubule dynamics and attachment stability are regulated by Hec1. Cell 127: 969–982. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.09.047
- Dernburg, A. F., 2001 Here, there, and everywhere: kinetochore function on holocentric chromosomes. J. Cell Biol. 153: F33– F38. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.153.6.F33
- Desai, A., S. Rybina, T. Müller-Reichert, A. Shevchenko, A. Shevchenko *et al.*, 2003 KNL-1 directs assembly of the microtubulebinding interface of the kinetochore in C. elegans. Genes Dev. 17: 2421–2435. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1126303
- De Simone, A., F. Nédélec, and P. Gönczy, 2016 Dynein transmits polarized actomyosin cortical flows to promote centrosome separation. Cell Rep. 14: 2250–2262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2016.01.077
- Diaz-Martinez, L. A., W. Tian, B. Li, R. Warrington, L. Jia *et al.*, 2015 The Cdc20-binding Phe box of the spindle checkpoint protein BubR1 maintains the mitotic checkpoint complex during mitosis. J. Biol. Chem. 290: 2431–2443. https://doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.M114.616490
- Dickinson, D. J., and B. Goldstein, 2016 CRISPR-based methods for Caenorhabditis elegans genome engineering. Genetics 202: 885–901. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.115.182162
- Dickinson, D. J., F. Schwager, L. Pintard, M. Gotta, and B. Goldstein, 2017 A single-cell biochemistry approach reveals PAR complex dynamics during cell polarization. Dev. Cell 42: 416– 434.e11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2017.07.024
- Di Fiore, B., N. E. Davey, A. Hagting, D. Izawa, J. Mansfeld *et al.*, 2015 The ABBA motif binds APC/C activators and is shared by APC/C substrates and regulators. Dev. Cell 32: 358–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2015.01.003
- Ding, W. Y., H. T. Ong, Y. Hara, J. Wongsantichon, Y. Toyama *et al.*, 2017 Plastin increases cortical connectivity to facilitate robust polarization and timely cytokinesis. J. Cell Biol. 216: 1371– 1386. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201603070
- Dong, G., 2015 Building a ninefold symmetrical barrel: structural dissections of centriole assembly. Open Biol. 5: 150082. https:// doi.org/10.1098/rsob.150082
- Dumont, J., K. Oegema, and A. Desai, 2010 A kinetochore-independent mechanism drives anaphase chromosome separation during acentrosomal meiosis. Nat. Cell Biol. 12: 894–901. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2093
- Encalada, S. E., P. R. Martin, J. B. Phillips, R. Lyczak, D. R. Hamill et al., 2000 DNA replication defects delay cell division and disrupt cell polarity in early Caenorhabditis elegans embryos. Dev. Biol. 228: 225–238. https://doi.org/10.1006/ dbio.2000.9965
- Encalada, S. E., J. Willis, R. Lyczak, and B. Bowerman, 2005 A spindle checkpoint functions during mitosis in the early Caeno-rhabditis elegans embryo. Mol. Biol. Cell 16: 1056–1070. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e04-08-0712
- Espeut, J., D. K. Cheerambathur, L. Krenning, K. Oegema, and A. Desai, 2012 Microtubule binding by KNL-1 contributes to spin-

dle checkpoint silencing at the kinetochore. J. Cell Biol. 196: 469–482. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201111107

- Espeut, J., P. Lara-Gonzalez, M. Sassine, A. K. Shiau, A. Desai *et al.*, 2015 Natural loss of Mps1 kinase in nematodes uncovers a role for polo-like kinase 1 in spindle checkpoint initiation. Cell Rep. 12: 58–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015. 05.039
- Essex, A., A. Dammermann, L. Lewellyn, K. Oegema, and A. Desai, 2009 Systematic analysis in Caenorhabditis elegans reveals that the spindle checkpoint is composed of two largely independent branches. Mol. Biol. Cell 20: 1252–1267. https://doi.org/ 10.1091/mbc.e08-10-1047
- Fededa, J. P., and D. W. Gerlich, 2012 Molecular control of animal cell cytokinesis. Nat. Cell Biol. 14: 440–447. https://doi. org/10.1038/ncb2482
- Feldman, J. L., and J. R. Priess, 2012 A role for the centrosome and PAR-3 in the hand-off of MTOC function during epithelial polarization. Curr. Biol. 22: 575–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cub.2012.02.044
- Fievet, B. T., J. Rodriguez, S. Naganathan, C. Lee, E. Zeiser *et al.*, 2012 Systematic genetic interaction screens uncover cell polarity regulators and functional redundancy. Nat. Cell Biol. 15: 103–112. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2639
- Firat-Karalar, E. N., and T. Stearns, 2014 The centriole duplication cycle. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 369: 20130460.
- Flor-Parra, I., A. B. Iglesias-Romero, and F. Chang, 2018 The XMAP215 ortholog Alp14 promotes microtubule nucleation in fission yeast. Curr. Biol. 28: 1681–1691. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cub.2018.04.008
- Fraser, A. G., R. S. Kamath, P. Zipperlen, M. Martinez-Campos, M. Sohrmann *et al.*, 2000 Functional genomic analysis of C. elegans chromosome I by systematic RNA interference. Nature 408: 325–330. https://doi.org/10.1038/35042517
- Frøkjaer-Jensen, C., M. W. Davis, C. E. Hopkins, B. J. Newman, J. M. Thummel *et al.*, 2008 Single-copy insertion of transgenes in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nat. Genet. 40: 1375–1383. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ng.248
- Fu, J., I. M. Hagan, and D. M. Glover, 2015 The centrosome and its duplication cycle. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 7: a015800. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a015800
- Fujimitsu, K., M. Grimaldi, and H. Yamano, 2016 Cyclin-dependent kinase 1-dependent activation of APC/C ubiquitin ligase. Science 352: 1121–1124. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. aad3925
- Gama, J. B., C. Pereira, P. A. Simões, R. Celestino, R. M. Reis *et al.*, 2017 Molecular mechanism of dynein recruitment to kinetochores by the Rod-Zw10-Zwilch complex and spindly. J. Cell Biol. 216: 943–960. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201610108
- Gassmann, R., S. L. Kline, A. Carvalho, and A. Desai, 2007 Analysis of kinetochore assembly and function in Caenorhabditis elegans embryos and human cells. Methods 41: 177–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2006.07.027
- Gassmann, R., A. Essex, J. S. Hu, P. S. Maddox, F. Motegi *et al.*, 2008 A new mechanism controlling kinetochore-microtubule interactions revealed by comparison of two dynein-targeting components: SPDL-1 and the Rod/Zwilch/Zw10 complex. Genes Dev. 22: 2385–2399. https://doi.org/10.1101/ gad.1687508
- Glotzer, M., 2017 Cytokinesis in metazoa and fungi. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 9(10): a022343. https://doi.org/10.1101/ cshperspect.a022343
- Gönczy, P., 2012 Towards a molecular architecture of centriole assembly. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 13: 425–435. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrm3373
- Gönczy, P., H. Schnabel, T. Kaletta, A. D. Amores, T. Hyman *et al.*, 1999 Dissection of cell division processes in the one cell stage

Caenorhabditis elegans embryo by mutational analysis. J. Cell Biol. 144: 927–946. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.144.5.927

- Gönczy, P., C. Echeverri, K. Oegema, A. Coulson, S. J. Jones et al., 2000 Functional genomic analysis of cell division in C. elegans using RNAi of genes on chromosome III. Nature 408: 331–336. https://doi.org/10.1038/35042526
- Gotta, M., Y. Dong, Y. K. Peterson, S. M. Lanier, and J. Ahringer, 2003 Asymmetrically distributed C. elegans homologs of AGS3/PINS control spindle position in the early embryo. Curr. Biol. 13: 1029–1037. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(03)00371-3
- Green, R. A., H. L. Kao, A. Audhya, S. Arur, J. R. Mayers *et al.*, 2011 A high-resolution C. elegans essential gene network based on phenotypic profiling of a complex tissue. Cell 145: 470–482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.03.037
- Green, R. A., E. Paluch, and K. Oegema, 2012 Cytokinesis in animal cells. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 28: 29–58. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-101011-155718
- Green, R. A., J. R. Mayers, S. Wang, L. Lewellyn, A. Desai *et al.*, 2013 The midbody ring scaffolds the abscission machinery in the absence of midbody microtubules. J. Cell Biol. 203: 505– 520. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201306036
- Greenan, G., C. P. Brangwynne, S. Jaensch, J. Gharakhani, F. Jülicher *et al.*, 2010 Centrosome size sets mitotic spindle length in Caenorhabditis elegans embryos. Curr. Biol. 20: 353–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2009.12.050
- Griffis, E. R., N. Stuurman, and R. D. Vale, 2007 Spindly, a novel protein essential for silencing the spindle assembly checkpoint, recruits dynein to the kinetochore. J. Cell Biol. 177: 1005–1015. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200702062
- Grill, S. W., P. Gönczy, E. H. Stelzer, and A. A. Hyman, 2001 Polarity controls forces governing asymmetric spindle positioning in the Caenorhabditis elegans embryo. Nature 409: 630–633. https://doi.org/10.1038/35054572
- Gruss, O. J., R. E. Carazo-Salas, C. A. Schatz, G. Guarguaglini, J. Kast *et al.*, 2001 Ran induces spindle assembly by reversing the inhibitory effect of importin alpha on TPX2 activity. Cell 104: 83–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(01) 00193-3
- Guderian, G., J. Westendorf, A. Uldschmid, and E. A. Nigg, 2010 Plk4 trans-autophosphorylation regulates centriole number by controlling betaTrCP-mediated degradation. J. Cell Sci. 123: 2163–2169. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.068502
- Gunsalus, K. C., H. Ge, A. J. Schetter, D. S. Goldberg, J. D. Han et al., 2005 Predictive models of molecular machines involved in Caenorhabditis elegans early embryogenesis. Nature 436: 861–865. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03876
- Guse, A., M. Mishima, and M. Glotzer, 2005 Phosphorylation of ZEN-4/MKLP1 by aurora B regulates completion of cytokinesis. Curr. Biol. 15: 778–786. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2005.03.041
- Hamill, D. R., A. F. Severson, J. C. Carter, and B. Bowerman, 2002 Centrosome maturation and mitotic spindle assembly in C. elegans require SPD-5, a protein with multiple coiled-coil domains. Dev. Cell 3: 673–684. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1534-5807(02)00327-1
- Han, B., K. R. Antkowiak, X. Fan, M. Rutigliano, S. P. Ryder et al., 2018 Polo-like kinase couples cytoplasmic protein gradients in the C. elegans zygote. Curr. Biol. 28: 60–69.e8. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cub.2017.11.048
- Hannak, E., M. Kirkham, A. A. Hyman, and K. Oegema, 2001 Aurora-A kinase is required for centrosome maturation in Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Cell Biol. 155: 1109–1116. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200108051
- Hara, Y., and A. Kimura, 2009 Cell-size-dependent spindle elongation in the Caenorhabditis elegans early embryo. Curr. Biol. 19: 1549–1554. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2009.07.050

- Hayashi, H., K. Kimura, and A. Kimura, 2012 Localized accumulation of tubulin during semi-open mitosis in the Caenorhabditis elegans embryo. Mol. Biol. Cell 23: 1688–1699. https://doi. org/10.1091/mbc.e11-09-0815
- Heald, R., and A. Khodjakov, 2015 Thirty years of search and capture: the complex simplicity of mitotic spindle assembly. J. Cell Biol. 211: 1103–1111. https://doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.201510015
- Hein, J. B., and J. Nilsson, 2016 Interphase APC/C-Cdc20 inhibition by cyclin A2-Cdk2 ensures efficient mitotic entry. Nat. Commun. 7: 10975. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms10975
- Hilbert, M., M. C. Erat, V. Hachet, P. Guichard, I. D. Blank *et al.*, 2013 Caenorhabditis elegans centriolar protein SAS-6 forms a spiral that is consistent with imparting a ninefold symmetry. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 110: 11373–11378. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1302721110
- Hird, S. N., and J. G. White, 1993 Cortical and cytoplasmic flow polarity in early embryonic cells of Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Cell Biol. 121: 1343–1355. https://doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.121.6.1343
- Hirono, M., 2014 Cartwheel assembly. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 369: 20130458. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rstb.2013.0458
- Hodges, M. E., N. Scheumann, B. Wickstead, J. A. Langdale, and K. Gull, 2010 Reconstructing the evolutionary history of the centriole from protein components. J. Cell Sci. 123: 1407–1413. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.064873
- Holland, A. J., W. Lan, S. Niessen, H. Hoover, and D. W. Cleveland, 2010 Polo-like kinase 4 kinase activity limits centrosome overduplication by autoregulating its own stability. J. Cell Biol. 188: 191–198. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200911102
- Howell, B. J., B. F. Mcewen, J. C. Canman, D. B. Hoffman, E. M. Farrar *et al.*, 2001 Cytoplasmic dynein/dynactin drives kinetochore protein transport to the spindle poles and has a role in mitotic spindle checkpoint inactivation. J. Cell Biol. 155: 1159– 1172. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200105093
- Hutterer, A., M. Glotzer, and M. Mishima, 2009 Clustering of centralspindlin is essential for its accumulation to the central spindle and the midbody. Curr. Biol. 19: 2043–2049. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cub.2009.10.050
- Inoue, Y. H., M. S. Savoian, T. Suzuki, E. Máthé, M. T. Yamamoto et al., 2004 Mutations in orbit/mast reveal that the central spindle is comprised of two microtubule populations, those that initiate cleavage and those that propagate furrow ingression. J. Cell Biol. 166: 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.200402052
- Izawa, D., and J. Pines, 2015 The mitotic checkpoint complex binds a second CDC20 to inhibit active APC/C. Nature 517: 631–634. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13911
- Jantsch-Plunger, V., P. Gönczy, A. Romano, H. Schnabel, D. Hamill et al., 2000 CYK-4: A Rho family gtpase activating protein (GAP) required for central spindle formation and cytokinesis. J. Cell Biol. 149: 1391–1404. https://doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.149.7.1391
- John, C. M., R. K. Hite, C. S. Weirich, D. J. Fitzgerald, H. Jawhari et al., 2007 The Caenorhabditis elegans septin complex is nonpolar. EMBO J. 26: 3296–3307. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601775
- Jordan, S. N., T. Davies, Y. Zhuravlev, J. Dumont, M. Shirasu-Hiza et al., 2016 Cortical PAR polarity proteins promote robust cytokinesis during asymmetric cell division. J. Cell Biol. 212: 39– 49. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201510063
- Kaitna, S., M. Mendoza, V. Jantsch-Plunger, and M. Glotzer, 2000 Incenp and an aurora-like kinase form a complex essential for chromosome segregation and efficient completion of cytokinesis. Curr. Biol. 10: 1172–1181. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0960-9822(00)00721-1

- Kamath, R. S., M. Martinez-Campos, P. Zipperlen, A. G. Fraser, and J. Ahringer, 2001 Effectiveness of specific RNA-mediated interference through ingested double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. Genome Biol. 2: RESEARCH0002. https:// doi.org/10.1186/gb-2000
- Kamath, R. S., A. G. Fraser, Y. Dong, G. Poulin, R. Durbin et al., 2003 Systematic functional analysis of the Caenorhabditis elegans genome using RNAi. Nature 421: 231–237. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature01278
- Kawashima, T., K. Hirose, T. Satoh, A. Kaneko, Y. Ikeda *et al.*, 2000 MgcRacGAP is involved in the control of growth and differentiation of hematopoietic cells. Blood 96: 2116–2124.
- Kemp, C. A., K. R. Kopish, P. Zipperlen, J. Ahringer, and K. F. O'Connell, 2004 Centrosome maturation and duplication in C. elegans require the coiled-coil protein SPD-2. Dev. Cell 6: 511–523. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1534-5807(04)00066-8
- Kemp, C. A., M. H. Song, M. K. Addepalli, G. Hunter, and K. O'Connell, 2007 Suppressors of zyg-1 define regulators of centrosome duplication and nuclear association in Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics 176: 95–113. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.107.071803
- Khaliullin, R. N., R. A. Green, L. Z. Shi, J. S. Gomez-Cavazo, M. W. Berns *et al.*, 2018 A positive feedback-based mechanism for constriction rate acceleration during cytokinesis in Caenorhabditis elegans. eLife 7: e36073. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.36073
- Kim, T., M. W. Moyle, P. Lara-Gonzalez, C. De Groot, K. Oegema et al., 2015 Kinetochore-localized BUB-1/BUB-3 complex promotes anaphase onset in C. elegans. J. Cell Biol. 209: 507–517 [corrigenda: J. Cell Biol. 212: 737 (2016)]. https://doi.org/ 10.1083/jcb.201412035
- Kim, T., P. Lara-Gonzalez, B. Prevo, F. Meitinger, D. K. Cheerambathur *et al.*, 2017 Kinetochores accelerate or delay APC/C activation by directing Cdc20 to opposing fates. Genes Dev. 31: 1089–1094. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.302067.117
- Kirkham, M., T. Müller-Reichert, K. Oegema, S. Grill, and A. A. Hyman, 2003 SAS-4 is a C. elegans centriolar protein that controls centrosome size. Cell 112: 575–587. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00117-X
- Kitagawa, D., C. Busso, I. Fluckiger, and P. Gonczy, 2009 Phosphorylation of SAS-6 by ZYG-1 is critical for centriole formation in C. elegans embryos. Dev. Cell 17: 900–907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2009.11.002
- Kitagawa, D., I. Flückiger, J. Polanowska, D. Keller, J. Reboul *et al.*, 2011a PP2A phosphatase acts upon SAS-5 to ensure centriole formation in C. elegans embryos. Dev. Cell 20: 550–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2011.02.005
- Kitagawa, D., I. Vakonakis, N. Olieric, M. Hilbert, D. Keller et al., 2011b Structural basis of the 9-fold symmetry of centrioles. Cell 144: 364–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.01.008
- Kitagawa, R., 2009 Key players in chromosome segregation in Caenorhabditis elegans. Front. Biosci. (Landmark Ed.) 14: 1529–1557. https://doi.org/10.2741/3323
- Kitagawa, R., and A. M. Rose, 1999 Components of the spindleassembly checkpoint are essential in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Nat. Cell Biol. 1: 514–521. https://doi.org/10.1038/70309
- Klebba, J. E., D. W. Buster, A. L. Nguyen, S. Swatkoski, M. Gucek et al., 2013 Polo-like kinase 4 autodestructs by generating its Slimb-binding phosphodegron. Curr. Biol. 23: 2255–2261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.09.019
- König, J., E. B. Frankel, A. Audhya, and T. Müller-Reichert, 2017 Membrane remodeling during embryonic abscission in Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Cell Biol. 216: 1277–1286. https:// doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201607030
- Kotak, S., and P. Gönczy, 2013 Mechanisms of spindle positioning: cortical force generators in the limelight. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 25: 741–748. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2013.07.008

- Kramer, E. R., N. Scheuringer, A. V. Podtelejnikov, M. Mann, and J. M. Peters, 2000 Mitotic regulation of the APC activator proteins CDC20 and CDH1. Mol. Biol. Cell 11: 1555–1569. https:// doi.org/10.1091/mbc.11.5.1555
- Kurz, T., L. Pintard, J. H. Willis, D. R. Hamill, P. Gonczy *et al.*, 2002 Cytoskeletal regulation by the Nedd8 ubiquitin-like protein modification pathway. Science 295: 1294–1298. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.1067765
- Laband, K., R. Le Borgne, F. Edwards, M. Stefanutti, J. C. Canman et al., 2017 Chromosome segregation occurs by microtubule pushing in oocytes. Nat. Commun. 8: 1499. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41467-017-01539-8
- Labit, H., K. Fujimitsu, N. S. Bayin, T. Takaki, J. Gannon *et al.*, 2012 Dephosphorylation of Cdc20 is required for its C-boxdependent activation of the APC/C. EMBO J. 31: 3351–3362. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2012.168
- Lacroix, B., G. Letort, L. Pitayu, J. Sallé, M. Stefanutti *et al.*, 2018 Microtubule dynamics scale with cell size to set spindle length and assembly timing. Dev. Cell 45: 496–511.e6. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2018.04.022
- Ladouceur, A. M., R. Ranjan, L. Smith, T. Fadero, J. Heppert *et al.*, 2017 CENP-A and topoisomerase-II antagonistically affect chromosome length. J. Cell Biol. 216: 2645–2655. https://doi. org/10.1083/jcb.201608084
- Laos, T., G. Cabral, and A. Dammermann, 2015 Isotropic incorporation of SPD-5 underlies centrosome assembly in C. elegans. Curr. Biol. 25: R648–R649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2015.05.060
- Lara-Gonzalez, P., T. Kim, and A. Desai, 2017 Taming the beast: control of APC/C ^{Cdc20}-dependent destruction. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 82: 111–121. https://doi.org/ 10.1101/sqb.2017.82.033712
- Lee, B. C., Z. Lin, and K. W. Yuen, 2016 RbAp46/48(LIN-53) Is Required for Holocentromere Assembly in Caenorhabditis elegans. Cell Rep. 14: 1819–1828. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.01.065
- Lee, K. K., Y. Gruenbaum, P. Spann, J. Liu, and K. L. Wilson, 2000 C. elegans nuclear envelope proteins emerin, MAN1, lamin, and nucleoporins reveal unique timing of nuclear envelope breakdown during mitosis. Mol. Biol. Cell 11: 3089–3099. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.11.9.3089
- Lee, K. Y., B. Esmaeili, B. Zealley, and M. Mishima, 2015 Direct interaction between centralspindlin and PRC1 reinforces mechanical resilience of the central spindle. Nat. Commun. 6: 7290. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8290
- Lee, K. Y., R. A. Green, E. Gutierrez, J. S. Gomez-Cavazos, I. Kolotuev et al., 2018 CYK-4 functions independently of its centralspindlin partner ZEN-4 to cellularize oocytes in germline syncytia. eLife 7: e36919. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.36919
- Lee, R. Y. N., K. L. Howe, T. W. Harris, V. Arnaboldi, S. Cain *et al.*, 2018 WormBase 2017: molting into a new stage. Nucleic Acids Res. 46: D869–D874. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/ gkx998
- Leidel, S., and P. Gönczy, 2003 SAS-4 is essential for centrosome duplication in C elegans and is recruited to daughter centrioles once per cell cycle. Dev. Cell 4: 431–439. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S1534-5807(03)00062-5
- Leidel, S., M. Delattre, L. Cerutti, K. Baumer, and P. Gönczy, 2005 SAS-6 defines a protein family required for centrosome duplication in C. elegans and in human cells. Nat. Cell Biol. 7: 115–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1220
- Lettman, M. M., Y. L. Wong, V. Viscardi, S. Niessen, S. H. Chen *et al.*, 2013 Direct binding of SAS-6 to ZYG-1 recruits SAS-6 to the mother centriole for cartwheel assembly. Dev. Cell 25: 284– 298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2013.03.011
- Lewellyn, L., J. Dumont, A. Desai, and K. Oegema, 2010 Analyzing the effects of delaying aster separation on furrow formation

during cytokinesis in the Caenorhabditis elegans embryo. Mol. Biol. Cell 21: 50–62. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc. e09-01-0089

- Lewellyn, L., A. Carvalho, A. Desai, A. S. Maddox, and K. Oegema, 2011 The chromosomal passenger complex and centralspindlin independently contribute to contractile ring assembly. J. Cell Biol. 193: 155–169. https://doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.201008138
- Li, S., C. M. Armstrong, N. Bertin, H. Ge, S. Milstein *et al.*, 2004 A map of the interactome network of the metazoan C. elegans. Science 303: 540–543. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1091403
- Liu, J., Z. Wang, K. Jiang, L. Zhang, L. Zhao *et al.*, 2009 PRC1 cooperates with CLASP1 to organize central spindle plasticity in mitosis. J. Biol. Chem. 284: 23059–23071. https://doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.M109.009670
- Liu, J., L. L. Maduzia, M. Shirayama, and C. C. Mello, 2010 NMY-2 maintains cellular asymmetry and cell boundaries, and promotes a SRC-dependent asymmetric cell division. Dev. Biol. 339: 366–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.12.041
- Liu, S. T., and H. Zhang, 2016 The mitotic checkpoint complex (MCC): looking back and forth after 15 years. AIMS Mol. Sci. 3: 597–634. https://doi.org/10.3934/molsci.2016.4.597
- Loria, A., K. M. Longhini, and M. Glotzer, 2012 The RhoGAP domain of CYK-4 has an essential role in RhoA activation. Curr. Biol. 22: 213–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2011.12.019
- Lu, Y., and R. Roy, 2014 Centrosome/cell cycle uncoupling and elimination in the endoreduplicating intestinal cells of C. elegans. PLoS One 9: e110958. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0110958
- Maddox, A. S., B. Habermann, A. Desai, and K. Oegema, 2005 Distinct roles for two C. elegans anillins in the gonad and early embryo. Development 132: 2837–2848. https://doi. org/10.1242/dev.01828
- Maddox, A. S., L. Lewellyn, A. Desai, and K. Oegema, 2007 Anillin and the septins promote asymmetric ingression of the cytokinetic furrow. Dev. Cell 12: 827–835. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.devcel.2007.02.018
- Maddox, P. S., K. Oegema, A. Desai, and I. M. Cheeseman, 2004 "Holo"er than thou: chromosome segregation and kinetochore function in C. elegans. Chromosome Res. 12: 641–653. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:CHRO.0000036588.42225.2f
- Maddox, P. S., F. Hyndman, J. Monen, K. Oegema, and A. Desai, 2007 Functional genomics identifies a Myb domain-containing protein family required for assembly of CENP-A chromatin. J. Cell Biol. 176: 757–763. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200701065
- Maeda, I., Y. Kohara, M. Yamamoto, and A. Sugimoto, 2001 Large-scale analysis of gene function in Caenorhabditis elegans by high-throughput RNAi. Curr. Biol. 11: 171–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(01)00052-5
- Mangal, S., J. Sacher, T. Kim, D. S. Osório, F. Motegi *et al.*, 2018 TPXL-1 activates Aurora A to clear contractile ring components from the polar cortex during cytokinesis. J. Cell Biol. 217: 837–848. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201706021
- Maton, G., F. Edwards, B. Lacroix, M. Stefanutti, K. Laband *et al.*, 2015 Kinetochore components are required for central spindle assembly. Nat. Cell Biol. 17: 697–705 (erratum: Nat. Cell Biol. 17: 953). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3150
- McNally, F. J., 2013 Mechanisms of spindle positioning. J. Cell Biol. 200: 131–140. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201210007
- McNally, K. L., A. S. Fabritius, M. L. Ellefson, J. R. Flynn, J. A. Milan et al., 2012 Kinesin-1 prevents capture of the oocyte meiotic spindle by the sperm aster. Dev. Cell 22: 788–798. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.devcel.2012.01.010
- Medley, J. C., L. E. Demeyer, M. M. Kabara, and M. H. Song, 2017a APC/CFZR-1 controls SAS-5 levels to regulate centrosome duplication in Caenorhabditis elegans. G3 (Bethesda) 7: 3937–3946. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.117.300260

- Medley, J. C., M. M. Kabara, M. D. Stubenvoll, L. E. Demeyer, and M. H. Song, 2017b Casein kinase II is required for proper cell division and acts as a negative regulator of centrosome duplication in Caenorhabditis elegans embryos. Biol. Open 6: 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1242/bio.022418
- Melters, D. P., L. V. Paliulis, I. F. Korf, and S. W. Chan, 2012 Holocentric chromosomes: convergent evolution, meiotic adaptations, and genomic analysis. Chromosome Res. 20: 579–593. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10577-012-9292-1
- Mennella, V., D. A. Agard, B. Huang, and L. Pelletier, 2014 Amorphous no more: subdiffraction view of the pericentriolar material architecture. Trends Cell Biol. 24: 188–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2013.10.001
- Mikeladze-Dvali, T., L. Von Tobel, P. Strnad, G. Knott, H. Leonhardt et al., 2012 Analysis of centriole elimination during C. elegans oogenesis. Development 139: 1670–1679. https://doi.org/ 10.1242/dev.075440
- Miller, J. G., Y. Liu, C. W. Williams, H. E. Smith, and K. F. O'Connell, 2016 The E2F–DP1 transcription factor complex regulates centriole duplication in Caenorhabditis elegans. G3 (Bethesda) 6: 709–720. https://doi.org/10.1534/ g3.115.025577
- Minoshima, Y., T. Kawashima, K. Hirose, Y. Tonozuka, A. Kawajiri et al., 2003 Phosphorylation by aurora B converts MgcRacGAP to a RhoGAP during cytokinesis. Dev. Cell 4: 549–560. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S1534-5807(03)00089-3
- Mishima, M., S. Kaitna, and M. Glotzer, 2002 Central spindle assembly and cytokinesis require a kinesin-like protein/RhoGAP complex with microtubule bundling activity. Dev. Cell 2: 41–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1534-5807(01)00110-1
- Mishima, M., V. Pavicic, U. Grüneberg, E. A. Nigg, and M. Glotzer, 2004 Cell cycle regulation of central spindle assembly. Nature 430: 908–913. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02767
- Moore, L. L., and M. B. Roth, 2001 HCP-4, a CENP-C-like protein in Caenorhabditis elegans, is required for resolution of sister centromeres. J. Cell Biol. 153: 1199–1208. https://doi.org/ 10.1083/jcb.153.6.1199
- Moore, L. L., M. Morrison, and M. B. Roth, 1999 HCP-1, a protein involved in chromosome segregation, is localized to the centromere of mitotic chromosomes in Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Cell Biol. 147: 471–480. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.147.3.471
- Moritz, M., M. B. Braunfeld, J. C. Fung, J. W. Sedat, B. M. Alberts et al., 1995 Three-dimensional structural characterization of centrosomes from early Drosophila embryos. J. Cell Biol. 130: 1149–1159. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.130.5.1149
- Morton, D. G., W. A. Hoose, and K. J. Kemphues, 2012 A genomewide RNAi screen for enhancers of par mutants reveals new contributors to early embryonic polarity in Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics 192: 929–942. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.112.143727
- Motegi, F., N. V. Velarde, F. Piano, and A. Sugimoto, 2006 Two phases of astral microtubule activity during cytokinesis in C. elegans embryos. Dev. Cell 10: 509–520. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.devcel.2006.03.001
- Moyle, M. W., T. Kim, N. Hattersley, J. Espeut, D. K. Cheerambathur et al., 2014 A Bub1-Mad1 interaction targets the Mad1-Mad2 complex to unattached kinetochores to initiate the spindle checkpoint. J. Cell Biol. 204: 647–657. https://doi.org/ 10.1083/jcb.201311015
- Müller-Reichert, T., G. Greenan, E. O'Toole, and M. Srayko, 2010 The elegans of spindle assembly. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 67: 2195–2213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-010-0324-8
- Müller-Reichert, T., R. Kiewisz, and S. Redemann, 2018 Mitotic spindles revisited - new insights from 3D electron microscopy. J. Cell Sci. 131: jcs211383. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.211383
- Munro, E., J. Nance, and J. R. Priess, 2004 Cortical flows powered by asymmetrical contraction transport PAR proteins to establish

and maintain anterior-posterior polarity in the early C. elegans embryo. Dev. Cell 7: 413–424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dev-cel.2004.08.001

- Musacchio, A., and A. Desai, 2017 A molecular view of kinetochore assembly and function. Biology (Basel) 6: 5. https://doi. org/10.3390/biology6010005
- Musacchio, A., and E. D. Salmon, 2007 The spindle-assembly checkpoint in space and time. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 8: 379– 393. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2163
- Naganathan, S. R., S. Fürthauer, M. Nishikawa, F. Jülicher, and S. W. Grill, 2014 Active torque generation by the actomyosin cell cortex drives left-right symmetry breaking. eLife 3: e04165. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.04165
- Nahaboo, W., M. Zouak, P. Askjaer, and M. Delattre, 2015 Chromatids segregate without centrosomes during Caenorhabditis elegans mitosis in a Ran- and CLASP-dependent manner. Mol. Biol. Cell 26: 2020–2029. https://doi.org/ 10.1091/mbc.e14-12-1577
- Nguyen, T. Q., H. Sawa, H. Okano, and J. G. White, 2000 The C. elegans septin genes, unc-59 and unc-61, are required for normal postembryonic cytokineses and morphogenesis but have no essential function in embryogenesis. J. Cell Sci. 113: 3825–3837.
- Nigg, E. A., and T. Stearns, 2011 The centrosome cycle: centriole biogenesis, duplication and inherent asymmetries. Nat. Cell Biol. 13: 1154–1160. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2345
- Nishi, Y., E. Rogers, S. M. Robertson, and R. Lin, 2008 Polo kinases regulate C. elegans embryonic polarity via binding to DYRK2-primed MEX-5 and MEX-6. Development 135: 687– 697. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.013425
- Noatynska, A., C. Panbianco, and M. Gotta, 2010 SPAT-1/Bora acts with Polo-like kinase 1 to regulate PAR polarity and cell cycle progression. Development 137: 3315–3325. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.055293
- Nystul, T. G., J. P. Goldmark, P. A. Padilla, and M. B. Roth, 2003 Suspended animation in *C. elegans* requires the spindle checkpoint. Science 302: 1038–1041. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1089705
- O'Connell, K. F., C. M. Leys, and J. G. White, 1998 A genetic screen for temperature-sensitive cell-division mutants of Caeno-rhabditis elegans. Genetics 149: 1303–1321.
- O'Connell, K. F., K. N. Maxwell, and J. G. White, 2000 The spd-2 gene is required for polarization of the anteroposterior axis and formation of the sperm asters in the Caenorhabditis elegans zygote. Dev. Biol. 222: 55–70. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2000.9714
- O'Connell, K. F., C. Caron, K. R. Kopish, D. D. Hurd, K. J. Kemphues et al., 2001 The C. elegans zyg-1 gene encodes a regulator of centrosome duplication with distinct maternal and paternal roles in the embryo. Cell 105: 547–558. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00338-5
- Oegema, K., and A. A. Hyman, 2006 Cell division (January 19, 2006), *WormBook*, ed. The *C. elegans* Research Community, WormBook, doi/10.1895/wormbook.1.72.1, http://www.wormbook.org.
- Oegema, K., A. Desai, S. Rybina, M. Kirkham, and A. A. Hyman, 2001 Functional analysis of kinetochore assembly in Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Cell Biol. 153: 1209–1226. https://doi. org/10.1083/jcb.153.6.1209
- O'Rourke, S. M., S. N. Christensen, and B. Bowerman, 2010 Caenorhabditis elegans EFA-6 limits microtubule growth at the cell cortex. Nat. Cell Biol. 12: 1235–1241. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2128
- O'Rourke, S. M., C. Carter, L. Carter, S. N. Christensen, M. P. Jones et al., 2011 A survey of new temperature-sensitive, embryoniclethal mutations in C. elegans: 24 alleles of thirteen genes. PLoS One 6: e16644. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0016644

- O'Toole, E., G. Greenan, K. I. Lange, M. Srayko, and T. Müller-Reichert, 2012 The role of γ-tubulin in centrosomal microtubule organization. PLoS One 7: e29795 (erratum: PLoS One 7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029795
- O'Toole, E. T., K. L. Mcdonald, J. Mäntler, J. R. Mcintosh, A. A. Hyman *et al.*, 2003 Morphologically distinct microtubule ends in the mitotic centrosome of Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Cell Biol. 163: 451–456. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200304035
- Ozlü, N., M. Srayko, K. Kinoshita, B. Habermann, E. T. O'Toole et al., 2005 An essential function of the C. elegans ortholog of TPX2 is to localize activated aurora A kinase to mitotic spindles. Dev. Cell 9: 237–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2005.07.002
- Padmanabhan, A., H. T. Ong, and R. Zaidel-Bar, 2017 Non-junctional E-Cadherin clusters regulate the actomyosin cortex in the C. elegans zygote. Curr. Biol. 27: 103–112. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cub.2016.10.032
- Paix, A., H. Schmidt, and G. Seydoux, 2016 Cas9-assisted recombineering in C. elegans: genome editing using in vivo assembly of linear DNAs. Nucleic Acids Res. 44: e128. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/nar/gkw502
- Park, S. Y., J. E. Park, T. S. Kim, J. H. Kim, M. J. Kwak et al., 2014 Molecular basis for unidirectional scaffold switching of human Plk4 in centriole biogenesis. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 21: 696–703. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.2846
- Pavicic-Kaltenbrunner, V., M. Mishima, and M. Glotzer, 2007 Cooperative assembly of CYK-4/MgcRacGAP and ZEN-4/MKLP1 to form the centralspindlin complex. Mol. Biol. Cell 18: 4992–5003. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e07-05-0468
- Peel, N., M. Dougherty, J. Goeres, Y. Liu, and K. F. O'Connell, 2012 The C. elegans F-box proteins LIN-23 and SEL-10 antagonize centrosome duplication by regulating ZYG-1 levels. J. Cell Sci. 125: 3535–3544. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.097105
- Peel, N., J. Iyer, A. Naik, M. P. Dougherty, M. Decker et al., 2017 Protein phosphatase 1 down regulates ZYG-1 levels to limit centriole duplication. PLoS Genet. 13: e1006543. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1006543
- Pelletier, L., N. Ozlü, E. Hannak, C. Cowan, B. Habermann *et al.*, 2004 The Caenorhabditis elegans centrosomal protein SPD-2 is required for both pericentriolar material recruitment and centriole duplication. Curr. Biol. 14: 863–873. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cub.2004.04.012
- Pelletier, L., E. O'Toole, A. Schwager, A. A. Hyman, and T. Müller-Reichert, 2006 Centriole assembly in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 444: 619–623. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature05318
- Piano, F., A. J. Schetter, M. Mangone, L. Stein, and K. J. Kemphues, 2000 RNAi analysis of genes expressed in the ovary of Caenorhabditis elegans. Curr. Biol. 10: 1619–1622. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00869-1
- Pintard, L., J. H. Willis, A. Willems, J. L. Johnson, M. Srayko et al., 2003 The BTB protein MEL-26 is a substrate-specific adaptor of the CUL-3 ubiquitin-ligase. Nature 425: 311–316. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature01959
- Powers, J., D. J. Rose, A. Saunders, S. Dunkelbarger, S. Strome et al., 2004 Loss of KLP-19 polar ejection force causes misorientation and missegregation of holocentric chromosomes. J. Cell Biol. 166: 991–1001. https://doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.200403036
- Prosser, S. L., and L. Pelletier, 2017 Mitotic spindle assembly in animal cells: a fine balancing act. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 18: 187–201. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.162
- Qiao, R., G. Cabral, M. M. Lettman, A. Dammermann, and G. Dong, 2012 SAS-6 coiled-coil structure and interaction with SAS-5 suggest a regulatory mechanism in C. elegans centriole assembly. EMBO J. 31: 4334–4347. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2012.280

- Qiao, R., F. Weissmann, M. Yamaguchi, N. G. Brown, R. Vanderlinden *et al.*, 2016 Mechanism of APC/CCDC20 activation by mitotic phosphorylation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 113: E2570– E2578. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1604929113
- Raich, W. B., A. N. Moran, J. H. Rothman, and J. Hardin, 1998 Cytokinesis and midzone microtubule organization in Caenorhabditis elegans require the kinesin-like protein ZEN-4. Mol. Biol. Cell 9: 2037–2049. https://doi.org/10.1091/ mbc.9.8.2037
- Rappleye, C. A., A. Tagawa, R. Lyczak, B. Bowerman, and R. V. Aroian, 2002 The anaphase-promoting complex and separin are required for embryonic anterior-posterior axis formation. Dev. Cell 2: 195–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1534-5807(02)00114-4
- Redemann, S., J. Baumgart, N. Lindow, M. Shelley, E. Nazockdast *et al.*, 2017 C. elegans chromosomes connect to centrosomes by anchoring into the spindle network. Nat. Commun. 8: 15288. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15288
- Reymann, A. C., F. Staniscia, A. Erzberger, G. Salbreux, and S. W. Grill, 2016 Cortical flow aligns actin filaments to form a furrow. eLife 5: e17807. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.17807
- Rogala, K. B., N. J. Dynes, G. N. Hatzopoulos, J. Yan, S. K. Pong *et al.*, 2015 The Caenorhabditis elegans protein SAS-5 forms large oligomeric assemblies critical for centriole formation. eLife 4: e07410. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.07410
- Rose, L., and P. Gonczy, 2014 Polarity establishment, asymmetric division and segregation of fate determinants in early C. elegans embryos (December 30, 2014), *WormBook*, ed. The *C. elegans* Research Community, WormBook, doi/10.1895/wormbook.1.30.2, http://www.wormbook.org.
- Rose, L. S., M. L. Lamb, S. N. Hird, and K. J. Kemphues, 1995 Pseudocleavage is dispensable for polarity and development in C. elegans embryos. Dev. Biol. 168: 479–489. https:// doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1995.1096
- Schatz, C. A., R. Santarella, A. Hoenger, E. Karsenti, I. W. Mattaj et al., 2003 Importin alpha-regulated nucleation of microtubules by TPX2. EMBO J. 22: 2060–2070. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/emboj/cdg195
- Schlaitz, A. L., M. Srayko, A. Dammermann, S. Quintin, N. Wielsch et al., 2007 The C. elegans RSA complex localizes protein phosphatase 2A to centrosomes and regulates mitotic spindle assembly. Cell 128: 115–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2006.10.050
- Schmutz, C., J. Stevens, and A. Spang, 2007 Functions of the novel RhoGAP proteins RGA-3 and RGA-4 in the germ line and in the early embryo of C. elegans. Development 134: 3495–3505. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.000802
- Schonegg, S., A. T. Constantinescu, C. Hoege, and A. A. Hyman, 2007 The Rho GTPase-activating proteins RGA-3 and RGA-4 are required to set the initial size of PAR domains in Caenorhabditis elegans one-cell embryos. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104: 14976–14981. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0706941104
- Schvarzstein, M., D. Pattabiraman, J. N. Bembenek, and A. M. Villeneuve, 2013 Meiotic HORMA domain proteins prevent untimely centriole disengagement during Caenorhabditis elegans spermatocyte meiosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 110: E898–E907. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1213888110
- Severson, A. F., D. R. Hamill, J. C. Carter, J. Schumacher, and B. Bowerman, 2000 The aurora-related kinase AIR-2 recruits ZEN-4/CeMKLP1 to the mitotic spindle at metaphase and is required for cytokinesis. Curr. Biol. 10: 1162–1171. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00715-6
- Severson, A. F., D. L. Baillie, and B. Bowerman, 2002 A formin homology protein and a profilin are required for cytokinesis and Arp2/3-independent assembly of cortical microfilaments in C. elegans. Curr. Biol. 12: 2066–2075. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0960-9822(02)01355-6

- Shimanovskaya, E., V. Viscardi, J. Lesigang, M. M. Lettman, R. Qiao et al., 2014 Structure of the C. elegans ZYG-1 cryptic polo box suggests a conserved mechanism for centriolar docking of Plk4 kinases. Structure 22: 1090–1104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. str.2014.05.009
- Simões, P. A., R. Celestino, A. X. Carvalho, and R. Gassmann, 2018 NudE regulates dynein at kinetochores but is dispensable for other dynein functions in the C. elegans early embryo. J. Cell Sci. 131: jcs212159. https://doi.org/10.1242/ jcs.212159
- Singh, D., and C. Pohl, 2014 Coupling of rotational cortical flow, asymmetric midbody positioning, and spindle rotation mediates dorsoventral axis formation in C. elegans. Dev. Cell 28: 253– 267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2014.01.002
- Skop, A. R., H. Liu, J. Yates, B. J. Meyer, and R. Heald, 2004 Dissection of the mammalian midbody proteome reveals conserved cytokinesis mechanisms. Science 305: 61–66. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1097931
- Somers, W. G., and R. Saint, 2003 A RhoGEF and Rho family GTPase-activating protein complex links the contractile ring to cortical microtubules at the onset of cytokinesis. Dev. Cell 4: 29– 39. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1534-5807(02)00402-1
- Song, M. H., L. Aravind, T. Müller-Reichert, and K. F. O'Connell, 2008 The conserved protein SZY-20 opposes the Plk4-related kinase ZYG-1 to limit centrosome size. Dev. Cell 15: 901–912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2008.09.018
- Song, M. H., Y. Liu, D. E. Anderson, W. J. Jahng, and K. F. O'Connell, 2011 Protein phosphatase 2A-SUR-6/B55 regulates centriole duplication in C. elegans by controlling the levels of centriole assembly factors. Dev. Cell 20: 563–571. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.devcel.2011.03.007
- Sonnen, K. F., L. Schermelleh, H. Leonhardt, and E. A. Nigg, 2012 3D-structured illumination microscopy provides novel insight into architecture of human centrosomes. Biol. Open 1: 965–976. https://doi.org/10.1242/bio.20122337
- Sönnichsen, B., L. B. Koski, A. Walsh, P. Marschall, B. Neumann et al., 2005 Full-genome RNAi profiling of early embryogenesis in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 434: 462–469. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature03353
- Srayko, M., A. Kaya, J. Stamford, and A. A. Hyman, 2005 Identification and characterization of factors required for microtubule growth and nucleation in the early C. elegans embryo. Dev. Cell 9: 223–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2005.07.003
- Srayko, M., E. T. O'Toole, A. A. Hyman, and T. Muller-Reichert, 2006 Katanin disrupts the microtubule lattice and increases polymer number in C. elegans meiosis. Curr. Biol. 16: 1944– 1949. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2006.08.029
- Stein, K. K., E. S. Davis, T. Hays, and A. Golden, 2007 Components of the spindle assembly checkpoint regulate the anaphase-promoting complex during meiosis in Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics 175: 107–123. https://doi.org/10.1534/ genetics.106.059105
- Strome, S., 1986 Fluorescence visualization of the distribution of microfilaments in gonads and early embryos of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Cell Biol. 103: 2241–2252. https:// doi.org/10.1083/jcb.103.6.2241
- Suarez, C., R. T. Carroll, T. A. Burke, J. R. Christensen, A. J. Bestul et al., 2015 Profilin regulates F-actin network homeostasis by favoring formin over Arp2/3 complex. Dev. Cell 32: 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2014.10.027
- Sugioka, K., and B. Bowerman, 2018 Combinatorial contact cues specify cell division orientation by directing cortical myosin flows. Dev. Cell 46: 257–270.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2018.06.020
- Sugioka, K., D. R. Hamill, J. B. Lowry, M. E. Mcneely, M. Enrick et al., 2017 Centriolar SAS-7 acts upstream of SPD-2 to regulate

centriole assembly and pericentriolar material formation. eLife 6: e20353. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.20353

- Sun, L., R. Guan, I. J. Lee, Y. Liu, M. Chen et al., 2015 Mechanistic insights into the anchorage of the contractile ring by anillin and Mid1. Dev. Cell 33: 413–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2015.03.003
- Swan, K. A., A. F. Severson, J. C. Carter, P. R. Martin, H. Schnabel *et al.*, 1998 cyk-1: a C. elegans FH gene required for a late step in embryonic cytokinesis. J. Cell Sci. 111: 2017–2027.
- Thawani, A., R. S. Kadzik, and S. Petry, 2018 XMAP215 is a microtubule nucleation factor that functions synergistically with the γ-tubulin ring complex. Nat. Cell Biol. 20: 575–585. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-018-0091-6
- Thompson, H. M., A. R. Skop, U. Euteneuer, B. J. Meyer, and M. A. Mcniven, 2002 The large GTPase dynamin associates with the spindle midzone and is required for cytokinesis. Curr. Biol. 12: 2111–2117. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(02)01390-8
- Touré, A., O. Dorseuil, L. Morin, P. Timmons, B. Jégou *et al.*, 1998 MgcRacGAP, a new human GTPase-activating protein for Rac and Cdc42 similar to Drosophila rotundRacGAP gene product, is expressed in male germ cells. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 6019–6023. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.11.6019
- Tse, Y. C., A. Piekny, and M. Glotzer, 2011 Anillin promotes astral microtubule-directed cortical myosin polarization. Mol. Biol. Cell 22: 3165–3175. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e11-05-0399
- Tse, Y. C., M. Werner, K. M. Longhini, J. C. Labbe, B. Goldstein et al., 2012 RhoA activation during polarization and cytokinesis of the early Caenorhabditis elegans embryo is differentially dependent on NOP-1 and CYK-4. Mol. Biol. Cell 23: 4020–4031. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e12-04-0268
- van Breugel, M., M. Hirono, A. Andreeva, H. A. Yanagisawa, S. Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2011 Structures of SAS-6 suggest its organization in centrioles. Science 331: 1196–1199. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1199325
- van Hooff, J. J., E. Tromer, L. M. Van Wijk, B. Snel, and G. J. Kops, 2017 Evolutionary dynamics of the kinetochore network in eukaryotes as revealed by comparative genomics. EMBO Rep. 18: 1559–1571. https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201744102
- Verbrugghe, K. J., and J. G. White, 2004 SPD-1 is required for the formation of the spindle midzone but is not essential for the completion of cytokinesis in C. elegans embryos. Curr. Biol. 14: 1755–1760. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2004.09.055
- Vleugel, M., E. Hoogendoorn, B. Snel, and G. J. Kops, 2012 Evolution and function of the mitotic checkpoint. Dev. Cell 23: 239–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2012.06.013
- von Dassow, G., 2009 Concurrent cues for cytokinetic furrow induction in animal cells. Trends Cell Biol. 19: 165–173. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2009.01.008
- von Tobel, L., T. Mikeladze-Dvali, M. Delattre, F. R. Balestra, S. Blanchoud *et al.*, 2014 SAS-1 is a C2 domain protein critical for centriole integrity in C. elegans. PLoS Genet. 10: e1004777. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1004777
- Vorobjev, I. A., and E. S. Nadezhdina, 1987 The centrosome and its role in the organization of microtubules. Int. Rev. Cytol. 106: 227–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7696(08)61714-3
- Wagner, E., and M. Glotzer, 2016 Local RhoA activation induces cytokinetic furrows independent of spindle position and cell cycle stage. J. Cell Biol. 213: 641–649. https://doi.org/ 10.1083/jcb.201603025
- Wallenfang, M. R., and G. Seydoux, 2000 Polarization of the anterior-posterior axis of C. elegans is a microtubule-directed process. Nature 408: 89–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/35040562
- Wei, R. R., J. Al-Bassam, and S. C. Harrison, 2007 The Ndc80/ HEC1 complex is a contact point for kinetochore-microtubule attachment. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 14: 54–59. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nsmb1186

- Werner, M., E. Munro, and M. Glotzer, 2007 Astral signals spatially bias cortical myosin recruitment to break symmetry and promote cytokinesis. Curr. Biol. 17: 1286–1297. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cub.2007.06.070
- White, E. A., and M. Glotzer, 2012 Centralspindlin: at the heart of cytokinesis. Cytoskeleton (Hoboken) 69: 882–892. https://doi. org/10.1002/cm.21065
- Winey, M., C. L. Mamay, E. T. O'Toole, D. N. Mastronarde, T. H. Giddings *et al.*, 1995 Three-dimensional ultrastructural analysis of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae mitotic spindle. J. Cell Biol. 129: 1601–1615. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.129.6.1601
- Wojcik, E., R. Basto, M. Serr, F. Scaërou, R. Karess *et al.*, 2001 Kinetochore dynein: its dynamics and role in the transport of the Rough deal checkpoint protein. Nat. Cell Biol. 3: 1001–1007. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1101-1001
- Wolf, B., F. R. Balestra, A. Spahr, and P. Gönczy, 2018 ZYG-1 promotes limited centriole amplification in the C. elegans seam lineage. Dev. Biol. 434: 221–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2018.01.001
- Wolfe, B. A., T. Takaki, M. Petronczki, and M. Glotzer, 2009 Pololike kinase 1 directs assembly of the HsCyk-4 RhoGAP/Ect2 RhoGEF complex to initiate cleavage furrow formation. PLoS Biol. 7: e1000110. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1000110
- Woodruff, J. B., O. Wueseke, and A. A. Hyman, 2014 Pericentriolar material structure and dynamics. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 369: 20130459. https://doi. org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0459
- Woodruff, J. B., O. Wueseke, V. Viscardi, J. Mahamid, S. D. Ochoa et al., 2015 Centrosomes. Regulated assembly of a supramolecular centrosome scaffold in vitro. Science 348: 808–812. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa3923
- Woodruff, J. B., B. Ferreira Gomes, P. O. Widlund, J. Mahamid, A. Honigmann *et al.*, 2017 The centrosome is a selective condensate that nucleates microtubules by concentrating tubulin. Cell 169: 1066–1077.e10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2017.05.028
- Wueseke, O., J. Bunkenborg, M. Y. Hein, A. Zinke, V. Viscardi *et al.*, 2014 The Caenorhabditis elegans pericentriolar material components SPD-2 and SPD-5 are monomeric in the cytoplasm before incorporation into the PCM matrix. Mol. Biol. Cell 25: 2984–2992. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e13-09-0514
- Wueseke, O., D. Zwicker, A. Schwager, Y. L. Wong, K. Oegema et al., 2016 Polo-like kinase phosphorylation determines Caenorhabditis elegans centrosome size and density by biasing SPD-5 toward an assembly-competent conformation. Biol. Open 5: 1431–1440. https://doi.org/10.1242/bio.020990
- Yamamoto, T. G., S. Watanabe, A. Essex, and R. Kitagawa, 2008 SPDL-1 functions as a kinetochore receptor for MDF-1 in Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Cell Biol. 183: 187–194. https:// doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200805185
- Yüce, O., A. Piekny, and M. Glotzer, 2005 An ECT2-centralspindlin complex regulates the localization and function of RhoA. J. Cell Biol. 170: 571–582. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200501097
- Zhang, D., and M. Glotzer, 2015 The RhoGAP activity of CYK-4/ MgcRacGAP functions non-canonically by promoting RhoA activation during cytokinesis. eLife 4: e08898. https://doi.org/ 10.7554/eLife.08898
- Zhang, L., J. D. Ward, Z. Cheng, and A. F. Dernburg, 2015 The auxin-inducible degradation (AID) system enables versatile conditional protein depletion in C. elegans. Development 142: 4374–4384. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.129635
- Zhang, S., L. Chang, C. Alfieri, Z. Zhang, J. Yang *et al.*, 2016 Molecular mechanism of APC/C activation by mitotic phosphorylation. Nature 533: 260–264. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature17973
- Zhou, K., M. M. Rolls, and W. Hanna-Rose, 2013 A postmitotic function and distinct localization mechanism for centralspindlin

at a stable intercellular bridge. Dev. Biol. 376: 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2013.01.020

- Zhuravlev, Y., S. M. Hirsch, S. N. Jordan, J. Dumont, M. Shirasu-Hiza et al., 2017 CYK-4 regulates Rac, but not Rho, during cytokinesis. Mol. Biol. Cell 28: 1258–1270. https://doi.org/ 10.1091/mbc.e17-01-0020
- Zonies, S., F. Motegi, Y. Hao, and G. Seydoux, 2010 Symmetry breaking and polarization of the C. elegans zygote by the polarity protein PAR-2. Development 137: 1669–1677. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.045823
- Zumdieck, A., K. Kruse, H. Bringmann, A. A. Hyman, and F. Jülicher, 2007 Stress generation and filament turnover during actin ring constriction. PLoS One 2: e696. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0000696
- Zwicker, D., M. Decker, S. Jaensch, A. A. Hyman, and F. Jülicher, 2014 Centrosomes are autocatalytic droplets of pericentriolar material organized by centrioles. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 111: E2636–E2645. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1404855111

Communicating editor: M. Labouesse